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Chairman’s Statement

EEHRE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
Kangda International Environmental Company Limited (the”Company”)
together with its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), | am pleased
to present the annual report of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022 to you.

RESULTS REVIEW

In 2022, the Chinese government maintained a comprehensive
prevention and control strategy to contain the pandemic, especially
the intermittent regional lockdown measures during the second half of
the year, which affected the progress of the Group’s construction
business, and resulted in a decrease in revenue from construction
services by RMB115.3 million (approximately 11%) compared to last
year to RMB893.2 million during the year. The Group also recorded a
decrease in total revenue by 0.8% year-on-year to RMB2,896.6 million.
While coping with the pandemic, the Group has made every effort to
ensure the normal operation of the wastewater treatment plants and
implemented certain upgrading works. The actual wastewater
treatment volume for the year reached 1,226.6 million tonnes,
representing a slight decrease of approximately 2.8% year-on-year. As
a result of the increase in production costs, the Group's overall gross
profit margin decreased by approximately 2 percentage points from
46% last year to 44%, and gross profit decreased by approximately 5%
year-on-year to RMB1,268.6 million. Together with the year-on-year
decrease in other income and gains such as government subsidies and
investment income by over RMB52.7 million, coupled with the
exchange loss of approximately RMB47.9 million as a result of the
depreciation of RMB during the year, profit attributable to equity
shareholders of the Group decreased to RMB235.7 million during the
year, representing a decrease of approximately 43% year-on-year. As
at 31 December 2022, the Group’s net asset value per share was
RMB2.68, representing an increase of approximately 6% as compared
to the corresponding period last year. With the relaxation of pandemic
prevention measures in Mainland China from early 2023, the business
environment has promptly returned to normal, and the Group has
taken the initiative to reduce its foreign currency loan balance in
response to the changes in the international financing environment.
The above-mentioned short-term factors leading to the pressure on
earnings are not expected to have any long-term impact on the
Group's business operations and profitability.
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Chairman’s Statement
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During the year, the management was dedicated to strengthen the
Group's operating cash flow and optimize its balance sheet, with
operating income accounting for nearly 70% of total revenue, a record-
high percentage. Capacity utilization rate reached 82%, which is at a
high level within the industry. Capital expenditure for the year was
RMB512.7 million, a decrease of approximately 21% year-on-year. The
above factors are favorable to improving operating cash flow, with a
net inflow of RMB368.4 million for the year, an increase of
approximately 15% year-on-year and the best record in history. The
balance sheet ratios have also improved, with the Group’s gearing
ratio and current ratio standing at 69.7% and 1.11 respectively as at 31
December 2022 (31 December 2021: 70.4% and 0.97).

In terms of financing activities, the Group has obtained a green loan of
US$16.00 million in early 2022, certified by the Hong Kong Quality
Assurance Agency, which was the first green financing completed by
the Group in Hong Kong, thus further embodied the Group's green
business concept of water-based environmental pollution control in its
corporate financing activities. Since mid-2022, interest rates on foreign
borrowings began to rise rapidly. The Group adjusted the ratio of
domestic/overseas and long/short term borrowings in a timely manner
to maintain the financing cost at a reasonable level. The average
borrowing interest rate for the year was 5.96%, down 0.08 percentage
points compared to last year, and the financing cost was approximately
RMB566.2 million, which remained basically the same as last year.

During the year, the State continued to improve and deepen the
policies related to water ecology environment during the 14th Five-
Year Plan period. The National Development and Reform Commission
issued the “Implementation Plan for the New Type of Urbanization of
the 14th Five-Year Plan”, which proposes to strengthen the water
environment in accordance with local conditions and promote the
supporting network of domestic sewage treatment plants and resource
utilization of wastewater and sewage sludge. Local government
departments have also launched the “Ecology Protection Plan of the
14th Five-Year Plan” in accordance with local conditions, setting
targets for the management of the ecological environment. “Opinions
on Further Improving the Policy Environment and Supporting the
Development of Private Investment”, “Supporting the Participation
from Private Investment in 102 Major Projects”, “Encouraging the
Equal Participation of State-owned Enterprises, Private Enterprises,
Foreign Enterprises and Other Market Entities as Social Capitalists in
PPP Projects”, “Implementation Plan on Promoting the Construction
and Management of Domestic Wastewater and Waste Treatment
Facilities in Established Towns", and other policy documents were also
released to encourage private investment in environmental protection
projects. The Group believes that, in the foreseeable future, the State
will continue to attach great importance to the wastewater treatment
industry and continue to introduce favorable policies, and the industry
as a whole will become more regulated, more professional and stronger.
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In addition, the State has also encourages the development of real
estate investment trusts (“infrastructure REITs"”) in the infrastructure
sector, and the “Notice on Accelerating the Work of Real Estate
Investment Trusts (“REITs"”) in the Infrastructure Sector”, “Opinions on
Further Revitalizing the Stock Assets and Expanding Effective
Investment”, “Opinions on Further Improving the Collaboration of
Social Capital Investment and Financing Sectors” were gradually
announced. The Group is pleased to witness such developments, and
will continue to explore and advance such financing channels, as well
as to consider participating when the time comes.

DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY AND FUTURE
OUTLOOK

The Group will continue to focus on the development of municipal
wastewater treatment principal business by seizing the opportunities
provided by the national policy, so as to increase the Group's revenue
and profit and to create more value for Shareholders while helping the
State to achieve the objectives of pollution prevention and control,
water resources management and utilization, energy saving and
emission reduction, through enhancing the volume and standard of
wastewater treatment, promoting a reasonable increase in the price of
wastewater treatment, deepening energy saving and consumption
reduction measures, and exploring the business of wastewater resource
utilization and recycling, etc. If opportunities arise, the Group will
explore more diversified financing channels, including equity and debt
financing and domestic real estate investment trusts ("REITs").

Finally, I would like to take this opportunity to express our gratitude to
all the Shareholders and all the collaborative partners of our Group for
their dedicated support to the Group's development, and also to all
staff of our Group for their endeavors and contributions made during
the year.

Li Zhong
Co-Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year ended 31 December 2022 (the “Reporting Period”),
the Group's principal business activities remained focusing on the
Urban Water Treatment, followed by the existing projects of Water
Environment Comprehensive Remediation and the Rural Water

Improvement.

The scope of Urban Water Treatment includes the design, construction,
upgrade and operation of wastewater treatment plants (the “WTPs"),
reclaimed water treatment plant (the "RWTPs"), sludge treatment
plants (the “STPs”), water distribution plants (the “WDPs”), and in the
operation and maintenance of wastewater treatment facilities entrusted
by governments (the "O&M"). The Group's business has covered the
overall industry chain in Urban Water Treatment industry by executing
contracts of Build-Operate-Transfer (“"BOT"), Transfer-Operate-
Transfer (the “TOT"), Public-Private-Partnership (the “PPP"), Build-
Own-Operate (the "BOO"), Engineering-Procurement-Construction
(the "EPC") and O&M. The Group had 101 service concession
arrangement projects under operation while its operational treatment
capacity was over 4 million tons per day as at 31 December 2022.

The scope of Water Environment Comprehensive Remediation
includes river harnessing and improvement, foul water body treatment
and sponge city construction. The Group engages in Water
Environment Comprehensive Remediation by executing previously
signed contracts of PPP and EPC.

The scope of Rural Water Improvement includes the construction and
operation related to “the Water Environment Facilities of Beautiful
Village"” such as: wastewater treatment facilities and pipeline
construction for collecting wastewater so as to achieve rural living
environment improvement. The Group started to carry out this
business since 2016 by executing the contracts of PPP.

In the future, the Group will continuously focus on the business of
Urban Water Treatment to get steady cash flows and invest in high-
quality, value-adding upstream and downstream businesses of water
industry. The Group is very confident about the Group’s prospects and
future profitability and we will dedicate more efforts to enhance the
profitability and effectiveness of the Group.
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1.1 Urban Water Treatment

Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEENmR DM

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had entered into a total of
112 service concession arrangements projects, including 106
wastewater treatment plants, 1 water distribution plant, 3 sludge
treatment plants and 2 reclaimed water treatment plants. The
Group will further expand its Urban Water Treatment chain in the

future, in order to improve its profitability and competitiveness.

Analysis of the Group's projects on hand as at 31 December 2022

1.1 HEKE

N-_ZT-_—_F+-_A=+—H A&H
HET112ERBISFEELHEE
BIIE106 @S5 KERIZRR - 1{EMEKE - 3
5 ERIEM N 2EBAEKERER - &
RS B B iR — SRR R KT
BEXE BRARFEHEFRFNNIE
H o

AEER_ZE-_—_F+_A=+—HH

is as follows: WEBEESFWT :
Daily
Daily reclaimed Daily
wastewater  Daily water water sludge
treatment distribution  treatment  treatment
capacity capacity capacity capacity Total
BEK Btk HEEK A5k
BEERED ) BREEE D BRERED Bzt
(Tonnes) ()
In operation EE 3,989,500 - 65,000 550 4,055,050
Not yet start operation/ hiﬁ@ﬁﬁuk B/ HABR
Not yet transferred 275,500 30,000 - - 305,500
Total @it 4,265,000 30,000 65,000 550 4,360,550
(Number of projects) (B2 E)
In operation EEH 96 - i 3 101
Not yet start operation/ HAFIREE HABR
Not yet transferred 10 1 - - 11
Total a5t 106 1 2 3 112
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DN

Actual
processing
volume during
the year ended

Number of Treatment 31 December
projects capacity 2022
BZE
—E-—F
+=HA=+—8H
IEFEN
HEHE REE ERERES
(Tonnes/Day)  (Million Tonnes)
(W, H) (E&uE)
Wastewater treatment services 55K I IR
Shandong 1IES 47 1,270,000 358.7
Henan A 23 1,060,000 311.3
Heilongjiang EEET 6 425,000 142.7
Shanxi il 2 350,000 106.4
Zhejiang pan 2 250,000 84.0
Guangdong &= 4 220,000 62.2
Anhui ZH 3 175,000 56.0
Jiangsu P 5 100,000 315
Other provinces/municipalities* Hipg EHEm 14 415,000 70.3
106 4,265,000 1,223.1
Water distribution services ok RIS 1 30,000 -
Reclaimed water treatment BAKEERSE
services 2 65,000 35
Total &5 109 4,360,000 1,226.6
Sludge treatment services SRR R 3 550 -
Total At 112 4,360,550 1,226.6
* Other provinces/municipalities include Beijing, Tianjin, Hebei, Jilin, Liaoning, * Hihd EHEmeEILRE K& A TR E

= BRA - I RARRE o

Shaanxi, Sichuan and Fujian.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWE DN

1.1.1 Operation Services

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 96 wastewater
treatment projects, 2 reclaimed water treatment projects
and 3 sludge treatment projects in operation in Mainland
China. Total daily treatment capacity of wastewater
treatment plants, reclaimed water treatment plants, and
sludge treatment plants in operation for the year ended 31
December 2022 reached 3,989,500 tonnes (2021: 3,961,500
tonnes), 65,000 tonnes (2021: 65,000 tonnes), and 550
tonnes (2021: 550 tonnes), respectively. For the year ended
31 December 2022, the annualized utilization rate for
wastewater and reclaimed water treatment plants in
operation was approximately 82% (2021: 86%). The actual
average water treatment tariff for the year ended 31
December 2022 was approximately RMB1.56 per tonne
(2021: approximately RMB1.49 per tonne).The actual
aggregate processing volume for the year ended 31
December 2022 was 1,226.6 million tonnes, representing a
minor decrease of 3% as compared to the same period last
year (year ended 31 December 2021: 1,262.4 million
tonnes).

Total operation revenue of the Group’s Urban Water
Treatment services recorded for the year ended 31
December 2022 was RMB1,243.3 million, representing an
increase of approximately 5% as compared to the same
period of last year (year ended 31 December 2021:
RMB1,185.9 million). The corresponding increase was
primarily due to the increase in the daily wastewater
treatment capacity, and the increased operation numbers
of upgrade projects.

1.1.2 Construction Services

The Group entered into a number of service concession
arrangements under BOT, BOO and PPP contracts in
relation to its Urban Water Treatment business. Under the
International Financial Reporting Interpretation Committee
12 Service Concession Arrangements, the Group recognises
the construction revenue with reference to the fair value of
the construction service delivered in the building phase.
The fair value of such service is estimated on a cost-plus
basis with reference to a prevailing market rate of gross
margin at the inception date of service concession
agreement. Construction revenue from BOT, BOO, PPP
and EPC projects is recognized by using the percentage-of-
completion method.

1.1.1 BE RS

R—ZE-_—F+—-_A=+—H ' &
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SEOKERIEIEE - 2B EKEEIE
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/33,989,500 ( — T — — £
3,961,500ME) + 65,0001 (=&~ —
F : 65,0000 ) K 550 M ( —F ——
£ 1 550M) o @1_7__¢+_
A=+—RHILFE  BEPHFK
Eﬁ@&ﬁi*ﬁﬁ@%iﬁ%%
N E82% (=T = —14F : 86%) o &
E-E--&F#+-RA=+—HItE
ERERFIIKEEEBOABEMEA
REN1S6T(ZE-—F: I AE
MEAR®1497L) BE=-ZT ==
F+-A=+—HIFENERL
BRIEE B1,2266E B WEF
FHI B 3% (BE—_T=——4F
TZA=FT—HILEFE 1,26248
BE) -
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=+ — B IEFEHBEKEREHE
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R¥1,185988L) - BB INE
Z RN ESKEREE HRyIE N KR
IZETE B B UM o

1.1.2 88 BH%

7N 2 B R K 7 2 7 PABOT -
BOO K PPP& #J5] M % TH R 7% 4%
B o IRIEEBR M SR ER
BREeRBRENRRRGIEFL
B AEBSSENERMEER
RITH R R RBO A FERRER
Wzt o BEAREH A FE TR A
DOREEN B RIS IS ET & ik
Fs A BB EF R BITMIS
Lt & f& 5+ - BOT » BOO * PPP %
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For the year ended 31 December 2022, construction
revenue was recognised for 25 projects, including 21
wastewater treatment plants, 1 water distribution plant, 1
reclaimed water treatment plant, and 2 sludge treatment
plants, which were mainly located in Shandong, Henan, and
Shanxi provinces in Mainland China. Total construction
revenue of those projects for the year ended 31 December
2022 was RMB753.0 million, representing a year-on-year
decrease of approximately 4% (year ended 31 December
2021: RMB780.7 million). The corresponding decrease was
primarily due to a decrease in the project numbers during
the main construction period. As at 31 December 2022, the
total daily treatment capacity of the service concession
arrangements plants, which were still in the construction
stage, was 180,500 tonnes, including 150,500 tonnes of
wastewater treatment plants and 30,000 tonnes of water
distribution plants.

1.2 Water Environment Comprehensive Remediation

In the year of 2022, the Group continued to devote efforts to
implementing the existing projects of Water Environment
Comprehensive Remediation. As at 31 December 2022, most of
the projects have been completed. The Group devoted efforts to
lower the risk and enhance the reasonable profit for the existing
projects. The Group will integrate resources to execute the Water
Environment Comprehensive Remediation projects under the
contracts of EPC and O&M.

The Group had 7 Water Environment Comprehensive
Remediation projects under construction during the year ended
31 December 2022. The projects were mainly located in Jiangxi
and Shandong provinces in Mainland China. For the year ended
31 December 2022, total revenue of those projects was RMB114.4
million, representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately
23% (year ended 31 December 2021: RMB147.7 million). The
corresponding decrease was primarily due to the completion of
partial existing EPC projects.

1.2
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1.3 Rural Water Improvement
The Group had 2 Rural Water Improvement projects during the
year ended 31 December 2022. The projects were located in
Guangdong province in Mainland China. For the year ended 31
December 2022, total revenue of those projects was RMB59.1
million, representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately
43% (year ended 31 December 2021: RMB102.9 million). The
corresponding decrease was primarily due to net impact of the
decrease in the construction revenue and the increased operation
revenue due to the commenced operation of these two projects.

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recorded a revenue
of RMB2,896.6 million, representing a minor decrease of RMB22.4
million as compared to the previous corresponding period of
RMB2,919.0 million. The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in
construction revenue of RMB115.3 million, the increase in operation
revenue of RMB67.0 million, and the increase in financial income of
RMB25.9 million. The decrease in construction revenue was mainly due
to the decrease in the number of projects during the main construction
period of Urban Water Treatment services, the completion of partial
existing EPC projects of Water Environment Comprehensive
Remediation services, and the commencement of operation of PPP
projects of Rural Water Improvement services. The increase in
operation revenue was mainly due to the increase in commencement
of operation of new BOT and upgrade projects of Urban Water
Treatment. The increase in financial income was mainly due to the
increase in the financial assets.

Cost of Sales

The Group's cost of sales for the year ended 31 December 2022
amounted to RMB1,627.9 million, including construction costs of
RMB758.0 million and operation costs of water treatment plants of
RMBB869.9 million, representing an increase of approximately 3% as
compared to the previous corresponding period of RMB1,583.7 million.
The increase was due to the net impact of increase in operation costs
and decrease in construction cost. The increase in operation cost was
mainly due to the increases in costs of electricity, wastewater treatment
chemicals, etc. The decrease in construction costs was mainly due to
the decrease in the construction work of existing upgrade and
expansion projects which was in line with the decrease in construction
revenue.
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Gross Profit Margin

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group's gross profit margin
was approximately 44%, representing a decrease of 2 percentage
points as compared to the previous corresponding period of
approximately 46%. The decrease was primarily due to the decrease in
operation gross margin this period.

Other Income and Gains

The Group recorded other income and gains of RMB53.9 million for
the year ended 31 December 2022, representing a decrease of
approximately 49% as compared to the previous corresponding period
of RMB106.6 million. The amount for the Reporting Period primarily
included government grants of RMB25.4 million, which mainly
comprised of VAT refund under “Notice on the Issuing of the
Catalogue of Value-Added Tax Preferences for Products and Labor
Services Involving the Comprehensive Utilization of Resources (Cai Shui
[2015] No. 78)"* (BN B B IR&E MM ER ML KR ET B E A )
K3 AN (B % [2015]78 §532)) and grants for environmental protection,
bank interest income of RMB3.6 million, interest income of RMB19.5
million from loans to third parties, a joint venture, and an associate.

Administrative Expenses

The Group's administrative expenses for the year ended 31 December
2022 was RMB274.1 million, representing an increase of approximately
11% as compared to the previous corresponding period of RMB246.0
million. The increase was mainly due to the increase in professional
fees and staff costs.

Other Expenses

Other expenses for the year ended 31 December 2022 was RMB105.9
million, representing an increase of approximately 39% as compared to
the previous corresponding period of RMB76.4 million. The increase
was mainly due to increase in foreign exchange losses which was
partially offset by the decrease of impairment losses, non-operating
expenses, and losses on disposal of subsidiaries recognised in the
Reporting Period.

* For identification purposes only
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Finance Costs

The Group's finance costs for the year ended 31 December 2022 of
RMB566.2 million mainly comprised interests on interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings, representing a slight increase as compared to
RMB565.7 million in the previous corresponding period. The increase
in finance costs was in line with the increase in the average balance of
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings. The average balance of
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings increased by RMB124.5
million and the average interest rate was 5.96%, representing a
decrease of 0.08 percentage points as compared to that in the previous
corresponding period. The decrease in average interest rate was
mainly due to the increase in the proportion of short-term interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings. The Group will further seek
practical ways to optimize loan structure, expand financing channels
and methods and lower the average interest rate in the coming year.

Share of Profits and Losses of Associates

The Group's share of profits of associates for the year ended 31
December 2022 was RMB2.6 million, representing a major increase as
compared to share of losses of associates of RMBO0.3 million in the
previous corresponding period. The Group will further execute
practical ways to reduce the losses brought by the associates.

Share of Profits and Losses of Joint ventures

Share of losses of joint ventures for the year ended 31 December 2022
was RMB3.6 million, representing a major increase as compared to
share of losses of joint ventures of RMB2.2 million in the previous
corresponding period. The Group will further execute practical ways to
reduce the losses brought by the joint ventures.

Income Tax Expense

Income tax expense for the year ended 31 December 2022 included
the current PRC income tax of RMB36.9 million and deferred tax
expenses of RMB97.5 million, which were RMB44.3 million and
RMB87.8 million for the previous corresponding period, respectively.
The Group's effective tax rate for the year ended 31 December 2022
was approximately 36%, representing an increase of 12 percentage
points as compared with approximately 24% for the previous
corresponding period, which was mainly due to the increase in effect
of tax losses not recognised in the Reporting Period and reversal of tax
losses recognised in previous Periods.
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Financial Receivables S ELE W RRIE
As at
i
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
—E__F —E_—
+=A=+-8 +-A=+-A
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET R ARETTT
Receivables for service concession PRI B L PEFE W FR 1B
arrangements 11,206,485 10,978,212
Portion classified as current D RBRNEAR B o (1,961,955) (1,878,059)
Non-current portion JERNERER 9,244,530 9,100,153

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's financial receivables of
RMB11,206.5 million (31 December 2021: RMB10,978.2 million)
increased by RMB228.3 million, which was mainly due to the increase in
financial receivables which were reclassified from contract assets once
the construction and upgrade period is ended for the water treatment

R-ZEZZF+-A=+—H8 AEELHE
WHRIBEAAREI112006588T(ZE=-—4F
+=-A=+—H: AR¥1097825&8 )
EIMAREE283EE L TER2ARKERE
HEREMREERPEREMLENEE

projects. ENDBE S EWFIAERE I -
Contract Assets EHNEE
As at
i
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
—E-—F —E_—4F
+=—A=+—HB +=-—A=+—H
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETIT
Contract assets BHEE 1,706,946 1,973,035
Portion classified as current DR H (198,553) (323,761)
Non-current portion JEBNHEAER 1,508,393 1,649,274

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's contract assets of RMB1,706.9
million (31 December 2021: RMB1,973.0 million), decreased by
RMB266.1 million, mainly due to the net impact of reclassification from
contract assets to financial receivables and the increase of construction
of the Group's projects under BOT, PPP, and EPC contracts.

R-ZZE-—F+-_A=+—H8 KEBLEHE
EARER17069BBL(ZE=—F+=A
=+t—H: AR¥19730B8T) BHPAR
K266 1EBIL TEHREGNEEETHE
ESREKRFIE  UEKRERAEEBOT
PPPLAK EPCE 418 B OB RIB A S 2 -
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Trade and Bills Receivables

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's trade and bills receivables of
RMB2,436.4 million (31 December 2021: RMB1,776.6 million) mainly
arose from the provision of wastewater treatment and sludge treatment
services for Urban Water Treatment projects as well as construction
services for the Group’s Water Environment Comprehensive
Remediation projects. The balance increased by RMB659.8 million,
mainly due to (i) the increase in Urban Water Treatment projects
receivables of approximately RMB617.1 million, (ii) the net increase of
Water Environment Comprehensive Remediation projects receivables
of approximately RMB59.9 million, which included EPC project
receivables of approximately RMB209.0 million arising from the
progress billing and cash collected from EPC and Build-Transfer
projects of approximately RMB149.1 million, and (iii) the increase in
Rural Water Improvement projects receivables of approximately
RMB17.8 million.

Prepayments, Other Receivables and Other Assets

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's prepayments, other receivables
and other assets of RMB748.1 million (31 December 2021: RMB855.1
million) decreased by RMB107.0 million, mainly arising from the
decrease in deductible input VAT of approximately RMB109.2 million,
the decrease in loans to a third party of RMB20.0 million, the decrease
in prepayments and deposits of approximately RMB6.2 million related
to the construction of wastewater treatment plants, the increase in
loans to an associate of approximately RMB12.2 million, and the
increase in other operational receivables and staff advances of
approximately RMB17.7 million.

BESEWFERERE
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Cash and Cash Equivalents

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's cash and cash equivalents of
RMB196.9 million (31 December 2021: RMB289.9 million) decreased by
RMB93.0 million as compared with that as at the end of previous

corresponding period. The decrease was due to the increase in cash

outflows in financing activities of the Group.

RERBEEEY
RIZB-—F+-A=+t—8 AEEREK
ReFBYR/ARE1969BET(ZT——

+-—A=+—H: ARK2899BE L) BE
FRIFHRADARIBOEETL - ZWPTE

EHRAEERE RN S IE TR -

For the year ended 31 December

BEt+t-HA=1+—HLEE

2022 2021
—E-—& —T—F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBT T ARETT
Net cash flows from operating activities!” ST B FTEIN SR e RO 368,409 320,165
Net cash flows from/(used in) WAEEE (FTA)
investing activities WM FEHE 101,982 (122,083)
Net cash flows used in financing activities REEHMARS T2 F5E (563,029) (337,877)
Net increase in cash and ReMREEED
cash equivalents 1 ANSFEEA (92,638) (139,795)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes HNPETE KB By 2 (322) (569)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning REVEIR S RIS EEY
of the period 289,898 430,262
Cash and cash equivalents at end of RERB e RBESEEY
the period 196,938 289,898
Note: B3
Q] For the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group invested RMB311.0 (1 BHE_Z-_—_FR-_Z-_—F+-_A=Z+—HLF
million and RMB507.1 million, respectively, in the Group's BOT/TOT and PPP E - NEBERBOT/TOT & PPPIEE AR E AR
projects. Such investments were accounted for as cash flows used in operating INOBEEBTRARES07IBETT - 25 RETA
activities. Under the relevant accounting treatment, part of such cash outflows used KLEBAARSRE - RIBABEEE  £2
in operating activities was used to form the non-current portion of financial EBFARSReRE IAREREREES 5
receivables and contract assets in the Group's consolidated statement of financial R R A © FERRIE R &K EERIERNEE S -
position. For the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group would have HE_Z-_—_FR-_FE-_—F+-_A=+—HBILF
incurred cash inflows of RMB679.4 million and RMB827.3 million, respectively, if the E o WAREBE R BOT/TOT K& PPP X H 1% E I # A
Group's investments in BOT/TOT and PPP activities were not accounted for as cash RINBEEEBAARERE  AEESHHIEE
flows used in operating activities. REMAARKIOABETRARESIFET °
Trade and Bills Payables EZRARERENE

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's trade and bills payables of
RMB2,260.2 million (31 December 2021: RMB2,056.8 million) increased
by RMB203.4 million, which was in line with the increase of the Group's

construction work in progress and the settlements.

RZEBE-_—_F+-_A=+—H AEEEFE
NHERENEEAEARK2202BETT(Z

- —F+-_A=+—H: AR¥205688H
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Other Payables and Accruals

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's other payables and accruals of
RMB288.1 million (31 December 2021: RMB278.2 million), increased by
RMB9.9 million, which was mainly due to the increase in salary and
welfare payables.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group's principal liquidity and capital requirements primarily relate
to investments in Urban Water Treatment projects, Water Environment
Comprehensive Remediation projects, and Rural Water Improvement
projects, merger and acquisition of subsidiaries, costs and expenses
related to the operation and maintenance of the Group's facilities,
working capital and general corporate purpose.

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of the Group's cash and
cash equivalents was RMB196.9 million, representing a decrease of
approximately RMB93.0 million as compared to RMB289.9 million as at
31 December 2021, which was mainly due to the net cash inflows of
RMB368.4 million from operating activities, the net cash outflows used
in financing activities of RMB563.0 million, settlements of acquisition
and investing payables of RMB2.1 million and cash outflows of
RMB79.5 million for purchases of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets in investing activities, cash inflows of RMB147.3
million for decrease in pledged deposits, repurchase of other current
financial assets of RMB28.4 million, the net cash inflows of RMB7.9
million for decrease in loans to a third party and increase to an
associate, cash outflows of RMBO.1 million for disposal of subsidiaries
from investing activities, and cash inflows of RMBO.1 million for disposal
of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets from investing
activities.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's total interest-bearing debts
increased to RMB9,521.8 million (31 December 2021: RMB9,469.7
million), which comprised of bank and other borrowings only. As at 31
December 2022, 69.8% (31 December 2021: 66.2%) of the Group's
interest-bearing debts are long term; over 63% of interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings bear interest at floating rates.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had banking facilities amounting
to RMB57,197.6 million, of which RMB49,380.5 million have not been
utilized. The unutilized amount of RMB49,380.5 million were mainly
limited to be utilized on environmental protection infrastructure and
comprehensive management.
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As at 31 December 2022, the gearing ratio of the Group (calculated by
total liabilities divided by total assets) slightly decreased to 69.7%,
while the gearing ratio was 70.4% as at the corresponding period last
year.

Charges on the Group’s Assets

Outstanding balance of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings as
at 31 December 2022 was approximately RMB9,521.8 million, which
were repayable within two months to twenty-three years and were
secured by financial receivables, service concession intangible assets,
property, plant and equipment, trade receivables, contract assets and
pledged deposits of which the total amounts of the pledge of assets
amounted to RMB9,538.7 million.

Capital Expenditure

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group's total capital
expenditure were RMB512.7 million, compared to RMB649.4 million in
2021, primarily including the consideration of approximately RMB510.1
million for construction and acquisition of BOT, TOT, BOO and PPP
projects and the consideration of approximately RMB2.1 million for
acquisition of equity interests in subsidiaries, and an associate.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The Group had 2,318 employees as at 31 December 2022. The
remuneration package of the Group is generally determined with
reference to market conditions and individual performance. Salaries
are normally reviewed annually based on performance appraisals and
other relevant factors. The Group provides external and internal
training programs to its employees.

In respect of pension scheme contributions, the Group adopts a
defined contribution plan. The Group’s contributions to the defined
contribution plan are recognised as expenses when incurred. Forfeited
contributions (by employers on behalf of employees who leave the
scheme prior to vesting fully in such contributions) may not be used by
the Group and its subsidiaries to reduce the existing level of
contributions.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities (31 December 2021: Nil).
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

Majority of the subsidiaries of the Company operate in the PRC with
most of the transactions denominated and settled in RMB. As at 31
December 2022, except for the bank deposits and certain amount of
interest-bearing bank borrowings denominated in foreign currencies,
the Group did not have significant foreign currency exposure from its
operations. Currently, the Group has not used derivative financial
instruments to hedge its foreign currency risk.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed, no significant events took place subsequent to 31
December 2022.
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Directors and Senior Management

EENSREERE

DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible and has general powers for the management
and operation of the Group's business. The Board currently consists of
seven Directors, including four executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors.

The biographical details of the Directors during the year ended 31
December 2022 and up to the date of this annual report are set out
below:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhao Juanxian (alias, Zhao Junxian) (# & E), aged 70, is the
founder of the Group. He is an executive Director, and the co-chairman
of the Board (the “"Co-Chairman”) of the Company, responsible for
strategic development and planning, overall operational management,
market development and major decision making. He was appointed as
a Director on 22 August 2011. He has acted as a director and the chief
executive officer of Chongging Kangda since the beginning of the
establishment of Chongging Kangda and ceased to be the chief
executive officer of Chongging Kangda in September 2012. Mr. Zhao
has served as the chairman of the board of directors and general
manager of Chongqging Kangte Environmental Protection Industry
Holdings Co., Ltd.* (EE REIRIRE TR AR A F)]) since November
1994. He graduated from the political administration at elementary
level* (Z Bt 4 20 & &l & 2£) from Sichuan University* (78 )1 X £2)
located in Chengdu City, Sichuan Province, and Sichuan Higher
Vocational and Examination Committee* ()| & &R EHE G E2E
HIEE L B F)in June 1988, and attended a one—month education
programme of Sichuan foreign-related business from Shenzhen
University* O&YIIXZ) located in Shenzhen City, Guangdong Province,
in July 1988.
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Directors and Senior Management

EENSREERRE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Zhao Juanxian has over 25 years of experience in the environmental
protection and wastewater treatment industry and was awarded for
several times for his valuable contribution to the development of
environmental protection and his expertise in environmental protection
technology by relevant environmental protection industry associations
from 2004 to 2009. Mr. Zhao Juanxian was granted the title of
Outstanding Environmental Technology Entrepreneurs by the Chinese
(FEIRRMBZES)

2004. He received the China Environmental Protection Industry

Society for Environmental Sciences* ) in September
Development Award granted by the China Association of
Environmental Protection Industry* (R BIIRIZIREEE HE) in January
2005. He was also granted the title of Outstanding Individual of
Environmental Protection by the People’s Government of Chongging
Municipal* (EE T A RBUT) in July 2006 and Outstanding Entrepreneur
of China Environmental Protection Industry by China Association of
Environmental Protection Industry* (7 BIIRIFIREE S E ) in October
2009. Mr. Zhao Juanxian served as the vice president of the 3rd and 4th
Session of Chongging Municipal Environmental Protection Industry
(EEMREREEXHEF —ERFENEEESE) in 2005
and 2012, respectively, and the vice president of the 3rd and 4th

Association*

Session of China Association of Environmental Protection Industry*
(FEREREEXHEE -EREMNEEFES) in 2005 and 2009,
respectively. In January 2015, he served as the vice chairman of the
board of directors of China State-owned Industry Innovation Alliance
(P EIEE B EZ A A EE ) and the vice chairman of the board
of directors of Hong Kong-Mainland International Investment Society

(BRERRER

), respectively.
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Directors and Senior Management

ESREREERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Li Zhong (ZH), aged 54, was graduated from Beijing University
of Chemical Technology* (3t = {t T X £) with a major in polymer
materials, and obtained a master degree in business administration
from Saint Mary’s University of Canada in 1997. He has served in
national state-owned enterprises and international well-known 500
enterprises in the Mainland China and Hong Kong for over 20 years.
Since 2002, he has dedicated himself to urban public utilities with a
focus on water affairs, as well as the investment, management and
operation of infrastructure projects. Since 2004, he has been a director
of Shenzhen Bus Group Co. Ltd. Mr. Li Zhong also serves as deputy
president of China Environment Chamber of Commerce, executive
director of the China Overseas Friendship Association, a member of
the 14th Standing Committee of the Beijing Municipal Committee of
the Chinese People Political Consultative Conference* (B A R IBUE
mBEgHEIERATETHEZE®FKZEE8) and the honorary chairman
of the Hong Kong Volunteers Association. Currently, he is also an
executive director of China Water Affairs Group Limited (“China
Water”, a company listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange (stock code: 855). He joined the Group in 2019.

Ms. Liu Yujie (8 E7R), aged 58, was graduated from University of International
Business and Economic* (¥] 9N & 7% & 5 K £) located in Beijing and
obtained a master degree in business administration. Ms. Liu Yujie has
been working in Hong Kong, Singapore and the PRC for over 20 years
in total and is familiar with the business environment and regulatory
system of the three places. She has comprehensive experience in
capital market, business promotion and corporate management,
participated in IPO and underwriting of over 30 companies on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange, led and completed merger and
acquisition of three companies in Hong Kong and Singapore, assisted
capital raising and management of large-scale industrial fund for
investment in the PRC, and acted as executive directors of listed
companies in Hong Kong and Singapore which engaged in utilities and
infrastructure investment. Currently, she is also an executive director of
New Universe Environmental Group Limited (stock code: 436), an
executive director of China Water and an independent non-executive
director of Zhongyu Gas Holdings Limited (stock code: 3633), which are
listed on the main board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. She
joined the Group in 2019.
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Directors and Senior Management

ESREREERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Duan, Jerry Linnan (EX##§), aged 32, studied in Beijing Normal
University with a major in psychology. He joined China Water as the
president assistant in 2011, mainly focusing on hotel operating and
intelligent water businesses. At the same time, Mr. Duan, Jerry Linnan
assisted the directors of China Water in capital market and investor
relations, etc. In 2015, Mr. Duan, Jerry Linnan was appointed as the
general manager of the hotel under China Water in Nanjing, and was
in charge of the construction, procurement and daily operation of
various hotels of China Water. Mr. Duan, Jerry Linnan has
comprehensive experiences in human resources and corporate
management. Currently, he is also an executive director of China
Water. He joined the Group in 2019.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chau Kam Wing (JE$8%8), aged 60, has over 30 years of experience
in auditing, taxation and financial management and had been
appointed as financial controller of a number of companies listed on
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. Mr. Chau obtained a master degree
in business administration from the University of San Francisco in the
United States in 2000. He is also a fellow member of The Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and a practicing member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Chau is currently
the finance director of Winox Holdings Limited (stock code: 6838) and
an independent non-executive director of each of Carpenter Tan
Holdings Limited (stock code: 837), Ching Lee Holdings Limited (stock
code: 3728) and China Water, which are listed on the main board of the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange. Mr. Chau is also an independent non-
executive director of Eco-Tek Holdings Limited (stock code: 8169) and
was an independent non-executive director of Zhejiang Chang'an
Renheng Technology Co., Ltd. (stock code: 8139) from 8 May 2014 to
11 May 2019, which are both listed on the GEM of the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange. He joined the Group in 2019. He is also the chairman
of the audit committee and nomination committee and a member of
the remuneration committee of the Company.
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Directors and Senior Management

ESREREERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(Continued)

Mr. Chang Qing (&), aged 65, was graduated from the Chinese Academy
of Social Sciences* (1 B 4t & %} £ Bt) with a doctorate degree in
agricultural economics and management in 2001, graduated from Jilin
University (F# A 2) with a bachelor’s degree in economics in 1982 and
a master’s degree in national economics in 1985. Mr. Chang had
successively served as a research assistant, a deputy research fellow
and a research fellow of Development Research Center of the State
Council (BI75Br 32 BAFZE 5 03) from 1985 to 2005 and the vice chairman
of China Futures Association (FFEIEIE 1) from 1999 to 2006. Mr.
Chang has worked in the College of Economics and Management of
China Agriculture University (7 Bl 22 3 K 2245 75 & 38 E07% ) since 2005.
He has also served as the chairman of the board of Jinpeng
International Futures Co., Ltd (25 EIE &AL B R A A]) since 1993. Mr.
Chang is currently an independent non-executive director of China
Chengtong Development Group Limited (stock code: 217) and
Honghua Group Limited (stock code 196), which are both listed on the
main board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. He joined the Group in
2016. He is also the member of the audit committee and nomination
committee of the Company.

Mr. Peng Yongzhen (¥ K %), aged 74, was graduated from Harbin
Institute of Technology* (%5 81/& T % K 2) (formerly known as Harbin
University of Architecture and Engineering (/8 B/BE2E K 2), the same
below) in June 1995 with a doctor degree in environmental engineering
and was a senior visiting scholar in Gunma University (A 2N 8% 5 KX £2)
from October 1996 to April 1997. Mr. Peng previously held various
positions in water supply and sewerage engineering major in the urban
construction department of Harbin Institute of Technology* (¥ # /&
T %¥ K £), including the teaching assistant position from September
1976 to October 1978, the teaching assistant, lecturer and associate
professor positions from December 1981 to September 1993, and the
professor position from September 1993 to February 2000. Since 2000,
he has been a chief professor of the environment engineering
department, a professor, a tutor of doctoral candidates and the chief
of the environmental engineering department and water pollution
control research laboratory in Beijing University of Technology* (1t X
T #KE), Director of National Engineering Lab for Advanced Municipal
Wastewater Treatment and Reuse Technology (* ¥ $8 5 7K 7% [ iz ¥ €2
EIRCFAHAT " BIZX TR EH =) and the chief of Beijing Engineering
Technology Research Center of Sewage Nitrogen and Phosphorus
Removal* (dt = 175 7K B & B B 55 32 T 12 B 1l off 98 R L) of Beijing

University of Technology, concurrently.
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Directors and Senior Management

ESREREERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(Continued)

He has long been engaged in the research of urban sewage disposal
measures, of which some technological achievements have been
massively applied into practice. Mr. Peng has earned diverse national-
level titles and awards for his academic achievements, including
without limitations National Role Model Lecturer* (& B & &5 2§ B) in
2007, National Outstanding Faculty* (Bl &R # 2 % £fl) in 2009 and
National Excellent Technical Personnel* (2 BEHFRH TIEE) in 2012.
He was selected to be one of the first talents sponsored by National
Special Support Plan for High-level Personnel* (B R & )X A A B0k
#5TEl) in 2013. He was granted the Second Prize of the State Scientific
and Technological Progress Award* (B 5K B} £ # & #8) in 2004, 2009
and 2012, respectively, the Second Prize of the State Technology
Invention Award* (B R 1} 5% 2% B £2) in 2020, the First Prize of Beijing
Science and Technology Progress Award* (1t R EHE #E 25 88) in 2012
and 2020, respectively, and the First Prize of Shanghai Science and
EBTR R ERE) N

2020. Mr. Peng received a special allowance from China’s State Council

Technology Award for Technical Invention* (

in 2000, and was appointed as member of Chinese Academy of
Engineering (F B T2Fx) in 2015. He joined the Group in 2015. He is
also the chairman of the remuneration committee and a member of the
audit committee and nomination committee of the Company.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the senior management of the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this
annual report are set out below:

Mr. Zhou Wei (A1), aged 43, was appointed as the chief financial officer
of the Group on 9 April 2019. Mr. Zhou Wei graduated from Nanjing
Audit University* (B R 28 5t 2 FT) located in Nanjing and obtained a
bachelor degree in auditing. Mr. Zhou Wei is currently a certified tax
agent of the People’s Republic of China. From 2002 to 2007, he worked
in several domestic and international accounting firms. In August 2007,
Mr. Zhou Wei joined China Water and successively served as the chief
financial officer of Huizhou Zhongshui Water Development Co., Ltd.*
(B PKKEERBER QA

general manager of the investment department of China Water, the

), a subsidiary of China Water), the vice

general manager of Huizhou Dayawan Yiyuan Jingshui Co., Ltd.* (/!
Kas&E R F /KB AR, a subsidiary of China Water), and the chief
financial officers of Shenzhen Jinda Environment Holding Co. Ltd.*
ORIl € FEIRIEE R E R A A, asubsidiary of China Water) and
Guangdong Xinsheng Enwronmental Protection Group Co., Ltd.* (E&
FIRRREBBRAT]), a subsidiary of China Water). Mr. Zhou Wei is
experienced in financial management and investment and financing
area.
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Corporate Governance Report
TREL®RE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Adapting and adhering to the recognised standards of corporate
governance principles and practices has always been one of the top
priorities of the Company. The Board believes that good corporate
governance is one of the areas that lead to the success of the Company
and in balancing the interests of Shareholders, customers and
employees, and the Board is devoted to ongoing enhancements of the
efficiency and effectiveness of such principles and practices.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company has complied
with all the applicable provisions of the Corporate Governance Code
("CG Code") as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”).

The Group further strengthened the control over budget, risk,
performance and responsibilities, optimised management approaches
and strategies, improved supporting mechanism and enhanced control
effectiveness and operational efficiency of the Group.

The Group enhanced overall control over target responsibilities and
budget control, which was promoted and implemented within the
entities under the Group as well as management level, and
implemented the main body responsibility system through organic
combination of the trinity to fully stimulate team members’ initiative.

The Group also took initiative to enhance efforts in fund management,
financial risk control, project investment decisions, legal risk control,
information disclosure and maintenance of investor relationship to
strive for more effective and transparent management in accordance

with the CG Code.

OUR CULTURE

The Group is one of the first private enterprises in the environmental
pollution treatment industry in Mainland China. With the corporate
mission of “creating an environment with greener water, lusher
mountains and bluer skies” and the corporate vision of “leading the
environmental protection industry and making Kangda International a
century-old company”, the Group is engaged in urban sewage
treatment, water environment comprehensive remediation and rural
water improvement in Mainland China, providing customised and
comprehensive sewage treatment solutions and services to our

customers.

TEERER

e hETEEERRAIREROABIRE—
ERARARRBERAZ - EFEHERY
B EE AR 5| BA LR B E MK K F &K
R -BPUREBEZHEMNZBENREZ —
EERBIRKEREZEFRANERIME
KB -

BE-_ZT-—_F+-A=1+—HILFE ' AR
RIBETEABERIIERARZS LR
BT EmR R DB s 14 a2 E AT
¥ERTA A EBIEX -

AEBEE—HINREE - AR ARNMEEE
2 BEBEFRERE TEREWMS - 15
BAREBMEZEN)  REEEYE -

AEEBRCARETRBEZEFNEZMERE
WHEEEARFSEGLNEREFETHEREM
W7 REIREMES BREEMN=C—#
BHES - o AHEBEKE VRGN -

AEBTRIBERERTA  BEMBEES
BIE - PBARES  BERERK EAER
Rizhl  ERRE  REFWERAEESTEN
Zh LNEEEEREMSBES -

F AR 3L
AEBRTENGRESRARTEERRE

©¥EZ— LAEKES BLES BXE
ElRdxEem:  UIBIRER—R SEFE

Z|REERBR  ERBAREREWESKE
2 OKRRSEEREMBNIS IR ERT -
AR PIRHF] B RAR S 85K IERIRTT R K&
AR -

RERBIRRBRAR / T _FERE

27



28

Corporate Governance Report
TREL®RE

OUR CULTURE (Continued)

In the course of business, the Group adheres to high standards and
strict requirements on engineering and operation quality and regards
occupational health, safety in production and environmental protection
as an important part of fulfilling social responsibilities, which are
integrated into the Company'’s sustainable development strategy. We
have been certified by the Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural
Development as an enterprise qualified as a Class A General
Construction Contractor of Municipal and Public Works, as well as the
CAEPI level-1 industrial wastewater and domestic sewage operation
and service ability evaluation certification, 1SO9001 Quality
Management System, ISO14001 Environmental Management System,
and 1SO45001 Occupational Health And Safety Management System.
A number of environmental protection projects led by us has also won
the National Important Environmental Protection Practical Technology
Demonstration Project Award. The Group is well-recognised in the
environmental protection industry in the Mainland. The Group is
currently the deputy chairman unit of the National Industrial
and Commercial and Environmental Protection Association
(ER IAEIRERHE) and a member of the China Environment Protection
Industry Association.

The Group requires all employees to actively practice the corporate
core values of “sincere commitment and repaying the society”. We
have established management rules and regulations that meet the
requirements of public enterprises, including “Employee Handbook”,
"Anti-Fraud Management System”, "Employee Whistleblowing
Policy”, etc. Meanwhile, through employee cultural training, we
advocate integrity and self-discipline, enhance the compliance
awareness of all employees, and make employees deeply understand
the corporate culture and integrate it into their daily work. In order to
advocate a green and low-carbon culture, we continue to pay attention
to the development of new technologies, actively apply new
technologies in the construction and operation of sewage treatment
projects, improve energy efficiency, and actively organise various
operating companies to carry out tree planting activities to promote
low-carbon travel.

In order to popularise environmental protection knowledge and skills,
spread positivity, and disseminate new knowledge, we organised the
"Public Open Day for Environmental Protection Facilities” campaign in
each factory, inviting the public to visit our factories to learn, helping
them to understand the capabilities and effectiveness of wastewater
treatment facilities, and raising public awareness of ecological
environment protection, water conservation, and water environment
protection.

We will continue to focus on building an environment-friendly and
resource-saving enterprise to achieve the harmonious development of
people, nature and the environment.
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Corporate Governance Report
TREL®RE

COMPLIANCE WITH MODEL CODE FOR
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors (“the “Model Code"”) as set out in Appendix 10 of the
Listing Rules as a code of conduct regarding the Directors’ dealings in
the Company’s securities. Having made specific enquiries of all the
Directors, each of the Directors has confirmed that he/she has
complied with the required standards as set out in the Model Code
during the year ended 31 December 2022.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company
and overseeing the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and
performance. The Board has delegated to the chief executive officer,
of which the Directors also undertake, and through him, to the senior
management the authority and responsibility for the day-to-day
management and operation of the Group. In addition, the Board has
established Board committees and has delegated to these Board
committees various responsibilities as set out in their respective terms
of reference.

As at 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this annual report, the
composition of the Board is set out below:

Executive Directors

Zhao Juanxian (alias, Zhao Junxian) (Co-Chairman)
Li Zhong (Co-Chairman)

Liu Yujie

Duan, Jerry Linnan

Independent non-executive Directors
Chau Kam Wing

Chang Qing

Peng Yongzhen

The Directors have no financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships with each other.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board at all time
complied with the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors
with at least one independent non-executive Director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each of
the independent non-executive Directors of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all
independent non-executive Directors to be independent in accordance
with the independence guidelines as set out in the Listing Rules.

A code provision of the CG Code requires Directors to disclose to the
issuer the number and nature of offices held in public companies or
organisations and other significant commitments as well as the nature
of such companies or organisations and the time involved in such
offices, each Director has agreed to disclose their commitments to the
Company in a timely manner.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The roles and duties of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer
have been clearly defined in writing and are carried out by different
individuals in order to preserve independence and a balance of views
and judgement.

With the support of the senior management, the Chairman is
responsible for ensuring that the Directors receive adequate, complete
and reliable information in a timely manner and appropriate briefing
on issues arising at Board meetings. The Chief Executive Officer
focuses on implementing objectives, policies and strategies approved
and delegated by the Board. He is in charge of the Company’s day-to-
day management and operations. The Chief Executive Officer is also
responsible for developing strategic plans and formulating the
organisational structure, control systems and internal procedures and
processes for the Board's approval.

As at 31 December 2022, Mr. Zhao Juanxian and Mr. Li Zhong were the
Co-chairmen of the Company and Mr. Duan, Jerry Linnan was the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into service contract with
the Company for an initial fixed term of three years and will continue
thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by either party to the other.

Each of the independent non-executive directors has entered into
service contract/letter of appointment with the Company for an initial
fixed term of one year and will continue thereafter until terminated by
not less than one month’s notice in writing served by either party to the
other.

In accordance with the articles of association of the Company (the
“Articles of Association”), all Directors are subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years and any new Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall submit himself/
herself for re-election by Shareholders at the first general meeting after
his/her appointment or in case as an addition to the Board, the new
Director shall hold office only until the next following annual general
meeting of the Company and then be eligible for re-election.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of Directors are laid down in the Articles of Association. The
Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board
composition, monitoring the appointment and succession planning of
Directors and assessing the independence of independent non-
executive Directors.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Board is collectively responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties and formalised the inclusion of the following
corporate governance duties into the terms of reference of the Board:

a. to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board;

b.  to define the Company's purpose, value and strategy and review
alignment with corporate culture;

c.  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

d.  to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

e. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct, anti-
corruption, whistleblowing policies and compliance manual (if
any) applicable to employees and Directors; and

f. to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report in the annual
report of the Company.

The Board had reviewed and approved the corporate governance
report contained in this annual report. The Board had also reviewed
the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance and
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements.

The Board had adopted a board diversity policy aiming to set out the
approach to achieve the diversity of members of the Board to enhance
the effectiveness of the Board. The Company recognises and embraces
the benefits of diversity of Board members. It endeavours to ensure
that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business. All Board appointments will continue to be made on a merit
basis with due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board
members. Selection of candidates of Board members will be based on
a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, experience (professional or
otherwise), skills and knowledge. The ultimate decision will be made
upon the merits and contribution that the selected candidates will
bring to the Board.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Board has targeted to maintain the level of female representation
of not less than 10% of the Board up to 2025. During the year 2022,
female representation was 14.3% and had achieved the target. The
Board will take gender diversity into account in its process of director
appointment and the Board will continue to review the target over
time.

Each newly appointed Director receives formal, comprehensive and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to
ensure appropriate understanding of the business and operations of
the Company and full awareness of Director’s responsibilities and
obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory
requirements.

Directors are continually updated on the statutory and regulatory
regime and the business environment to facilitate the discharge of
their responsibilities. Continuing briefing and professional
development for Directors will be arranged where necessary. Individual
Directors also participated in the courses relating to the roles, functions
and duties of a listed company director or further enhancement of their
professional development by way of attending training courses or via

online aids or reading relevant materials.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

The Company is committed to arranging and funding suitable training
to all Directors for their continuous professional development. All the
Directors also understand the importance of continuous professional
development and are committed to participating any suitable training
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Directors participated
in the following continuous professional development:
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Reading Materials
update on rules

Attend training and regulations
EHNEH
RARER
Name of Directors EEHE £ 3 HY B FE AR
Executive Directors HITES
Zhao Juanxian (alias, Zhao Junxian) HEB(BELTE)
(Co-Chairman) v v
Li Zhong (Co-Chairman) b (BEEE) v v
Liu Yujie BIEAR v 4
Duan, Jerry Linnan (Chief Executive Officer) ER AR (7TIECAE %) v v
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHITES
Chau Kam Wing ISEGES v v
Chang Qing A 4 v
Peng Yongzhen k& v 4
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TREL®RE

BOARD MEETINGS

The Board is provided with relevant materials in relation to the matters
brought before the meetings. Reasonable notices of meetings are
given to the Directors and the Directors are encouraged to express
freely their independent views and propose new items as any other
business for discussion at the meetings. The Directors have separate
access to the Company's senior management for information at all
times and may seek independent professional advice at the Company’s
expenses, if necessary, to ensure that independent views and opinions
are available to the Board. The Board has reviewed the implementation
and effectiveness of the mechanism on an annual basis and the Board
believes sufficient independent views and input are available to the
Board. Minutes are kept by the company secretary and are open for
inspections by all Directors at any reasonable time. Procedures for
convening meetings of the Board and Board committees and
preparing minutes of the meetings have complied with the
requirements of the Articles of Association and applicable rules and
regulations.

The attendance records of each Director at the Board meetings and
the annual general meeting during the year ended 31 December 2022
are set out below:
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Name of Directors BEEHA BITRE B|ITIRE
Executive Directors HITES
Zhao Juanxian (alias, Zhao Junxian) HEB(BELTE)
(Co-Chairman) 4/4 ival
Li Zhong (Co-Chairman) Fh (BELE) 4/4 1/1
Liu Yujie 2= 4/4 11
Duan, Jerry Linnan (Chief Executive Officer) EX MR (7TIECAEZL) 4/4 11
Independent Non-executive Directors BAFHITES
Chau Kam Wing BFGES 4/4 11
Chang Qing BE 4/4 11
Peng Yongzhen ToKE 4/4 1/
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TREL®RE

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board undertakes responsibility for decision making in major
Company matters, including the approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management systems, material transactions (in particular those that
may involve conflict of interests), financial information and other
significant financial and operational matters.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information as
well as the advice and services of the company secretary, with a view to
ensuring that Board procedures and all applicable laws and regulations
are followed. Each Director is normally able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company's
expense, upon making request to the Board.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Company are delegated to its Chief Executive Officer and the senior

management.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the nomination
committee, the remuneration committee and the audit committee.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) to make recommendations to the Board on
the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession
planning for Directors, in particular the Chairman and the chief
executive. As at 31 December 2022, the Nomination Committee
consisted of two executive directors and three independent non-
executive directors, comprising Mr. Chau Kam Wing (chairman), Mr.
Zhao Juanxian (alias, Zhao Junxian), Mr. Li Zhong, Mr. Peng Yongzhen
and Mr. Chang Qing.

The Nomination Committee reviewed the size, structure and
composition of the Board to complement the Group’s corporate
strategy and made recommendations to the Board on the appointment
and re-appointment of Directors during the year ended 31 December
2022.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year ended
31 December 2022 and the attendance records are set out below:
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Attendance/

Number of

Meetings

EFRHERY

Name of Directors EEHA HITRY
Mr. Chau Kam Wing EFGESp s 1”7
Mr. Zhao Juanxian (alias, Zhao Junxian) HBEBLAE 11
Mr. Li Zhong TR 11
Mr. Peng Yongzhen TKBREE 171
Mr. Chang Qing BELE 11

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a remuneration committee (the
"Remuneration Committee”) to review and approve the management’s
remuneration proposals with reference to the Board's corporate goals
and objects, make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
package of individual executive Directors and senior management and
review and/or approving matters relating to share schemes. As at 31
December 2022, the Remuneration Committee consisted of one
executive director and two independent non-executive directors,
namely Mr. Peng Yongzhen (chairman), Mr. Zhao Juanxian (alias, Zhao
Junxian) and Mr. Chau Kam Wing.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Remuneration
Committee reviewed the Directors’ fees (including executive Directors
and independent non-executive Directors) in consideration of the
increasing level of duties and responsibilities and market conditions;
and approval of the remuneration incentive structure of the Group as a
whole taking consideration of factors such as salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and their responsibilities.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the year
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Attendance/
Number of
Meetings
SELERE
Name of Directors EEHA BITIRE
Mr. Peng Yongzhen EOKESLAE 11
Mr. Zhao Juanxian (alias, Zhao Junxian) HEBLE 1/1
Mr. Chau Kam Wing EEGESp e 1/

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The Company has established a formal and transparent procedure for
formulating policies on remuneration of senior management of the
Group. Details of the remuneration of each of the Directors for the year
ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note 8 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements. During the year, no equity-based remuneration
with performance-related elements was paid to independent non-
executive Directors.

The biographies of the senior management are disclosed in the section
headed "Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report.
Remuneration paid to the senior management (excluding the Directors)
by bands for the year ended 31 December 2022 is set out below:
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individuals
Remuneration bands N ETE AE
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 /& T2 1,500,000 /& 7T 1
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee (the "Audit
Committee”) to assist the Board in providing an independent view of
the effectiveness of the financial reporting process, internal control and
risk management systems, oversee the audit process, monitor, review
and assist in the research of the Company’s environmental, social and
governance matters, and perform other duties and responsibilities as
assigned by the Board. As at 31 December 2022, the Audit Committee
consisted of three independent non-executive Directors, being Mr.
Chau Kam Wing (chairman), Mr. Peng Yongzhen and Mr. Chang Qing.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the annual results and annual
report of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022. The Audit
Committee has also discussed matters with respect to the accounting
policies and practices adopted by the Company and internal control
with senior management members of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Audit Committee
discussed with the management of the Company about the risk
management and internal controls, financial reporting and
environmental, social and governance matters, and reviewed the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and the
effectiveness of the Group's internal control system. The Audit
Committee also met with the external auditor to review the annual
report of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2021 and the
interim report of the Company for the six months ended 30 June 2022
and discuss about the annual audit planning of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2022.

The Audit Committee had reviewed, evaluated and reported to the
Board on ESG related risks and opportunities, developed
corresponding objectives and motored the progress towards the
objectives, which include but not limited to environmental risks such as
climate change, water resources, pollutant discharge, as well as social
risks such as employment, supply chain and corruption.
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The Audit Committee held three meetings during the year ended 31 @§:§:§:¢+* A=1+—HLFE &
December 2022 and the attendance records are set out below: MEZEEGRITZANEH  SEFMHELsH
A
Attendance/
Number of
Meetings
SFRHERE
Name of Directors EEHE BITRE
Mr. Chau Kam Wing [BEE e 3/3
Mr. Peng Yongzhen EZ & Jlas 3/3
Mr. Chang Qing BERE 3/3
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2022. The Directors consider that the Group has
adequate resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future
and are not aware of material uncertainties that may cast significant
doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports, inside
information announcements and other disclosures required under the
Listing Rules and other statutory and regulatory requirements.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an
informed assessment of the Company’s consolidated financial
statements, which are put to the Board for approval.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is solely responsible for the risk management and internal
control system to protect the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole. To achieve its aim, the Board monitors and
approves the strategies and policies of the Group's risk management
and internal control systems. The purpose of the relevant strategies
and policies is to evaluate and determine the nature and extent of risks
to make it suitable for the Group's strategic objectives and risk
endurance. The main target is to provide reasonable assurance against
material misstatement or loss, rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives. To this end, management continues to
allocate resources for an internal control and risk management system
compatible with the COSO (Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission) standards to provide reasonable, though
not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss and to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure in the operating system
of the Group and in achieving business objectives by the Group.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(Continued)

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has continuously monitored
and annually reviewed the effectiveness of risk management and
internal control system of the Group and its subsidiaries, and is of the
view that the existing risk management and internal control system is
sufficient and effective. The review covered all material aspects with
regard to control, including financial control, operational control and
compliance control. The internal audit reports submitted to the Audit
Committee by the Group also covered aspects of risk management
and internal control. The Board is not aware of any significant areas of
concern which may affect the Shareholders, and believes that the
Group has fully complied with the code provisions on internal controls,
including compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, as set
forth in the CG Code. The Board, through the appraisal performed by
the Audit Committee, reviewed the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programs received by the staff
and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal auditing and financial
reporting function at the Board meeting. In light of the Group's nature
of business and the recommendations on the Board's role in risk
management, the Group has developed risk management system and
policies, and established a risk control department, which is
responsible for the Group's risk management, to communicate and
assess the Group's risk profile and material risks, and track the progress
of mitigation plans and initiatives of material risks and report on
detailed examinations of specific risks as required.
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RISK MANAGEMENT ORGANISATION SYSTEM
The Group has established a comprehensive organization structure to
manage the risks encountered by the Group. The risk management
structure comprises two key factors: risk management structure and
risk management program.

EREZAMER

AREERY —ERENAKES  HAEE
FE S RRETE R - BB SR RE OEm
ERRE  ARERRENARERESR -

The Board (Supervision)
EEE (BEB)
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Risk Management Structure

Risk Risk
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RISK MANAGEMENT ORGANISATION SYSTEM Rl ERASRBR @

(Continued)
1. Risk management structure - [EREEFEE

> determine the overall objective, risk appetites and risk tolerance for corporate risk
management, and approve risk management strategies, major risk mitigation solutions and
risk management measures;

BECEAREZARARE BRFEL  RRIDE  HERREERBENEARRSTET

KUK B EIRIE M
REGULATORY »  understand and manage each major risks faced by the enterprise and its existing management
ORGANISATION situations, and make effective risks control decisions; approve the decision- making standards
EERE or mechanisms regarding major decisions, major risks, major events and major business
processes;

BRNZECEAGRNZEEAR L LERBRERRMN - MEBRIEHIREBRARE  EE
RRE - EAAR EAZHNEEZRBRIBADRRIZ LSS

»  approve risk management report related to major decisions; and

HAEBRKRAREZENEREERS © &

»  approve the annual comprehensive risk management report.

HEFEZHRRERRE -

>  review the establishment and planning of the comprehensive risk management system;

FRTHREREERRNZRMRE

RISK >  review the proposal on the structure of the risk management organisations and their
MANAGEMENT responsibilities;
ORGANISATION ERARERARMERE REMITR
Sk »  review the annual comprehensive risk management report and submit to the Board;
il FRYNEFRRLFE AR ETRRE

»  review risk management strategies, major risk management solutions and risk management
measures; and
EREREIERE EXEREEBRSEURERERER &

>  review the annual risk management work plan.

ERFERRER IS -
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TRERB®SE

RISK MANAGEMENT ORGANISATION SYSTEM Rl ERASBR @)

(Continued)

Tl

LEADING RISK
MANAGEMENT
AND
SUPPORTING
ORGANISATION
RRER
FERXE
i

Risk management structure (Continued) - EREEREEE)

responsible for the establishment and amendment of the Company's risk management

policies and mechanisms;

BERYMERT AR R REREBBUR R

establish anti-corruption mechanisms, and check for possible corruption conduct during the
internal audit process, and make suggestions for dealing with corruption conduct;

BN R SRS  WHEARBABETREAIAFENZERTR  BEETRARLREES
formulate annual risk management work plan and submit to the Board and the Audit
Committee for their review;

REFERREETIFAE  RRXEFE BRZESER

regularly collect first-hand information regarding risk management, carry out risk assessment
and discuss major risks faced by the Company;

EHWERREREER - E£TRRFE - AwiRE AR EENERER

assess the soundness, reasonability and the effectiveness in implementation of the risk
management system, and review the annual comprehensive risk management report, risk
management proposals and day-to-day risk management solutions;
FHEEREERGNREENE  AEMENNTHNAERE  EXFEL2ERREERS - ARE
BHRMATRREEBERTE

accept reports from employees and cooperating organizations, organize investigations and
provide handling advices, and investigate and deal with people and matters that violate
Company and legal regulations;

XEETIRAFEEMNER ARRAEIREEEER  ERERARMERRENAME
assist the Group in carrying out risk management work, and formulate internal auditing plan in
accordance with the result of risk assessment; and

BHAEERREARERTE  RERRFGERSEAEIETE &

test the effectiveness of risk management through implementing accounting methods like
walk through test and analytical review on its audit.

ETFTRAR - DMTEBRF DAERETRBRRREENARIL
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RISK MANAGEMENT ORGANISATION SYSTEM Rl ERASRBR @

(Continued)
1. Risk management structure (Continued) - EREEREEE)

> implement the basic procedures in risk management;
K HITRREREARE :
[MPLEMENTATION

research and propose decision-making standards or mechanisms regarding major decisions,
ORGANISATION major risks, major events and major business processes of the functional department;

BT R AP IEARE - BARAK  BASHNEBLBHIRAREEEL S

Ll »  research and propose risk assessment report of the functional department; properly carry out
risk management work of the functional department; and
IR AR AL EPT 0 BB ST 3R MIF AR S FIER ER TIE : &
»  establish comprehensive risk management procedures for the functional department.
BN 2 2R E AR B P A R B B IR AR o
2. Risk management program = EREEEX
The Group has established a comprehensive risk management AEBRREYEXTENRARERR
program which is led and implemented by the internal audit and N ZERABHANEEZTERERAED
inspection department. The risk management program is as FIBIEATT - R EIRIZR AT ¢
follows:
(1) to collect first-hand information for risk management; (1) EREEIGETWE
(2)  to analyse and assess risks; 2  RBEofTFErd
(3) to propose risk management strategies and formulate risk 3) IEHEAREHRE  WEKRRE
management solutions; and BERAFZE &
(4)  to supervise the implementation of risk management works @) HEREKBECVRREEIIEEGS
performed by each business units and verify the overall EITEEWZ RS FTHE -
appraisal.
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=%

BERAWE

RISK MANAGEMENT ORGANISATION SYSTEM

(Continued)

2. Risk management program (Continued)

Key risk management program of the Group
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SUPERVISION AND ENHANCEMENT OF RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Group has set up basic procedures that cover the whole process
of risk management, connecting the channels of communication of risk
management information along the reporting lines and among various
departments and business units to ensure timely, accurate and
complete sharing of information and this has laid the foundation for
the supervision and enhancement of risk management.

The senior management of the Group, focusing on material risks,
material matters and material decisions, important management
matters and the business flow, supervises the work relating to the first-
hand information collection for risk management, risk assessment, risk
management strategies, critical control activities and the
implementation of risk management solutions. The internal audit and
inspection department carries out an annual review and examination
on the implementation of the works on risk management by different
departments and business units and its effectiveness for the year,
assesses risk management strategies and evaluates inter-departmental
risk management solutions and business units’ risk management
solutions, proposes suggestions for adjustments and recommendations
for improvements and issues evaluation and recommendation reports
which will be sent to the relevant senior management in a timely

manner.

MATERIAL RISKS THE GROUP MAY FACE

In 2022, during the course of business planning, we identified material
risks that the Group may face which include risk of delayed collection,
risk of breach of agreement by governments, risk of litigation disputes,
risk of macro-economics and risk of cost price fluctuations.

The potential risk of delayed collection arises from the impact of the
general market environment, the inability of the government to pay
large sums due to financial constraints, resulting in damage to the
Company's interests and extension of the collection period. The
Group's corresponding measures on such risk include maintaining
good communication with the government, entering into collection
contracts for deferred payments and conducting regular follow-ups for
collection.

The potential risk of breach of agreement by governments arises from
stagnation or stoppage of projects and economic losses due to fiscal
stress of local government and unilateral modifications of projects
requirements. The Group's corresponding measures on such risk
include performing regular reconciliation with the local government
and obtaining reconciliation letters.
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MATERIAL RISKS THE GROUP MAY FACE (Continued)

The potential risk of litigation disputes arises from failure to fully
understand the potential pitfalls of the contracts, or disputes over the
goods themselves or the manner of performance, resulting in the
inability to realise legal rights and interests. The Group's
corresponding measures on such risks include establishing a legal risk
prevention and control mechanism and incorporating dispute
management into performance appraisal.

The potential risk of macro-economics arises from changes in the
macro environment or economic policies, which have adverse effects
on the corporate business, financial position, operating results and
development prospects. The Group's corresponding measures on such
risks include paying attention to macro-economic policies regularly,
adjusting and updating corporate development strategies and
business objectives in a timely manner, and preventing the corporate
from failing to adapt to changes in the internal and external operating
environment which may affect the achievement of corporate goals.

The potential risk of cost price fluctuations arises from the market risk
formed by the rise in pharmaceutical costs, the reduced range of
suppliers available for selection, and the decline in bargaining power
with pharmaceutical suppliers, resulting in an increase in
pharmaceutical procurement costs. The Group's corresponding
measures on such risks include expanding the scope of suppliers
actively, seeking favorable pharmaceutical supply channels, and
strengthening the overall management and approval of the payment
of pharmacy payables.

ANTI-CORRUPTION AND WHISTLEBLOWING
SYSTEM

The Group has incorporated anti-corruption and anti-bribery policies in
its standard of business conduct, and anti-corruption training are
provided to its employees and Directors to promote integrity and
enhance awareness about malpractice. Employees and other
stakeholders can report suspected misconduct and violations of law
and standards to the Group’s Internal Audit and Inspection
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Department by phone or email, or to the Audit Committee by e-mail
on anonymous basis. During the year, there is no incident involving
serious fraud or misconduct have been received from employees nor
external parties. The Audit Committee will continuously review and
monitor the implementation and effectiveness of the whistleblowing
system.

WORKFORCE DIVERSITY

We have always believed that diversity is vital to the Group’s
sustainable development. We insist on equality in the workplace and
strive to build a working atmosphere that fosters mutual respect,
inclusion, and mutual helpfulness to promote our employees’
happiness and satisfaction. To protect employees’ basic human rights
and enhance development diversity, we prohibit any type of
discrimination or screening in recruitment and promotion based on
gender, ethnic origin, religion, social status, or other considerations.
Currently, the male to female ratio in the workforce of the Group
including senior management is approximately 2:1 and the Board
considers that the Group has maintained a healthy and reasonable
gender diversity in its workforce.

MANAGEMENT OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group has formulated a set of program of continuing obligations
on information management and disclosure to formally regulate the
monitoring of inside information that arises during the course of its
current business development and has established the practice of
delivering such information to the Shareholders, the media and
analysts. When handling the relevant matters, the Group will comply
with “"Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the
Securities and Futures Commission and the related provisions issued
by regulatory organisations and the Group has clearly stated that the
unauthorised use of confidential or inside information is prohibited.
The Group has set up a system of answering enquiries from external
parties about the Group's affairs, and will appoint and authorise the
senior executives of the Group to act as the Company'’s spokesperson
in response to enquiries on a particular area.
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR AND AUDITOR'’S
REMUNERATION

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about its
reporting responsibilities for the Consolidated Financial Statements is
set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 72 to 79.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the remuneration paid/
payable to the Company’s independent auditor, Ermst & Young, is set
out below:

SR B R A BT =

ARRRINEZBENE B4R & M MR AR
RHEEMBELNBAFRET2AETIAN
(B R HE RS ] -

BHE_ZE_—_F#+-_A=+—HLtEE B
5/ A AR BB % B 2ok S TR BISFT
WEEHIIOT

RMB

ARETIT

Annual audit services FEEARS 2,656
Non-audit services IEEFTARTS 314
Total fees 4 & 2,970

Non-audit services included tax advisory services and environmental,
social and governance advisory services. The Audit Committee is
satisfied that the non-audit services did not affect the independence of
the external auditor.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS/INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor
understanding of the Group's business performance and strategies.
The Company also recognises the importance of transparency and
timely disclosure of corporate information, which will enable
Shareholders and investors to make the best investment decisions. The
general meetings of the Company provide a forum for face-to face
communication between the Board and the Shareholders dialogue.
The Chairman as well as chairmen of the Nomination Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee or, in their absence,
other members of the respective committees and, where applicable,
the chairman of the independent Board committee, are available to
answer questions at general meetings.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains on its
website up-to-date information and updates on the Company’s
business operations and developments, financial information,
corporate governance practices and other information, which are
posted and are available for public access. The Company also arranges
periodic investors’ conference and sets up dedicated investor relations’
e-mail address to receive enquiries from the shareholders and potential
investors. The Board had reviewed the shareholder’s policy and
considered that the policy has been properly implemented and is
effective.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company has not amended its constitutional documents during
the year ended 31 December 2022.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution
is proposed for each substantially separate issue at Shareholders’
meetings, including the election of individual Directors.

All resolutions put forward at Shareholders’ meetings will be voted on
by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on
the websites of the Company and of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
after each general meeting.

Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries to the Board
could send their enquiries to the Company’s principal place of business
in Hong Kong or the headquarters in the PRC or by email to
kangda@kangdaep.com. Shareholders can contact Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, the Hong Kong branch share
registrar of the Company, if they have any enquiries about their
shareholdings and entitlements to dividend.

CONVENING OF EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL
MEETINGS AND PUTTING FORWARD
PROPOSALS

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, any one or more members
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to the Board or the secretary of the Company, to
require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such
meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board
fails to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the
Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company. A
written requisition in hard copy form may be sent to the Company's
registered office or principal place of business in Hong Kong.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Wong Wan Sing is the company secretary of the Company. During
the year ended 31 December 2022, he has undertaken no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training.
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Report of Directors

EEERE

The Board is pleased to present its report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Details of the
principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to
the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Business review of the Group is set out in “Business Review” section of
“Management Discussion and Analysis”.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group’s results, assets and liabilities, which are
extracted from the annual audited reports, are set out on page 232 of
this annual report. This summary does not form part of the audited
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 and its
financial position at that date are set out on the financial statements on
pages 80 to 83 of this annual report.

The Board did not recommend payment of the final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2022 (year ended 31 December 2021: nil).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The declaration, form, frequency and amount of any dividend payout
of the Company must be in accordance with relevant laws, rules and
regulations and subject to the Articles of Association. Subject to
compliance with applicable laws, rules, regulations and the Articles of
Association, in deciding whether to propose any dividend payout, the
Board will take into account, among other things, the financial results,
the earnings and distributable reserves, the operations and liquidity
requirements, the debt ratio and possible effects on the credit lines,
and the current and future development plans of the Company.

EREMAZ2INERSE  ERAKEEBRE
T AT RLEFENREREEY
BHREK °

FTEXK
ARAB—RREZERRA - T2HMBRFH
TEXBHIEHNGEMBHRRME -

£ 0]
AEBNEBOBRN [ERETH R
H) [R5 EIRE | — 45 -

MR
HREEREFRNAREER  AERAMR
BERNAFHENE - BELTHREE
BRABBREN—H5 -

XERBRE
AEEEZE-_T-_—_F+-_A=1+—HILFE
MEE R AN Z BB E N AERE 80
E8IEMIHIRE -

EXxe T kBEBE_T_—_F1+_A
=t HLEFENRERE(BE_T—_—F
TZA=+—HIEFE :F)-

IR EBUR

RRBIMBERBRBER %EH‘J&/HEL/{&X
RNABERARBETHIETMREEIR

A REREE - REBERER %EH‘J&/:HE
AREBERMAR BEFENRESEER
IRERIREER - $ZE (KT EE) AT
G EE  BANRAIDIKFEE 2ELRBE
EHEKR BBELERREREEERNELNTE
DA R IR By S R R EE R AT &

KANGDA INTERNATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL COMPANY LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2022



Report of Directors

EEERE

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The transfer books and register of members of the Company will be
closed from Friday, 2 June 2023 to Wednesday, 7 June 2023, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of Shares can be registered.
The record date for entitlement to attend and vote at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company (the “Annual General
Meeting”) is Wednesday, 7 June 2023. In order to be qualified for
attending and voting at the Annual General Meeting, all transfers of
Shares accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not
later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 1 June 2023.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The political, economic and social conditions in China are experiencing
changes and reforms, which may adversely affect our business, growth
strategies, operating results and financial condition.

Demand for the Group's services and business, financial condition,
results of operations and prospects may be adversely affected by the
following factors:

o political instability or changes in social conditions in China;
. changes in laws, regulations and administrative directives;
. measures which may be introduced to control inflation or

deflation; and
o changes in the rate or method of taxation.

These factors are affected by a number of variables which are beyond
control.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group adheres to the concept of green environmental protection
in conducting its business and is dedicated to reduce environmental
impacts and contribute to environmental conservation. The Group has
endeavored to comply with applicable environmental protection laws
and regulations and has developed policies in relation to water
resources, energy saving, office resources, chemical resources,
construction materials, sewage discharge, exhaust gas, solid waste and
noise. For example:

o the Group has adopted water conservation management system
and provided manual on water conservation for employees;

J energy-saving designs and equipment are used in the Group's
wastewater treatment plants;

o paper conservation and doubles-sided printing are promoted,
digital office system is employed to reduce office resources
consumption;

J Energy-saving and recycled materials are used in constructions;

° Dust and noise reducing measures are used in construction sites.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to applicable
laws, rules and regulations in particular, those have significant impact
on the Group. Any changes in the applicable laws, rules and
regulations are brought to the attention of relevant employees and
relevant operation units from time to time.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note 12
to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands where the
Company was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer
new Shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.
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PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year
ended 31 December 2022.

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note 41 to the
consolidated financial statements and in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 84 of this annual report respectively.

As at 31 December 2022, the Company's reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions of Companies
Law, amounted to approximately RMB1,712.4 million (2021: RMB1,676.0
million).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group's five largest
suppliers accounted for 22.4% of the Group’s total purchases and
purchase from the Group's largest supplier included therein amounted
to 15.5% of the total purchases for the year.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group's sales to its five
largest customers accounted for 34.3% of the Group's total sales and
sales to the largest customer included therein amounted to 12.3% of
the total sales for the year.

Jiangxi Silver Dragon Water Environment Construction Co., Ltd.* (T F§
IRFEKIRIBRERBREMTAF]) ("Jiangxi Silver Dragon”) is one of the
five largest suppliers of the Group during the year ended 31 December
2022. Jiangxi Silver Dragon is a non-wholly owned subsidiary of China
Water, a substantial shareholder of the Company. Mr. Li Zhong, Ms. Liu
Yujie and Mr. Duan, Jerry Linnan, the executive Directors of the
Company, are also the executive directors of China Water and Mr.
Chau Kam Wing, an independent non-executive Director of the
Company, is also an independent non-executive director of China
Water. Further details are set out in the section “Connected
Transaction” below. Save as disclosed, none of the Directors or any of
their close associates or any Shareholders (which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company's
issued share capital) had any interest in the Group’s five largest
customers and suppliers.
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BANK LOANS

Particulars of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings of the Group
as at 31 December 2022 are set out in note 28 to the consolidated
financial statements.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

Details of the Group’s policies on capital management are set out in
note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD
For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group did not hold any
material investments in the equity interest of other companies.

MATERIAL INVESTMENT AND FUTURE PLANS OF
CAPITAL ASSETS

As of 31 December 2022, Group had no material investment and other
plans for capital assets.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF

SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any
material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries and associates.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS
EMPLOYEES

Employees are regarded as the most important and valuable assets of
the Group. The objective of the Group’s human resource management
is to reward and recognise performing staff by providing a competitive
remuneration package and implementing a sound performance
appraisal system with appropriate incentives, and to promote career
development and progression by appropriate training and providing
opportunities within the Group for career advancement.
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CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group's customers are generally municipal, district or county level
governments or their designees in China. We typically enter into
agreements with the Group’s customers to provide wastewater
treatment and other services on a project-by-project basis.

The Group's business is built on a customer-oriented culture, and are
focused on establishing relationships with district or county level
governments or their designees in China. The Group also understands
that it is important to maintain good relationship with its suppliers and
customers to fulfil its immediate and long-term goals. To maintain its
market competitiveness within the industry, the Group aims at
delivering constantly high standards of quality in the service to its
customers.

SHAREHOLDERS

One of the corporate goals of the Group is to enhance corporate value
to Shareholders. The Group is poised to foster business developments
for achieving the sustainability of earnings growth and rewarding
Shareholders.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the
date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors:

Zhao Juanxian (alias, Zhao Junxian) (Co-Chairman)
Li Zhong (Co-Chairman)

Liu Yujie

Duan, Jerry Linnan (Chief Executive Officer)

Independent non-executive Directors:
Chau Kam Wing

Chang Qing

Peng Yongzhen

In accordance with the Articles of Association, Mr. Zhao Juanxian (alias,
Zhao Junxian), Mr. Duan, Jerry Linnan and Mr. Chau Kam Wing will
retire at the Annual General Meeting, and being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election.

Details of the Directors to be re-elected at the Annual General Meeting
are set out in the circular to the Shareholders.

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Group are set out on pages 21 to 26 of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into service contract with
the Company for an initial fixed term of three years and will continue
thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by either party to the other.

Each of the independent non-executive directors has entered into
service contract/letter of appointment with the Company for an initial
fixed term of one year and will continue thereafter until terminated by
not less than one month’s notice in writing served by either party to the
other.

None of the Directors has a service contract which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS OF
SIGNIFICANCE, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, no Director or his/
her connected party had a material interest, either directly or indirectly,
in any transactions of significance, arrangements or contracts to the
business of the Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party during the year ended 31 December 2022.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

According to the Articles of Association, every Director or other officer
of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets
and profits of the Company against all losses or liabilities which he/she
may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his/her
office or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company has arranged
appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the
Directors and officers of the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December 2022.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted the share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) on 14 June 2014 (the “Adoption Date”). The
following is a summary of principal terms of the Share Option Scheme:

Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to give the Eligible
Persons (as defined in the following paragraph) an opportunity to have
a personal stake in the Company and help motivate them to optimise
their future performance and efficiency to the Group and/or to reward
them for their past contributions, to attract and retain or otherwise
maintain on-going relationships with such Eligible Persons who are
significant to and/or whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the
performance, growth or success of the Group, and additionally in the
case of Executives (as defined below), to enable the Group to attract
and retain individuals with experience and ability and/or to reward
them for their past contributions.

Who may join in the Share Option Scheme

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, grant options (“Option(s)"”)
to subscribe for such number of Shares in accordance with the terms
set out in the Share Option Scheme to:

(@)  any executive Director of, manager of, or other employee holding
an executive, managerial, supervisory or similar position in any
member of the Group (“Executive”), any full-time or part-time
employee, or person for the time being seconded to work full-
time or part-time for any member of the Group (“Employee”);

(b)  a Director or proposed Director (including an independent non-
executive Director) of any member of the Group;

()  adirect or indirect shareholder of any member of the Group;

(d) asupplier of goods or services to any member of the Group;

(e) a customer, consultant, business or joint venture partner,
franchisee, contractor, agent or representative of any member of
the Group;

() a person or entity that provides design, research, development
or other support or any advisory, consultancy, professional or

other services to any member of the Group; and

(9) an associate of any of the persons referred to in paragraphs (a) to
(f) above (the person referred above are the "Eligible Persons”).
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Maximum number of Shares

A resolution was passed by the shareholders of the Company at the
annual general meeting of the Company on 10 June 2020, approving,
inter alia, to refresh the limit of the Share Option Scheme to
213,973,500 shares of the Company, representing 10% of the issued
shares of the Company as at 10 June 2020. For further details please
refer to the Company’s announcement dated 10 June 2020. As at the
date of this annual report, 213,973,500 shares of the Company are
available for issue under the Share Option Scheme, representing 10%
of the issued shares of the Company.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

No Option may be granted to any one person such that the total
number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of Options
granted and to be granted to that person in any 12-month period
exceeds 1% of the Company's issued share capital from time to time.

Where any further grant of Options to such Eligible Person would result
in the Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all Options
granted and to be granted to such Eligible Person (including exercised,
cancelled and outstanding Options) in the 12-month period up to and
including the date of such further grant representing in aggregate over
1% of the Shares in issue, such further grant shall be separately
approved by the Shareholders in general meeting with such Eligible
Person and his or her associates abstaining from voting.

Offer and grant of Options

Subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, the Board shall be
entitled at any time within 10 years from the Adoption Date to offer the
grant of an Option to any Eligible Person as the Board may in its
absolute discretion select to subscribe at the subscription price for
such number of Shares as the Board may (subject to the terms of the
Share Option Scheme) determine (provided the same shall be a board
lot for dealing in the Shares on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange or an
integral multiple thereof).
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Minimum holding period, vesting and performance target
Subject to the provisions of the Listing Rules, the Board may in its
absolute discretion when offering the grant of an Option impose any
conditions, restrictions or limitations in relation thereto in addition to
those set forth in the Share Option Scheme as the Board may think fit
(to be stated in the letter containing the offer of the grant of Option)
including (without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing)
qualifying and/or continuing eligibility criteria, conditions, restrictions
or limitations relating to the achievement of performance, operating or
financial targets by the Company and/or the grantee, the satisfactory
performance or maintenance by the grantee of certain conditions or
obligations or the time or period before the right to exercise the
Option in respect of any of Shares shall vest provided that such terms
or conditions shall not be inconsistent with any other terms or
conditions of the Share Option Scheme. For the avoidance of doubt,
subject to such terms and conditions as the Board may determine as
aforesaid (including such terms and conditions in relation to their
vesting, exercise or otherwise) there is no minimum period for which an
Option must be held before it can be exercised and no performance
target which need to be achieved by the grantee before Option can be
exercised.

Amount payable on acceptance of the option and the
payment period

To accept the grant of an Option, HK$1 as consideration for the grant
of an Option must be received by the Company from the grantee
within 28 days from the date on which the board resolution approves
the grant of Options.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Subscription price

The subscription price in respect of any particular Option shall be such
price as the Board may in its absolute discretion determine at the time
of grant of the relevant Option (and shall be stated in the letter
containing the offer of the grant of the Option) but the subscription
price shall not be less than whichever is the highest of:

(@) The nominal value of a Share;

(b) The closing price of a Share as stated in the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the offer date; and

() The average closing price of a Share as stated in the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations for the 5 business days (as
defined in the Listing Rules) immediately preceding the offer
date.

The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme
The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10 years.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, there is no Option granted,
cancelled, lapsed or exercised under the Share Option Scheme. As at
1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022, no Option was outstanding
under the Share Option Scheme.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Remuneration Committee was set up for reviewing the Group's
emolument policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors
and senior management of the Group, having regard to the Group's
operating results, individual performance of the Directors and senior
management and comparable market practices.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five highest paid
individuals are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITION IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) (i) which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which were taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO), or (i) which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO, to be entered into the register maintained by the Company, or (jii)
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

EENRESTRAESRKRS - 1HE
R REEENEZER AR

RIB-—_F+-A=+—H ARAEEFK
BETRABRAQRSKEAMBEERE(E
EZRBLHFRBERAN(FEHFLBEEG]) S
XVER) HR%1D ~ B REHFEFR - #HE()
BIEES MG IEMNEXVEET7 K8 IEM
SARRRBEBBZIATHERZ AR (BIER
BESFRBPEGIEBIECHEENR AES
Mz MAR) » () RIBEBESH RAEEDIFH
2 EBHARRRIFENELMAOETRE R
KA KNRBEETRANS ARG RS
B TR R FORAR T ¢

Approximate
percentage of
issued share

Number of capital of

Name of Director Nature of Interest Shares  the Company

RN

E#TRAH

EEnA EEME gk 2 ¢=| BB

Mr. Zhao Juanxian Person acting in concert 546,728,004 25.56%
(alias, Zhao Junxian)™ —EHITEAL (long position)
HEBELED (412 )

Mr. Li Zhong Beneficial owner 10,000,000 0.47%
FhEsg EnlaA (long position)
(4 8)

Ms. Liu Yujie Beneficial owner 10,000,000 0.47%
BlEARL L EmAA (long position)
(4 8)

Mr. Duan, Jerry Linnan Beneficial owner 10,000,000 0.47%
BN EREAAN (long position)
(4F%)

Mr. Chau Kam Wing Beneficial owner 2,000,000 0.09%
EFEPe EmEBA (long position)
(4 8)
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITION IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (Continued)

EERESTRAERKRS - 1HE
R REEZENEZR AR @

Approximate
percentage of
issued share

Number of capital of

Name of Director Nature of Interest Shares the Company

SR NG

EBRITRAN

EEnA EENE RO EE BMAOBE D

Mr. Chang Qing Beneficial owner 2,000,000 0.09%
BBiE BEmiEA A (long position)
(41 %)

Mr. Peng Yongzhen Beneficial owner 2,000,000 0.09%
TXERAE EmEA (long position)
(#F%)

Note: Bt E

(1 By virtue of Mr. Zhao Juanxian acting in concert with Mr. Zhao Sizhen, being the son
of Mr. Zhao Juanxian, under the SFO, Mr. Zhao Juanxian is deemed to be interested
in Mr. Zhao Sizhen's interests in the Company.

Save as disclosed, as at 31 December 2022, none of the Directors and
the chief executive of the Company had or was deemed to have any
interest or short position in the Shares, underlying Shares or
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) that was required to be recorded in the
register of the Company required to be kept under Section 352 of the
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the
year ended 31 December 2022 were rights to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of Shares in or debentures of the Company
granted to any Director or their respective spouse or children under 18
years of age, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the
Company and any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors, or their respective spouse or children under 18
years of age, to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND

SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND BmNMRE
UNDERLYING SHARES
As at 31 December 2022, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the AT =

following persons (not being a Director or chief executive of the
Company) had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying
Shares which fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the
SFO:

TERRRNR D R B G A

F+-ZA=+—H #EEHM -
ATAL(EERARRRSTRAERINK
Betn SAERAR D P A RIBRE 7 R B 1R P15
XV BB 8 55 2 2 5 3 70 BBV R SCAR R N 1 ) 4 R
FYRCER I AN R BIR IR 78 77 S BB 15 1) 56 336 16k
AFENBLMORRIRR

Number of Percentage of

Shares/ Issued Share

Underlying Capital of

Name Capacity/Nature of Interest Shares held the Company

R, HAATCRIT

wE LB B RnttE HERGEE REANBEDL

China Water Affairs Group Limited™® Interest of controlled corporation 953,119,996 44.54%
R EDKGEEBR AT OO REHEE R (long position)
(4F&)

Sharp Profit Investments Limited Beneficial owner 953,119,996 44.54%
(“Sharp Profit”)®s BEmlEaA A (long position)
(5FE)

Mr. Zhao Sizhen® Interest of controlled corporation 543,828,004 25.42%
Zhao Sizhen %4 @ SYEHEE S (long position)
(48

Beneficial owner 2,900,000 0.14%
EnlAA (long position)
(& &)

Kangda Holdings Company Limited® Beneficial owner 543,828,004 25.42%
REZERAERRAAC EmBAA (long position)
(5F&)

BPEA V Holding (5) Limited (“BPEA V")#® Beneficial owner 344,129,996 16.08%
BEmEEA (long position)
(47 &)

Beneficial owner 344,129,996 16.08%
EmlEaA A (short position)
C&E)
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND I EREHNIRG REEIRG FHE
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND BRAE @
UNDERLYING SHARES (Continued)

Number of Percentage of

Shares/ Issued Share
Underlying Capital of
Name Capacity/Nature of Interest Shares held the Company
R, HAATCRIT
HEEB B RmtE HEERDEE RANE DL
BPEA Private Equity Fund V, L.P.4® Interest of controlled corporation 344,129,996 16.08%
REHEE R (long position)
(&F&)
Interest of controlled corporation 344,129,996 16.08%
REHEEER (short position)
O#E)
BPEA Private Equity GP V, L.P.4® Interest of controlled corporation 344,129,996 16.08%
SIEFEE RS (long position)
(45 &)
Interest of controlled corporation 344,129,996 16.08%
YRS A E R (short position)
C#E)
BPEA Private Equity GP V Limited“® Interest of controlled corporation 344,129,996 16.08%
Rt EE R (long position)
(4 &)
Interest of controlled corporation 344,129,996 16.08%
PG EE S (short position)
C&E)
BPEA EQT Holdings AB (“BPEA EQT")“® Interest of controlled corporation 344,129,996 16.08%
REHEE R (long position)
(5F&)
Interest of controlled corporation 344,129,996 16.08%
A EES (short position)
O#E)
EQT AB“® Interest of controlled corporation 344,129,996 16.08%
REHEE R (long position)
(5FE)
Interest of controlled corporation 344,129,996 16.08%
TG AE RS (short position)
C#E)
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES (Continued)

Notes:

m

Save

Sharp Profit is wholly owned by China Water Affairs Group Limited. China Water
Affairs Group Limited is therefore deemed to be interested in Sharp Profit's interests
in the Company under the SFO.

By virtue of Mr. Zhao Juanxian acting in concert with Mr. Zhao Sizhen, under the
SFO, Mr. Zhao Juanxian is deemed to be interested in Mr. Zhao Sizhen's interests in
the Company.

Kangda Holdings Company Limited is wholly-owned and controlled by Mr. Zhao
Sizhen and Mr. Zhao Sizhen is therefore deemed to be interested in the shares held
by Kangda Holdings Company Limited under the SFO.

BPEA V is held as to approximately 99.35% by BPEA Private Equity Fund V, L.P.
BPEA Private Equity GP V, L.P., is the general partner of BPEA Private Equity Fund V,
L.P. BPEA EQT is the sole shareholder of BPEA Private Equity GP V Limited, the
general partner of BPEA Private Equity GP V, L.P. BPEA EQT is wholly owned by
EQT AB, which is listed on Nasdaq Stockholm. Each of BPEA Private Equity Fund V,
L.P., BPEA Private Equity GP V, L.P., BPEA Private Equity GP V Limited, BPEA EQT
and EQT AB is deemed to be interested in BPEA V's interests in the Company.

On 8 May 2020, BPEA V issued exchangeable bonds with principal amount of
HK$361,336,495.8 to Sharp Profit (“Exchangeable Bonds”), which entitled the holder
of the Exchangeable Bonds to exchange for 344,129,996 shares of the Company (at
the initial exchange price of HK1.05 per share of the Company) beneficially owned
by BPEA V. As at 31 December 2022, Sharp Profit beneficially owned 608,990,000
shares of the Company and is the holder of the Exchangeable Bonds with principal
amount of HK$361,336,495.8 which are exchangeable into 344,129,996 shares of the
Company beneficially owned by BPEA V.

as disclosed above, and as at 31 December 2022, the Directors

were not aware of any persons (who were not Directors or chief

executive of the Company) who had an interest or short position in the

Shares or underlying Shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which
would be required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to be entered

in the register referred to therein.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, as at 31 December 2022, none
of the Directors or their respective associates had engaged in or had
any interest in any business which competes or may compete with the
businesses of the Group.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

On 25 September 2020, Kangda Investment (Hong Kong) Company
Limited (“Kangda Investment (Hong Kong)”), an indirectly wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a framework
construction services agreement (the “Construction Services
Agreement”) with Jiangxi Silver Dragon, pursuant to which, the parties
agreed that Jiangxi Silver Dragon may be selected to provided civil
works, construction, installation works and supply of equipment for
projects of the Group relating to the construction, upgrading,
reconstruction and expansion of wastewater treatment facilities
through a tender process in compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations in the PRC. The term of the Construction Services
Agreement commenced from the date of the Construction Services
Agreement and ending on 31 December 2022. Jiangxi Silver Dragon is
a non-wholly owned subsidiary of China Water, a substantial
shareholder of the Company. Therefore, Jiangxi Silver Dragon is an
associate of China Water and a connected person of the Company.
The transactions in relation to the Construction Services Agreement
constitute continuous connected transactions of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, and the Company’s independent
shareholders approved the continuing connected transactions in
relation to the Construction Service Agreement in the extraordinary
general meeting of the Company held on 16 November 2020. The
annual caps under the Construction Services Agreement for the period
commenced from the date of the Construction Services Agreement
and ended on 31 December 2020 and years ended 31 December 2021
and 2022 are RMB180 million, RMB300 million and RMB300 million,
respectively. The Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A the Listing Rules. Further
details of the Construction Services Agreement were set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 25 September 2020 and circular
dated 30 October 2020. On 8 November 2022, Kangda Investment
(Hong Kong) and Jiangxi Silver Dragon entered into a new construction
services agreement (the “Renewed Construction Services Agreement”)
to renew the Construction Services Agreement for a term commencing
from 1 January 2023 and ending on 31 December 2025. Further details
of the Renewed Construction Services Agreement were set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 8 November 2022.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION (Continued)

As set out in note 36 of the consolidated financial statements, certain
bank borrowings of the Group were secured by Mr. Zhao Juanxian,
which constitute continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules. However, pursuant to Rule 14A.90 of the Listing
Rules, as the guarantees provided by Mr. Zhao Juanxian were
conducted on normal commercial terms and not secured by the assets
of the Group, the guarantees provided by Mr. Zhao Juanxian set out in
note 36 of the consolidated financial statements are fully exempted
from reporting, announcement, annual review and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.09 of the Listing Rules, as Huizhou Kangda
Yingzhihuang Water Co., Ltd* (B M B E X 2 2K B E R A 7)),
Jiaoling Kangda Environmental Governance Co., Ltd. (B%ERIERER
IBAHBRAT]), Pingdingshan City Bay Water Treatment Co., Ltd.* (*FT&
Il T8 K 3% A R 2 A)), Jilin Kangda Environmental Protection Co.,
Ltd.* (EWMEZEIRRABR A A]), Weihai Kangda Ecological Environment
Treatment Co., td* (BB EL R R B LA B E AR A 7)) and
Shenyang Jinhai Kangda Environmental Protection Water Co., Ltd.* (J&
5308 B ZE R R KIS B R A &) are insignificant subsidiaries of the
Group, the related party transactions between the Group and their
respective non- controlling shareholders set out in note 36 of the
consolidated financial statements do not constitute connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions under the Listing
Rules.

Save as disclosed above, the other transactions set in note 36 of the
consolidated financial statements either do not constitute connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions of the Company or
are exempted from reporting, announcement, annual review and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.

*  For identification purposes only
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CONFIRMATION FROM INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND AUDITORS

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above
continuing connected transactions of the Group and have confirmed
that these transactions have been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(i) on normal commercial terms; and

(iii) in accordance with the relevant agreement governing such
transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

The auditors of the Company have reported to the Directors that
nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditors to believe
that, during the year ended 31 December 2022:

() the above continuing connected transactions have not been
approved by the Board,;

(i)  the above continuing connected transactions that involve
provision of goods or services by the Group, were not, in all
material respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of the
Company;

(iii)  the above continuing connected transactions were not entered
into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant
agreement governing such transactions; and

(iv)  the respective cap amounts set out for the relevant agreement
referred to above have been exceeded.

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS
The material post balance sheet events are disclosed in note 40 to the
consolidated financial statements in this report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee had reviewed together with the management
and independent auditor the accounting principles and policies
adopted by the Group and the audited consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2022.
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CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING DIRECTORS’
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in the Model Code contained in the Listing Rules.
Specific enquiry has been made to all the Directors and the Directors
have confirmed that they had complied with such code of conduct
during year ended 31 December 2022.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of shareholders of the Company
and to enhance corporate value and accountability. During the year
ended 31 December 2022, the Company has compiled with all the
applicable provisions of the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and to the
knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total issued
share capital, the prescribed minimum percentage of public float
approved by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and permitted under the
Listing Rules, are held by the public at all times during the year ended
31 December 2022 and up to the date of this annual report.

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young has acted as auditor of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2022.

Ernst & Young shall retire at the Annual General Meeting and, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the
re-appointment of Ernst & Young as auditor of the Company will be
proposed at the Annual General Meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Li Zhong
Co-Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2023
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B M % B A R

e
EY:

To the shareholders of
Kangda International Environmental Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Kangda
International Environmental Company Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 80 to 231, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing (“ISAs") issued by the International Auditing and Assurance
Standards Board (“IAASB”). Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B M % B AR

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B M % B A R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter
HRENSEE

BREETTEE %)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEENETNNEERRETSHE

Provision for impairment of trade receivables and financial receivables

B ZREMT AL & B TR E R

Trade receivables and financial receivables were significant to
the consolidated financial statements and the majority of the
receivables were generated from service concession
arrangements, engineering procurement construction (“EPC")
contracts, and build-transfer contracts. Expected credit losses
("ECLs") allowances for trade receivables are made based on
the assessment of the recoverability of receivables due from
customers. The Group is required to regularly assess the
recoverability of its trade receivables and financial receivables.
This involves significant judgement and estimation as the ECLs
allowances must reflect information about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future conditions.

B SRR N & BEUIRL AV BERRBEELR - MX
ZERUFELDRAERBEFLELH ITERBER
(TEPCH B RER — BRAaK - EHERWFENTAMES
BE(FEMEEER D BREREE BKEPFIERKREEE
PRERRTEAHR - EXREATHFEEESREFIAL TR
FEW FIRR P W EIAZE - a8 B AAE R4 RERE
HEEERREHEARMEBBESN - B AKRFARREENR
IR E RS

Relevant disclosures are included in note 2.4 summary of
significant accounting policies — “impairment of financial
assets”, note 2.5 significant accounting judgements and
estimates — estimation uncertainty — “Provision for expected
credit losses on trade receivables, financial receivables and
contract assets”, note 19 “financial receivables”, and note 21
“trade receivables” to the consolidated financial statements.
HARBRHNGEMBERRMI 24T 2STBREE —[©
MEERME] - 2.5 E KRG HIE R — At TR
—[EHRKFTE cREKRERGNEERBEEBRRE
1 M9 S RUEWEIE ] MMtsE211 8 S EWFIE] -

Our procedures to assess the recoverability of trade
receivables and financial receivables included,
among others, obtaining confirmations of trade
receivables and financial receivables, examining
evidence of collection of trade receivables and
financial receivables after the year end, recalculating
the ageing analysis by customers, examining the
Group’s assessment of the customers’ financial
circumstances and ability to repay the debt,
comparing the Group's provisioning rates against
historical collection data, and considering the
customers’ historical payment habits along with other
macroeconomic information and other reasonable
and supportable forward-looking information.
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BReBEBKFIENERE SNt ERTPAERRKR S
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We also assessed ECLs allowances model and
checked the calculations.

EENCOHEEMEEBERE  UnEHERHE -

In addition, we evaluated the adequacy of the
disclosures regarding the ECLs allowances for trade
receivables and financial receivables.
s - HEDHERE ZERYWGRIA K © &l R KR IATE
HEEERBEMERERE RS -
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Independent Auditor’'s Report
B M % B AR

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter
RARESEE

BREETEE (5

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EENBETNNEERRETSHR

Recognition and measurement of the contract revenue for service

RIS L IR T B & #9 W as 1B R KAt &

The Group engages in certain service concession
arrangements under the terms of Build-Operate-Transfer
("BOT") in which the Group carries out the construction work
of municipal infrastructure for certain governmental authorities
or their designees (the “Grantors”) and receives in return the
rights to operate municipal infrastructure concerned in
accordance with the pre-established conditions set by the
Grantors. The measurement of revenue for service concession
arrangements which is accounted for under IFRIC 12 Service
Concession Arrangements involves significant management
judgements and estimates including determination of
applicable accounting model, estimation of the future
guaranteed receipts, prevailing market rate of construction
gross margins, and discount rates as used in the valuation
process.

RIFRER — &% — BRX(BOTHWIER - EXEFTYET
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Relevant disclosures are included in note 2.4 summary of
significant accounting policies — “service concession
arrangements”, note 2.5 significant accounting judgements
and estimates — judgements — "accounting for service
concession arrangements” and “percentage of completion of
construction services”, note 4 “revenue” and note 19 “financial
receivables” to the consolidated financial statements.
HARESN GV BERRMT 24T EGHEEME — IR
B RS ZHE] - M2 5B RE A HE Mt — 2 — (R
RS E LRt RIE | R [ERRBEERTHESLL] - T
4TMER | AR EE 191 € B FEURGRIE ]

concession arrangements

We reviewed the contract terms of the service
concession arrangements and assessed the
accounting model adopted and the future
guaranteed receipts. We evaluated the competency
and objectivity of the external appraiser engaged by
management to assist the determination of the gross
margin for construction service and discount rates.
We also evaluated the basis and assumptions in the
valuation and performed a comparison of the inputs
used in the valuation against external market data. In
addition, we involved our internal valuation
specialists to assist us in evaluating the gross margin
for construction service and the discount rates. We
reviewed the methods and assumptions adopted by
management in determining the total budgeted
costs. We checked the relevant supporting
documents for actual costs on a sampling basis. We
also performed cut-off testing procedures to check
whether material costs had been recognised in the
appropriate accounting periods.
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We also assessed the adequacy of the relevant
disclosures.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B M % B A R

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included
in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process.

FHMARMEMER

BEAREEAHAMENEE - RHEN B
ERAMFAER  BTRERAMBERER
B S OBIRTRE -

EEHEAMBREANBERAY NREEME
BEENTTHZEEMENERTALAL
Em

i

B

amg ©

AEFHEAMHEHRROFTMS  BFNE
TRMEEMER  YRUEEBHEMENESD
BEAMBHRRXESERTBRETSANG
NAEEBAEME  FENEORAUFFEE
REREGAANBER - HERESFZDHITHNT
1E - FiSfm AEMER HIRE AR -
BEERERERFE -GAEHE  BFLESL
AR o

EENGaMBBRREAARENEE

BERREFEARERBERAR S EEEEMR
o B B R B 75 i 5 2B Y e B8 8 R R 5 O IR
MERBEEMALNGEE P BHRE - WHE
R BB M HRROEE T E B R RGE
o $ AR T 28 B0 B A B AR R L P 75 O I D B 4%

B85 -

EREFAVHHRERE - ERREZTRA
ft BERERELENESD  YEERBRT
BEAFEKLLEABNTE  URERFEL
EREETER KRIF BERREFEEH &
SEFRIUFIULRLE  HFEEGERNER
FE -

BB BERS

BERREFHERITHEE
gt -

H
ENEELRERER

KANGDA INTERNATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL COMPANY LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2022



Independent Auditor’'s Report
B M % B AR

AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated

financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B M % B A R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B M % B AR

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The partner in charge on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Tsang Pang Sum Joe.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
27/F, One Taikoo Place,

979 King's Road,

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

31 March 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GElEERAMEERER

Year ended 31 December 2022 #HE—ZT-_—_F+-HA=1+—HIFE
2022 2021
B —ZEF-—F
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
Bt ARBTRT ARBTET
REVENUE & 4 2,896,589 2,918,958
Cost of sales $HEE Rk AN (1,627,942) (1,583,680)
Gross profit EAH 1,268,647 1,335,278
Other income and gains H A YA g 5 53,873 106,557
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHERAX (936) (1,117)
Administrative expenses 1THRAY (274,125) (245,965)
Other expenses Habfx (105,868) (76,400)
Finance costs & AR 7 (566,214) (565,688)
Share of profits and losses of: PMELTATBE -
Associates NS 2,554 (270)
Joint ventures B (3,590) (2,150)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BRBE TR R 6 374,341 550,245
Income tax expense FriS a2 10 (134,379) (132,064)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FREF 239,962 418,181
Attributable to: THEIBREA
Owners of the parent BREEEA 11 235,679 412,752
Non-controlling interests FEVERR 1 2 4,283 5,429
239,962 418,181
EARNINGS PER SHARE BAREBERSHEAREER
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY 2R
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
Basic for profit for the year FREERNEF
(expressed in RMB per share) (AR ARE ABBEA) " 11.01 centsZ  19.29 cents 73
Diluted for profit for the year FREETHET
(expressed in RMB per share) (LABRAR®BRELR) 11 11.01 cents 3 19.29 cents
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

EREEREMEZERER

Year ended 31 December 2022 #EZ_—_ZE_-__HF+_A=1+—HItFE

2022 2021
—EfF T4
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
B 5E ARBTRT ARBTET
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Hi 2wz
Other comprehensive income that BrenEgifENsEEER
will not be reclassified to profit or ZEMEEmKE
loss in subsequent periods:
Equity investments designated at BERBRATES ARMEE
fair value through other W IRIER & -
comprehensive income:
Changes in fair value NEEE 115,000 (30,000)
Income tax effect TSt & (17,250) 13,500
97,750 (76,500)
Net other comprehensive income that BrenEgifENsEEER
will not be reclassified to profit or 2 Hiv 2 EW TR
loss in subsequent periods 97,750 (76,500)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FREMEEYE - NERBIR
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX 97,750 (76,500)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FREEREAE
FOR THE YEAR 337,712 341,681
Attributable to: THIEIBRES ¢
Owners of the parent ISYNEIEZSPN 333,429 336,252
Non-controlling interests FEFE S RESS 4,283 5,429
337,712 341,681
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e IR &

31 December2022 —ZTE-—HF+-HA=+—H

2022 2021
—EC-CF —E -4
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
Mo AR®T T AREFT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB REE 12 59,006 66,784
Investment properties EME 11,218 12,094
Right-of-use assets FREEE 13 1,435 1,718
Investments in associates REtE AR E 14 381,131 376,773
Investments in joint ventures REERERNRE 15 78,419 82,009
Equity investments designated BERZRATE AHMEERE
at fair value through other BIRRIER &
comprehensive income 16 - 248,000
Service concession intangible assets EBEEE — BFgEE 17 1,436,965 1,084,506
Other intangible assets HithEmpEE 2,171 2,577
Goodwill EES 18 58,325 58,325
Financial receivables TR EYRIR 19 9,244,530 9,100,153
Deferred tax assets EEFIEE & 20 75,058 96,409
Prepayments, other receivables and TEfTFRIE ~ b UGB R E b
other assets BE 22 73,754 120,765
Contract assets BREE 23 1,508,393 1,649,274
Total non-current assets EREBEERE 12,930,405 12,899,387
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories A 17,482 17,077
Contract assets BREE 23 198,553 323,761
Equity investments designated BE BB A THEF AR M EE
at fair value through other W H AR IR &
comprehensive income 16 363,000 -
Financial receivables T R YRR 19 1,961,955 1,878,059
Trade receivables B 5 RIE 21 2,436,439 1,776,560
Prepayments, other receivables and FERTRRIR - H R IR K
other assets HMmEE 22 674,372 734,365
Pledged deposits EF 25 186,561 333,870
Cash and cash equivalents ReKIREEEY 25 196,938 289,898
Other current financial assets EtnEemEE 24 45 28,431
Total current assets MENEERE 6,035,345 5,382,021

KANGDA INTERNATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL COMPANY LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2022



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e IR &

31 December2022 —ZE-—HF+-HA=+—H

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
M AR¥T T ARETIT
CURRENT LIABILITIES nEBE
Trade and bills payables ) BN ES 26 2,260,221 2,056,753
Other payables and accruals E b A M EETE A 27 257,076 247192
Deferred income PRIE WA 1,930 7,027
Interest-bearing bank and FTERITREMBER
other borrowings 28 2,879,809 3,197,997
Tax payable JERTTRIE 59,403 58,491
Total current liabilities mEBEERE 5,458,439 5,567,460
NET CURRENT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) HABEE (&E)FHE 576,906 (185,439)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EERERRBER
LIABILITIES 13,507,311 12,713,948
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FEREBEE
Trade payables B 5N FHIA 26 59 62
Interest-bearing bank and FHEERTT R E MK
other borrowings 28 6,642,008 6,271,742
Deferred income PEIEY A = 1,930
Other payables and accruals Eib e RIA M ERTE A 27 31,026 30,991
Deferred tax liabilities BEBIEAE 20 1,093,610 1,001,602
Total non-current liabilities FRBAEERE 7,766,703 7,306,327
Net assets BEFE 5,740,608 5,407,621
EQUITY ER
Equity attributable to owners of BRRHEA AR ER
the parent
Share capital N 29 17,125 17,125
Reserves f# 30 5,586,310 5,252,881
5,603,435 5,270,006
Non-controlling interests FEFE R M A 137,173 137,615
Total equity RS AERR 5,740,608 5,407,621

Li Zhong
ZF

Director

g

Duan Jerry Linnan

ER M1

Director

EE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

e ER

BE R

Year ended 31 December 2022 EHE—ZT-_—F+_A=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BATHE AR
Fair value
reserve of
financial assets
at fair value
Share  through other Non-
Issued Share Merger Special option  comprehensive Retained controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve income profits Total interests equity
RAVE
FARA
2EHEN
BhE SREE FER
BRIRE RiEE Ui RhlRE @ AVERRE REHA At [ i Entg
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETT  ARBTR  ARMTn  ARETr  ARETR  ARBTR  ARETn  ARETr  ARETR  ARETR
Asat 1 January 2021 R-ZE-_-%-f-B 17125 1,717,384 378,107 - 65,553 (141,100) 2,881,661 4918730 199,468 118,198
Proftfor the yeer ERaT] - - B - - o 41275 549 418,181
Other comprehensive income EREMZANE
for the year:
Changes in fai value of equity EEBRATEALHLRE
investments designated at fairvalue ~ EHIRIEREATERE
through other comprehensive NBHE
income, net of tax - - - - - (76,500) - (76,500) - (76,500)
Total comprehensive income FREENELE
for the year - - - - - (76,500) 12752 336,252 5429 341,681
Capital contribution from FHERBR A
non-controlling shareholders - - v - - - - 121 1552 1613
Acquisition of non-controlling equity  JEERIER KA A 2 WiEE
holders - - 4903 - - - - 14903 (5857¢) 3673
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHBAR - - - - - - - - 921 921
Dividends paid tonon-controlling [ —%3# Hxﬂx?i {28
shareholders - - - - - - - - (11,185) (11,185)
Transfer to special reserve (g) ERTERER = = = 14912 = S (14912) = = =
Utilisation of special reserve () BREHERR - - - (14912) - - 14912 - - -
st 31 December 2021 \-i;:fﬁ'ﬂﬂrfa G SGSE QUANF  SMAE 520006 g5 SAel
Asat 1 January 2022 RZFZZ§-A-8 17125 1,717,384 393,131 - 65,553 (17,6000 3294413 5,270,006 137,615 5407621
Profit for the year ERET o o = = = - 235,679 235,679 4,283 239,962
Other comprehensive income EREMZANE
for the year:
Changes in fair value of equity EEARATENALNZE
investments designated at fairvalue ~ EHRERELTELS
through other comprehensive NB#HE
income, net of tax - - - - - 97,750 - 97,750 - 97,750
Total comprehensive income for the year 92 iz 4% - - - - - 97,750 235,679 333,429 4,283 337,712
Dividends paid tonon-controlling -2 2RREL 2K E
shareholders - - - - - - - - (4,725) (4,725)
Transfer to special reserve (g) ERTERER - - - 12,810 - - (12,810) - - -
Utilisation of special reserve (@) §JJ BEBIGEREQ - - - (12,810) - - 12,810 - - -
As at 31 December 2022 KWZZZZE+ZA=1-R 17125 1,717,384 393,131% B 65,553+ (119,850 3530092+ 5,603,435 137173 5,740,608
*  These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of RMB5,586,310,000 (31 * ZEREFRLESEAYBERARAARE
December 2021: RMB5,252,881,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position. 5,586,310,000 70 (== = *ETLZH =t+—H8: AR
#5,252,881,0007C) HI4R & 1 ©
Note: HizF
(@) From 14 February 2012, the Group provided for and utilised the safety production (a) B-E——F - A+NAE AEERBEPEAR

expense fund according to the Circular on Printing and Distributing the Management
Measures on the Enterprises Production Safety Expense of Enterprises Appropriation
and Utilisation (2012 No.16) issued by the Ministry of Finance and the State
Administration of Work Safety of the People’s Republic of China.

HMBEFHARER T2 EEEEERARAMD
(RARENB < E 22 EEE BRI HEEH
E>EEAD) (20121657 sHRMER R 2 £ EE R
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

MEREIRER

Year ended 31 December 2022 #;

EoFE-—FE+ A=t —1tEE

2022 2021
—BoofF T —F
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
B 5E ARETR ARETFT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REZHRERLRE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax FR 35 Al A 374,341 550,245
Adjustments for: AR THEIE
Finance costs B E R 7 566,214 565,688
Foreign exchange differences, net HNEZERE - JFHE 6 47,918 (7,250)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEWBRRNER 31 1,359 4,530
Share of profits and losses of DIEBERTRAELERR
associates and joint ventures 1,036 2,420
Bank interest income SRATHBUA 5 (3.560) (2,557)
Interest income from loans to A% =77 ERE A S A
third parties 5 (18,672) (22,869)
Interest income from loans to an Wfﬁﬂﬁﬁ%@ﬂ&_%/ﬁ\ R
associate and a joint venture B A B BA 5 (840) (700)
Investment income from other current Hiy & mEEMNIRERA
financial assets 5 - (8,508)
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BERRETE
equipment 6,12 6,877 6,814
Depreciation of investment properties REYETE 6 876 876
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEERE 6,13 283 283
Amortisation of service concession B EE — SRS s
intangible assets 6,17 77,654 63,925
Amortisation of other intangible assets Hfth i B EE B 6 406 385
Gains on disposal of service ﬁ%?ﬁ)ﬁéﬁ%—ﬁﬂ@%%m
concession intangible assets, net Wz e 6 - (694)
Loss on disposal of items of property, ﬁ%ﬁ@% BB Rk iRIEE
plant and equipment F i 6 39 478
Impairment of goodwill EERIE b - 1,894
Impairment of financial receivables T AR W IR R (E 6,19 (67) 452
Impairment of contract assets BRHEERE 6,23 (547) 962
Impairment of prepayments, other FERTRRIA - B R W RIE R H A,
receivables and other assets BERE 6, 22 2,579 17,295
Impairment of trade receivables B 5 RIRIBRE 6, 21 36,080 26,404
Loss for debt restructuring B EHEE 365 2,408
1,092,341 1,202,481

FEBRBRRERAR/ S _FERE
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

MEREIMRER

Year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE—ZE-—F+-_A=+—ItFE

2022 2021
—E-—F —E 4
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
B 5E AR®T T AREFT
Increase in inventories FEE M (416) (2,330)
Increase in financial receivables T Rl FE W R IR LS AN (242,183) (971,881)
(Increase)/decrease in contract assets BHVEE (M), R (18,208) 317,072
Increase in trade receivables B 5 REWRIALE N (696,276) (284,481)
Decrease in prepayments, other }E\ﬁ%}(lﬁ + EL R e R R B A
receivables and other assets BERD 118,265 17,382
Increase in trade and bills payables B 5 I 5RIR K e R RIE AN 138,533 16,416
Increase in other payables and accruals o fth T RIE R ST B A SE N 15,858 34,248
(Decrease)/increase in deferred income ~ IEFEWA OR4), /&0 (7,027) 14,365
Cash generated from operations REMSHRE 400,887 343,272
Interest received EA &R 3,511 4,693
Income taxes paid ERATEH (35,989) (27,800)
Net cash flows from operating activities & & /EEFIERERMEFE 368,409 320,165
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETHFBRERE
ACTIVITIES
Purchase of items of property, BEWE  BEMREEE
plant and equipment 12 (456) (1,059)
Additions to intangible assets NEBEE (79,066) (148,404)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEME - BE L&
property, plant and equipment B FSH0R 140 447
Decrease in other current financial assets =Lt/ E) < A& AR 28,386 133,526
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMNE AR 31 (120) 13,531
Additions to investments in associates i = NCE Ok g = B pill (1,804) (1,804)
Decrease/(increase) in pledged deposits EHFEFORL, (3 m) 147,309 (118,320)
Decrease in loans due from a third party el —2E=FEFMD 20,000 -
Increase in loans due from an associate ~ JEUL— KB & A B E ZUIE AN (12,125) -
Acquisition of a subsidiary U EE — KB~ A (282) -
Net cash flows from/(used in) investing REFZEHME/ (B REREFHE
activities 101,982 (122,083)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HERERER

Year ended 31 December 2022 #HZE—ZE-—F+-_A=+—ItFE

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Bt ARBTRT ARBTET
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING MEZHRERERE
ACTIVITIES
Increase of interest-bearing bank and T B IRIT R EAMAEFIE N
other borrowings 5,482,560 4,410,532
Repayment of interest-bearing bank and ~ EE&TEIRTT R E A {E
other borrowings (5,499,455) (3,607,982)
Proceeds from issue of corporate BITERNARIRZFMEIA
bond payable - 300,000
Interest paid ERHE (545,790) (553,670)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests Wi FE PR AR M 1 - (10,000)
Repayment of corporate bonds EEARES - (876,016)
Principal portion of lease payments MEMHAE B (344) (243)
Dividends paid to a non-controlling Al JEPE AR AR SR S A 2 IR B
shareholder - (498)
Net cash flows used in financing activities BELTBRESREFR (563,029) (337,877)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND RERRSEB/YRD FE
CASH EQUIVALENTS (92,638) (139,795)
Cash and cash equivalents FUREMREEFEY
at beginning of year 289,898 430,262
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, R EFER
net (322) (569)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRRERBEEEEY
AT END OF YEAR 25 196,938 289,898

RERBIRRBRAR / T _FERE
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Kangda International Environmental Company Limited (the
“Company”) was incorporated as an exempted company with
limited liability in the Cayman Islands. The registered address of
the Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The Company's
shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 4 July 2014.

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries are engaged in the design, construction, operation
and maintenance of waste water treatment plants (the "WTPs"),
reclaimed water treatment plants (the “"RWTPs"), water
distribution plants (the “WDPs"), sludge treatment plants (the
"STPs”) and other municipal infrastructure in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC", or Mainland China, which excludes
for the purpose of this report, the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region of the PRC or Hong Kong, the Macau
Special Administrative Region of the PRC or Macau, and Taiwan).

In the opinion of the directors of the Company (the “Directors”),
the Company has no controlling shareholders.

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as
follows:

1.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IS AR M EE

31 December 2022

AR R EEER
RERBRRARAR([AAE )R
EHEAMKILAEREBR AR - &
A 7] 5 ffft 3% =5 R #h 4E & Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands ° 7%
NEIRDR T —NFL ANBEERS
BERZMER AR ([ERAT]) £k E
7 o

ARBA/—RREZRATF - B L
AIEREARAMBE((HE] FBERA
o RAKEME  FTEEFEEER
AITHESHEL - FHEDRPIRBITTHRE
SORFIRGE) R - 2 2ER
HESKEEB(D5KEER]) - BE
KEBER(TBEXKEER]D - HKEK
(T KRR 1) ~ 05T B 32 iR (105 ke 12
B 1) e B At T R R BR B

ARTEE(EEDRA KRALE
PRI -

EENMBEARINESR
BARRBEENBARNFBERIIW
T

Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Company name operation share capital to the Company Principal activities
NREH AL, BRAEE/
BRREXDLY kA AAFAEEREESL  ERREB
Direct Indirect
B F3
Kangda Environmental The BVI US$1 100 - Investment holding
Protection Investment Limited company
(RERRREBRLA)
RERRREBRAT RBRAHS 1% 100 - REERRA
Kangda Investment (Hong Kong) Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Investment holding
Company Limited company
(FERE (BR)BRAA)
FERE (BR)BRAA BB 1T - 100 RERBEAT]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

31 December2022 —ZE-—HF+-HA=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. AFAREEER®

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued) EBEHBARNER (8)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as EAXNATETENB AR EEEHY W
follows: (Continued) T (&)
Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Company name operation share capital to the Company Principal activities
NAER AR BRITEE/
BRRERBH dfRE  AAIEEREESNH TEXH
Direct Indirect
E& E3
Kangyu Investment Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China US$200,000,000 - 100 Investment activities in
(RARERRAR)" Mainland China
FAREARAR" E/RER 200,000,000 7 - 100 RPEMLHERERD
Chongging Kangda Environmental PRC/Mainland China  RMB1,876,019,000 - 100 Investment in WTPs and
Protection Industry (Group) Co., Ltd. construction of municipal
(“Chongging Kangda”) infrastructure in Mainland
(EERERRESR (RE)BRAR) China
EERERRESX RE/HER ARE - 100 ERERIRE
(RE)BERAR((EERE])" 1,876,019,000 7 EUNAET
R HARR
Kangda Environmental Protection PRC/Mainland China RMB80,000,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(RERRKBERDR)* services in Mainland China
RERRKEARAF* e/ RER ARE - 100 EFERBRRTKEER R
80,000,000 7 RETKEERES R
Kangda Environmental Protection PRC/Mainland China RMB63,000,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
(Shanggiu) Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(RERR(AE)KBERAR) services in Mainland China
FERR(BE)KBARA R e/ RER ARE - 100 EFERRRTKEER R
63,000,000 RETIKREREE RS
Kangda Environmental Protection PRC/Mainland China RMB23,000,000 - 100 Provision of WTP operation
(Suzhou) Water Co., Ltd. services in Mainland China
(RERR(BMN)KBBROE)
FERR(BM)KBARA A e/ RER ARE - 100 EFERREHR
23,000,000 7T KR RRE R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

31 December2022 —ZE-—HF+-HA=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. AFAIREEER®

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued) EBEHBARNER (8)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as EAKXNATETENB ARG W
follows: (Continued) T (&)
Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Company name operation share capital to the Company Principal activities
ARER B3N BRTER/
BRRERBH dfRE  AAIEEREESNH TEXH
Direct Indirect
E& F:

Guangrao Kangda Environmental PRC/Mainland China RMB8,320,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Protection Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(BERERFRKEBRAR) * services in Mainland China

BERERRKBARAR* e,/ RER ARE - 100 EFEREERSTKEERR

8,320,0007T RETKRERES R

Harbin Kangda Environmental PRC/Mainland China RMB30,000,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Protection Investment Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(RRERERRREBRAR)* services in Mainland China

RRERERRREBRAR" e/ RER ARE - 100 AR ERTKEIER K

30,000,0007¢ RETKEERES R

Linying Kangda Environmental PRC/Mainland China RMB6,000,000 - 100 Provision of WTP operation
Protection Water Co., Ltd. services in Mainland China
(B J‘UM%M‘&EI‘E CibAM

REFRERRKEARAR HE/RER ARE - 100 EFERREHR

6,000,0007T YaTK R 8 2 R

Weifang Kangda Environmental PRC/Mainland China RMB94, 180,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Protection Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(AP RERRKEBRAR) * services in Mainland China

BTRERRKBERAA HE/RER AE® - 100 EREREERSTKEERR

94,180,000 7T RETKEERES R

Kangda Environmental Protection PRC/Mainland China RMB17,000,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
(Gaomi) Sewage Treatment Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(BERR(B )ﬁ*ﬁf?ﬁﬁﬂﬁ Al services in Mainland China

FERR(BE)TKRBERAR e/ RER AE® - 100 ERERMERSTKEERR

17,000,0007C RS KEEE R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

31 December2022 —ZE-—HF+-HA=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. AFAREEER®

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued) EBRMBATINER (&)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as BRAARLBIEENMBRRINF BRI
follows: (Continued) T (&)
Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Company name operation share capital to the Company Principal activities
NAER AR BRITEE/
BRRERBH dfRE  AAIEEREESNH TEXH
Direct Indirect
E& E3
Kangda Environmental Protection PRC/Mainland China RMB8,500,000 - 100 Provision of WTP operation
(Gaomi) Fengcheng Sewage services in Mainland China

Treatment Co., Ltd.
(RERR (5% BREE5KER

BRAR)
FERR (BT BRAE i,/ hEA ARE - 100 EHERREH
AKERAR AR 8,500,000 ¢ DKERRE R R
Rushan Kangda Water Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB24,000,000 - 100  Construction of WTPs and
(LR KBERAT) * provision of WTP operation
services in Mainland China
AILRBKEBRAF* i/ hE N ARE - 100 EREIRMERTKERRR
24,000,0007C RIUTKRRRE 2RI
Shangajiu Kangda Sewage PRC/Mainland China RMB20,250,000 - 100  Construction of WTPs and
Treatment Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(BERESKEEERAR) services in Mainland China
BERE S KREARAR i/ hE N ARE - 100 EREIRMERTKERRR
20,250,0007C RIUTKRRRE 2RI
Haiyang Xingcun Kangda Water Co., Ltd. ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB19,490,000 - 100  Construction of WTPs and
(BRI EEKEBRAR) * provision of WTP operation
services in Mainland China
BEITREEKBARAR i/ hE N ARE - 100 EREIRMERTKERRR
19,490,000 7T RIUTKRRRE 2RI
Shanxian Kangda Environmental PRC/Mainland China RMB26,500,000 - 100  Construction of WTPs and
Protection Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(BRRERRKEBRAR) * services in Mainland China
BERERRKBARAR i/ hE N ARE - 100 EREIRMRERTKEERR
26,500,0007C RIUTKRRRE 2RI
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

31 December2022 —ZE-—HF+-HA=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. AFAIREEER®

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued) EBRMBATINER (&)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as EAKXNATETENB ARG W
follows: (Continued) T (&)
Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Company name operation share capital to the Company Principal activities
NAEH AR BRITEE/
BRRERBH dfRE  AAIEEREESNH TEXH
Direct Indirect
E& F:

Kangda (Dongying) Environmental PRC/Mainland China  RMB163,263,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Protection Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(e (RE)BRRKBERAR)* services in Mainland China

FE(RE) RS e,/ RER ARE - 100 EFEREERSTKEERR
ARAR 163,263,000 7C RS KRB HE 2 R

Beijing Chang Sheng Si Yuan PRC/Mainland China  RMB150,000,000 - 100 Investment, management of
Environmental Protection environmental projects and
Technology Co., Ltd. public infrastructure
(ARREBRBREBARAG) projects in Mainland China

IRREBRERHZERAF E/REN ARE - 100 EREIMERE - ERRR

150,000,0007C B RAKERREER

Yucheng Dongjiao Chengjian PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Sewage Treatment Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(BRRDESTKEEERAR) * services in Mainland China

BHRAHETKERARA A E/REN ARE - 100 EREIREERTKEERR

10,000,007 A KEEE LR

Puyang Kangda Environmental PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 - 100  Construction of WTPs and
Protection Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(BREERRKEBRAR) * services in Mainland China

BERERRKBARAR E/REN ARE - 100 EREIREERTKEERR

50,000,0007C A KEEE LR

Liangshan Kangda Water Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
(2ILBEEKEEBR AT+ provision of WTP operation

services in Mainland China

RUFEKBERAT 2B/ PEN AR - 100 EhERERESKERER

1,000,000 7 A KEEEZ R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

31 December2022 —ZE-—HF+-HA=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. AFAREEER®

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued) EBEHBARNER (8)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as EAXNATETENB AR EEEHY W
follows: (Continued) T (&)
Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Company name operation share capital to the Company Principal activities
NAER AR BRITEE/
BRRERBH dfRE  AAIEEREESNH TEXH
Direct Indirect
E& E3
Jining City Xinkangda Sewage PRC/Mainland China RMB64,000,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Treatment Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(EEMBREKEBRAR)* services in Mainland China
BEMEREKEERAR* e,/ RER ARE - 100 ERERRRTKEERR
64,000,000 7 RETKREREE R
Shen County Kangda Sewage PRC/Mainland China  RMB121,000,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Treatment Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(BEREKBERAR) services in Mainland China
FEREKBERRAF* e/ RER ARE - 100 EREREERSTKEERR
121,000,000 RETIKREREE R
Kangda Environmental Protection PRC/Mainland China RMB33,000,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
(Gaomi) Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(FERR (%) KEERAT)* services in Mainland China
FERR(BE)KBARAH* e/ RER ARE - 100 EREREERSTKEERR
33,000,0007¢ RETKEERES R
Zhengzhou Xinzhongzhou Water Co., Ltd. ~ PRC/Mainland China  RMB100,300,000 - 100 Provision of WTP operation
(BMEFRIMKBERRE) services in Mainland China
BN ERAR e/ RER ARE - 100 FER Bl IR ()5 KR IR R
100,300,000 7T E2RH
Xuzhou Kangda Environmental PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Protection Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(BMEERRKEBRAR) * services in Mainland China
BNRERRKBEERAR* E/hERE AR 200000007 - 100 ERERERRTKEERR

RETKREREL RS

BEBEBRRRERRR/ —E-—FEHE 93



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

31 December2022 —ZE-—HF+-HA=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. AFAIREEER®

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued) EBEHBARNER (8)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as EAKXNATETENB ARG W
follows: (Continued) T (&)
Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Company name operation share capital to the Company Principal activities
NAEH AR BRITEE/
BRRERBH dfRE  AAIEEREESNH TEXH
Direct Indirect
E& F:

Tianjin Kangda Environmental PRC/Mainland China RMB68,077,000 = 100  Construction of WTPs and
Protection Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(RERERRKEBRAR) * services in Mainland China

RERERRKBERAA RE/HER  AR68,077,0007T - 100 EFEREERSTKEERR

RETKERRES R
Chongging Fulunde Technology Co., Ltd. ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 - 100  Development and sale of
(EEARERRARRE) computer software in
Mainland China
BEARENRERA ME/mERE AR 200000007 - 100 BRI SR E
RHAERHE

Suzhou Kangda Environmental PRC/Mainland China RMB36,000,000 - 100 Provision of WTP operation
Protection Sewage Treatment Co., Ltd. services in Mainland China
(BMNRERRKEEBBRAG)

BNEERRTKERARAR RE/HERY  AR%36,0000007T - 100 EFERMREHESKEER

EERG

Gaomi Kangda Lvyi Sludge PRC/Mainland China RMB3,000,000 - 100 Construction and provision of
Treatment Co., Ltd. STP operation services in
(BEEEREIRRAERAT) - Mainland Ching

AERERERRRBERAR" RE/HER AR 3,000,000 7T - 100 FEREAMERTREERK

RETRREEE RS

Yunan Kangda Liangke PRC/Mainland China RMB62,000,000 - 80  Construction, operation and
Environment Treatment Co., Ltd. maintenance of WTPs and
(BERERRRRAREBRAR) other environmental

protection projects in

Mainland China
BRFERHRRGEERAR" hE/PEAE  AR%62,0000007T - 80 ERERESR EL R

AKEERREMRRER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

31 December2022 —ZE-—HF+-HA=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. AFAREEER®

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as

follows: (Continued)

FENBARNER (8)
BRARREEMNERBFEEHSIM
™ (&)

Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Company name operation share capital to the Company Principal activities
NAER AR BRITEE/
BRRERBH dfRE  AAIEEREESNH TEXH
Direct Indirect
E& E3
Weihai Kangda Ecological PRC/Mainland China  RMB100,000,000 - 88  Construction, operation and
Environment Treatment Co., Ltd. maintenance of WTPs,
(“Weihai Kangda”) STPs, pipe networks and
(RUBREERRRGAREBRAR) * other municipal
infrastructure in
Mainland China
HBREE ARG TE/ERE AR 1000000007 - 88 fEREAMRE - BERAE
BRAR(BEmRE]) > KEER  SREER
ERREMTHERRE
Pingdingshan City Bay Water PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 - 80 Construction of WTPs and
Treatment Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
("Pingdingshan City Bay") services in Mainland China
(FIRILTREZKEERAR)
FRLTEEKBARAT E/hERE  ARHK50,0000007 - 80 ERERBRRTKEERR
(IFRELmSE])* RETKEEREE RS
Dongping Kangda Water Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China US$5,200,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
(RYREKBRRRA) provision of WTP operation
services in Mainland China
RYFERABBRAF E/RER 5200000 % - 100 FEPEMERRSKEERR
RETKERRES R
Chongqing Kangda Lvyi Energy PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 - 100 Investment in energy industry
Investment Co., Ltd. and provision of WTP
(EERESRERRRERRRA) operation services in
Mainland China
BERERENRREBRAR ME/MERE AR S50,000,0007 - 100 ERENEREERITER

RETIKREREE RS
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. AFAIREEER®

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as

follows: (Continued)

FENBARNER (8)
BRARREEMNERBRFEEHSIN
™: (&

Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Company name operation share capital to the Company Principal activities
NAEH AR BRITEE/
BRRERBH dfRE  AAIEEREESNH TEXH
Direct Indirect
E& E3
Shangaiu Kangda Water PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Treatment Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(BEREKERERAF) services in Mainland China
BILREKRERRAR wE/HRERY  AR%10,000,0007T - 100 EFEREERSTKEERR
RETKERRES R
Chongqing Kangda Zhishang PRC/Mainland China RMB70,000,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Environmental Protection Industry Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(EEREEHRREEERAR) services in Mainland China
BEREERRREXARAR RE/HERY  AR%70,000,0007T - 100 EREREERSTKEERR
RETKERRES R
Xinzheng Kangda Water Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
(HEREKBERRR) provision of WTP operation
services in Mainland China
MEREKBERRR* e/ RER K 1,000,000 7 - 100 EREREERSTKEERR
RETKERRES R
Qishan County Dayuan Sewage PRC/Mainland China RMB3,000,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Treatment Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(BFIERRSKEEEREFAT) services in Mainland China
IR YNEEYN BT e/ RER K 3,000,000 - 100 EREREERSTKEERR
RERA* RETKERRES R
Weifang Shuangjie Water PRC/Mainland China RMB8,000,000 - 100  Sale of water purifying
Purification Material Co., Ltd. materials in Mainland China
("Weifang Shuangjie”)
(O ERTKMHERAR)
BRI E/REN A H8,000,000 7T - 100 BRI HEFKITE

AR (T ER )
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as

AAIREBER @)

FENBARNER (8)
BRARREEMNERBFEEHSIM

follows: (Continued) T (&)
Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Company name operation share capital to the Company Principal activities
NAER AR BRITEE/
BRRERBH dfRE  AAIEEREESNH TEXH
Direct Indirect
E& E3
Dong'e County Kangda Sewage PRC/Mainland China  RMB110,000,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Treatment Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(R BFREKBERLDR) services in Mainland China
RMEREKBERRA RE/HERY  ARE110,0000007T - 100 ERERRRTKEERR
RETKERRES R
Liaocheng Jiaming Kangda PRC/Mainland China RMB70,000,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Sewage Treatment Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(WBEREE T KREERAR) services in Mainland China
W ERRETKERARA A ME/MERE AR 70,000,0007T - 100 EREREERSTKEERR
RETKERRES R
Linging City Kangda Sewage PRC/Mainland China RMB75,000,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Treatment Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(RETMRETKREERAR)* services in Mainland China
BETRETKREERAR" RE/HERY  AR750000007T - 100 EREREERSTKEERR
RETKERRES R
Qitaihe Kangda Water Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB90,000,000 - 100 Construction and provision of
(tRMREKBEREERR) WTP and RWTP operation
services and reclaimed
water treatment services
in Mainland China
tEAREKEAERAERA* hE/PEAE  AR®900000007T - 100 ErERRRSKEERR
BEKRERTREES R
BRIEHEBEKERRE
Xinzheng Xinkang Water Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB60,000,000 - 100  Construction of WTPs and
(BB BERAR) provision of WTP operation
services in Mainland China
HEHEKBARRA" TE/PEAE AR%600000007 - 100 ERBEREERTKEERR

RETKRERERRB
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. AFAIREEER®

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued) ERMBATINER (8)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as BARRBIEENBRRINF BRI

follows: (Continued)

Company name

AR

registration and

™: (&

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company Principal activities

ARAEGREESL  EEEE
Direct Indirect

B 3

Kangda Environmental Protection
(Linyi) Water Co., Ltd.
(BERR (W) KEARAR)*

FERR (BT KBERLF*

Fengxian Kangda Environmental Protection
the second Sewage treatment Co., Ltd.
(BEFERRE TKREARAF)

LERERRE ITKRE
BRAR

Jining Kangda Environmental
Protection Water Co., Ltd.
(BERERRKBERAR)

BERERRKEERDA

Haiyang Kangda Environmental
Protection Water Co., Ltd.
(BERERRKEERAR)

BERERRKBARA

Wendeng Kangda Environmental
Protection Water Co., Ltd.
(XBRERRKEERAF)

XERERRKBEERD A

PRC/Mainland China

AEH15,000,0007C

PRC/Mainland China

AEH20,000,0007

PRC/Mainland China

A 25,000,0007

PRC/Mainland China

AEH 6,000,000 7

PRC/Mainland China

AEH10,000,0007

- 100  Construction of WTPs and
provision of WTP operation
services in Mainland China

- 100 EREMNMERTKEERK

RESKEERE S RS

- 100  Construction of WTPs and
provision of WTP operation
services in Mainland China

- 100 EREMNERTKEERK

RETREERES 7%

- 100  Construction of WTPs and
provision of WTP operation
services in Mainland China

- 100 EREMNERTKEERK

RETKEERES 7%

- 100 Construction of WTPs and
provision of WTP operation
services in Mainland China

- 100 EREMNERTKEERK

RETKEERES 7%

- 100 Construction of WTPs and
provision of WTP operation
services in Mainland China

- 100 EREMNERTKEERK

RETKEERES 7%

KANGDA INTERNATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL COMPANY LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2022



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

31 December2022 —ZE-—HF+-HA=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as

AAIREBER @)

FENBARNER (8)
BRARREEMNERBFEEHSIM

follows: (Continued) T (&)
Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Company name operation share capital to the Company Principal activities
NAER AR BRITEE/
BRRERBH dfRE  AAIEEREESNH TEXH
Direct Indirect
E& E3
Weifang Binhai Kangda Environmental PRC/Mainland China RMB10,500,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Protection Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(A BERERRKBARAR) services in Mainland China
BB BRERRKBARAR hE/hERE AR 10500,0007 - 100 ERERRRTKEERR
RETKERRES R
Kangda Environmental Protection PRC/Mainland China RMB5,500,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
(Hebi) Water Treatment Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
("HebiKangda") services in Mainland China
(RERR (BE)KRBERAR)*
FERR(BE)KREERAT /e A 5,500,000 7T - 100 EREIREERTKEERR
(IBEmE)* RETKREMER RS
Pingdingshan Kangda Environmental PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Protection Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(FRLRERRKBERLR)* services in Mainland China
FERLFERRKEERAR* E/REN AE#10,000,0007C - 100 EAREAMERTKEERR
RETKREREE R
Huadian Kangda Environmental PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 100  Construction of WTPs and
Protection Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(BARERRKEBRAR) * services in Mainland China
BARERFKBARAR E/RERE AR 10,000,0007 - 100 EREIREERTKEERR
RETKREREE R
Suihua Kangda Environmental PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 - 100  Construction of WTPs and
Protection Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(BILRERRKBEERAR) services in Mainland China
SRERRKBER LA E/REN AE 1,000,000 70 - 100 EAREAMERTKEERR

RETKREMER RS
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. AFAIREEER®

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued) EBEHBARNER (8)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as EAKXNATETENB ARG W
follows: (Continued) T (&)
Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Company name operation share capital to the Company Principal activities
NAEH AR BRITEE/
BRREFLH dfRE  AAIEEREESNH TEXH
Direct Indirect
E& F:

Jixi County Chengjian Sewage PRC/Mainland China RMB8,000,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Treatment Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(BREHRESKEEERAR) * services in Mainland China

BEGHRAKEBRR AR R B/ HER AR 8,000,000 = 100 AR E R TKEIER K

RESKEERESRB

Dacheng Chengjian Environmental PRC/Mainland China RMB9,600,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Protection Sewage Treatment Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(RBEHRRRKERBERAF) services in Mainland China

AEGHERRTKEERRAG e/ RER ARH9,600,000 7T = 100 AR ERTKEIER K

RESKEEREERE

Jiyuan City Yuchuan Chengjian PRC/Mainland China RMB30,000,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Sewage Treatment Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(ERTE)IBBKERERAR) services in Mainland China

ERT R KERERAF* B/ BN AR 30,000,000 70 - 100 EREMNERTKEERK

RESKEEREERE

Dandong Kangda Environmental PRC/Mainland China RMB27,800,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Protection Water Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(NREERFRKEBRAT) * services in Mainland China

RREERRKBARAR hE/PEAE AR%278000007 - 100 EFERERRTKEERR

RESKEEREERE

Sanmenxia Kangda Water Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 100  Construction of WTPs and

(ZPIREERBERLDR) provision of WTP operation
services in Mainland China
=FMRERKBEERAR* hE/PEAE AR%100000007T - 100 EFERERRTKEERR

RETIKREREE RS

100 KANGDA INTERNATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL COMPANY LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2022



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

31 December2022 —ZE-—HF+-HA=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. AFAREEER®

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued) EBRMBATINER (&)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as EAXNATETENB AR EEEHY W
follows: (Continued) T (&)
Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Company name operation share capital to the Company Principal activities
NAER AR BRITEE/
BRRERBH dfRE  AAIEEREESNH TEXH
Direct Indirect
E& F:

Tianjin Kangda Lvyi Sludge PRC/Mainland China RMB2,000,000 - 100 Construction of STPs and
Treatment Co., Ltd. provision of STP operation
(RERERESRREERAR) services in Mainland China

REREGETRRERRAGR H B/ HER ARH2,000,0007T - 100 EREMNERTEEERK

RESEEEREL RSB

Jiaoling Kangda Environmental PRC/Mainland China RMB56,172,000 - 97  Construction, operation and
Governance Co., Ltd. ( “Jiaoling Kangda") maintenance of WTPs and
(EBRERBAEARAR) * other environmental

protection projects in
Mainland China

EERERBAEARAT E/RERE  AR¥56,1720007 - 9 EhERbRR  EERAE
(IBEmRE])* YK R E IR RIE B

Wenzhou Chuangyuan Water Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China  RMB168,000,000 - 100  Construction of WTPs and
("Wenzhou Chuangyuan”) provision of WTP operation
(aMmEg J/ﬁﬁ@%ﬁ E G services in Mainland China

BMNFEIRKBERA hE/PEAE AR 1680000007 - 100 ZEPEALRRTKEERRK
(DRMETRD)* RETIKEERES RS

Meiling Environmental Technology PRC/Mainland China SGD3,780,000 - 100  Construction of WTPs and
(Zibo) Co., Ltd. ( “Meiling Zibo") provision of WTP operation
(EBRERR O418) BR AR services in Mainland China

FRREMR 48 BRAF i/ hE N 3,780,000 1% 7T - 100 EREIRMRERTKEERR
(IR RETIKEERES RS

Jining Meiling Sewage PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 - 100  Construction of WTPs and
Purification Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(EEERSKFLBRAR)* services in Mainland China

BEXEAKHCARAR hE/hER ARH5,000,0007C - 100 ErERRRSKEERR

RESKERRELRE
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. AFAIREEER®

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as

follows: (Continued)

FENBARNER (8)
BRARREEMNERBRFEEHSIN
™: (&

Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Company name operation share capital to the Company Principal activities
NAER AL BRITEE/
BRRERBH dfRE  AAIEEREESNH TEXH
Direct Indirect
E& E3
Qingzhou Meiling Sewage PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Purification Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(BMTERB T ARDR)* services in Mainland China
EMTER T BERAR* e,/ RER AR 85,000,000 7 - 100 ERERBERRTKEER R
RETKERRES R
Sichuan Weiyuan Hefeng PRC/Mainland China RMB45,000,000 - 100 Construction of WTPs and
Bioengineering Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(mIFEREEN TIRERAT) ** services in Mainland China
MNBERSENTIRERAR* RE/RERY  AR450000007T - 100 EREREERSTKEERR
RETKERRES R
Taiyuan Kangjin Water Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China  RMB194,450,000 - 99.44  Construction of WTPs and
(RRREKBERRR) provision of WTP operation
services in Mainland China
ARREKBERAR E/hERE  ARK194450,0007T - 944 ERERGERTKEERR
RETKERRES R
Weiyuan Kangda Environmental PRC/Mainland China RMB38,496,000 - 95 Construction of WTPs and
Protection Co., Ltd. provision of WTP operation
(RERERRERAR) services in Mainland China
BERERRARAF* ME/ERE AR 3849,0007 - 9% ERERERTKEERR

RETKREREE RS
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1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as
follows: (Continued)

# The English names of these companies referred to in this report represent
management's best effort in translating the Chinese names of the companies
registered in Mainland China, as no English names have been registered.

A Kangyu Investment Co., Ltd. and Meiling Environmental Technology (Zibo)
Co., Ltd. are registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under PRC law.

* These companies are registered as limited liability companies under PRC
law.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

1. AEIREEER @)

FENBARNER (8)

BRARREEMNERBFEEHSIM

™ (&)

’ H A B A3t S A R RS A XA
W ARERAOZEATDEXEHER

BENBFLHXAHEHAE -

: FORRERR AR RERREMKOLE)E
RAFRETBAREEM A BEDRE -

E ZERADREFREFEIMAEREER

e

EEZRBLERMIARBMNBEAREE
FEAFERANARAEEEEFE
MEERD  EFZTRRIHEMCHER

ANHEEEREERIE -
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) (which
include all International Financial Reporting Standards,
International Accounting Standards (“IASs"”) and Interpretations)
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for equity investments designed at fair
value through other comprehensive income which have been
measured at fair value. These financial statements are presented
in Renminbi (“RMB"”) and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022.
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority
of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers
all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has

power over an investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

() the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 2.1 REEE &)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control described above. A change
in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control,
is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the
assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (i) the
carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the
cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i) the
fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus
or deficit in profit or loss. The Group's share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on
the same basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IS AR M EE

31 December 2022

== = Bl = q—[8

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised IFRSs for the first

time for the current year's consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 3
Amendments to IAS 16
Amendments to IAS 37
Annual Improvements to

IFRS Standards
2018-2020

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use
Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract

Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9,
lllustrative Examples accompanying
IFRS 16, and IAS 41

The nature and the impact of the revised IFRSs that are

applicable to the Group are described below:

(a)

Amendments to IFRS 3 replace a reference to the previous
Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial
Statements with a reference to the Conceptual Framework
for Financial Reporting (the “Conceptual Framework")
issued in March 2018 without significantly changing its
requirements. The amendments also add to IFRS 3 an
exception to its recognition principle for an entity to refer
to the Conceptual Framework to determine what
constitutes an asset or a liability. The exception specifies
that, for liabilities and contingent liabilities that would be
within the scope of IAS 37 or IFRIC 21 if they were incurred
separately rather than assumed in a business combination,
an entity applying IFRS 3 should refer to IAS 37 or IFRIC 21
respectively instead of the Conceptual Framework.
Furthermore, the amendments clarify that contingent assets
do not qualify for recognition at the acquisition date. The
Group has applied the amendments prospectively to
business combinations that occurred on or after 1 January
2022. As there were no contingent assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities within the scope of the amendments
arising in the business combination that occurred during
the year, the amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position and performance of the Group.

2.2 ST ERERKENEE

AEEDHAFESEVBHRERERK
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(b)

Amendments to IAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting
from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
any proceeds from selling items produced while bringing
that asset to the location and condition necessary for it to
be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management. Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds
from selling any such items, and the cost of those items as
determined by IAS 2 Inventories, in profit or loss. The
Group has applied the amendments retrospectively to
items of property, plant and equipment made available for
use on or after 1 January 2021. Since there was no sale of
items produced prior to the property, plant and equipment
being available for use, the amendments did not have any
impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group.

Amendments to IAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of
assessing whether a contract is onerous under IAS 37, the
cost of fulfilling the contract comprises the costs that relate
directly to the contract. Costs that relate directly to a
contract include both the incremental costs of fulfilling that
contract (e.g., direct labour and materials) and an allocation
of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling that contract
(e.g., an allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of
property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract
as well as contract management and supervision costs).
General and administrative costs do not relate directly to a
contract and are excluded unless they are explicitly
chargeable to the counterparty under the contract. The
Group has applied the amendments prospectively to
contracts for which it has not yet fulfilled all its obligations
at 1 January 2022 and no onerous contracts were identified.
Therefore, the amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group.
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31 December2022 —ZE-—HF+-HA=+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(d)

Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020 sets
out amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, lllustrative Examples
accompanying IFRS 16, and IAS 41. Details of the
amendments that are applicable to the Group are as
follows:

. IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that an
entity includes when assessing whether the terms of a
new or modified financial liability are substantially
different from the terms of the original financial
liability. These fees include only those paid or
received between the borrower and the lender,
including fees paid or received by either the borrower
or lender on the other’s behalf. The Group has
applied the amendment prospectively from 1 January
2022. As there was no modification or exchange of
the Group's financial liabilities during the year, the
amendment did not have any impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group.

2.2 SRR RIRBENEE @)

(d)

BIRR A 8RR — F— \FE =
T _FFFEHAET| BRI R
EERNE - BEMEREER
F9% - ERMEHMEEAF 1655
BEM < ) M BB & 5t ERIE 41
BRI A - BRHEARNAKER
AZEERTANFBMT -

e BRFBHREENFEIRS
BTA: BENEEIHR
BHFIREIEREHEEN
BRHEFES A ENIERTE
EEZZERMASNE
- ZEBREREERA
BERAZHEE XU E
MER BREERANER
AR K E A A s U B A
ER - AEBR-_T-_—
— B — B AR ATHE M fE A 2%
Ba] - BREAFEAREE
ZemafEl eI AEsR
R A B AER
2 B IS AR e B AR D A AT A

=27
= °

KANGDA INTERNATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL COMPANY LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2022



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS
The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in the

2.3 C BB s R A A B PR B 75

2 A

AEBHANEEPBEHRRERATE
PELR 1B 1) R A RN HT T R A48 AT B B B

consolidated financial statements. EIREHER o

Amendments to IFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets BEBEREERZ10%R  RELHEBLNFgA %

and IAS 28 between an Investor and its BIpR & |55 08 5% PEIEHEESES
Associate or Joint Venture® oy #A?
Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and B R R E 165 EGBOXSFMEEEE"
Leaseback? CHEY)
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts' BT R EBE 1757 REAH
Amendments to IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts'* BB R EBE 17 5% RIgAH
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IFRS 9 — Comparative (BATE) EITRREEFHRE
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Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as EReHENE 1R (BITR) BESEARILHLTE

Amendments to IAS 1

Current or Non-current?
Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022

Amendments”)?
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 C A 1B 18 7R & R Y B BR B 7%

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in IFRS 10 and in IAS 28 in dealing
with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full
recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a downstream
transaction when the sale or contribution of assets between an
investor and its associate or joint venture constitutes a business.
For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a
business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor's profit or loss only to the extent of the
unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous
mandatory effective date of amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28
was removed by the IASB in January 2016 and a new mandatory
effective date will be determined after the completion of a
broader review of accounting for associates and joint ventures.
However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to IFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-
lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale and
leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does not
recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right
of use it retains. The amendments are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be applied
retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions entered into
after the date of initial application of IFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January 2019).
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 C A 1B 18 7R & R Y B BR B 7%

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities as
current or non-current, in particular the determination over
whether an entity has a right to defer settlement of the liabilities
for at least 12 months after the reporting period. Classification of
a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will
exercise its right to defer settlement of the liability. The
amendments also clarify the situations that are considered a
settlement of a liability. In 2022, the IASB issued the 2022
Amendments to further clarify that, among covenants of a liability
arising from a loan arrangement, only those with which an entity
must comply on or before the reporting date affect the
classification of that liability as current or non-current. In addition,
the 2022 Amendments require additional disclosures by an entity
that classifies liabilities arising from loan arrangements as non-
current when it has a right to defer settlement of those liabilities
that are subject to the entity complying with future covenants
within 12 months after the reporting period. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024 and shall be applied retrospectively. Earlier application is
permitted. An entity that applies the 2020 Amendments early is
required to apply simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and vice
versa. The Group is currently assessing the impact of the
amendments and whether existing loan agreements may require
revision. Based on a preliminary assessment, the amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group's

financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 C A 1B 18 7R & R Y B BR B 7%

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies require
entities to disclose their material accounting policy information
rather than their significant accounting policies. Accounting
policy information is material if, when considered together with
other information included in an entity’s financial statements, it
can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the
primary users of general purpose financial statements make on
the basis of those financial statements. Amendments to IFRS
Practice Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance on how to
apply the concept of materiality to accounting policy disclosures.
Amendments to IAS 1 are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2023 and earlier application is permitted.
Since the guidance provided in the amendments to IFRS Practice
Statement 2 is non-mandatory, an effective date for these
amendments is not necessary. The Group is currently revisiting
the accounting policy disclosures to ensure consistency with the
amendments.

Amendments to IAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes in
accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies.
Accounting estimates are defined as monetary amounts in
financial statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty.
The amendments also clarify how entities use measurement
techniques and inputs to develop accounting estimates. The
amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2023 and apply to changes in accounting
policies and changes in accounting estimates that occur on or
after the start of that period. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group's financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 C A 1B 18 7R & R Y B BR B 7%

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial recognition
exception in IAS 12 so that it no longer applies to transactions
that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences, such as leases and decommissioning obligations.
Therefore, entities are required to recognise a deferred tax asset
(provided that sufficient taxable profit is available) and a deferred
tax liability for temporary differences arising from these
transactions. The amendments are effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and shall be applied
to transactions related to leases and decommissioning
obligations at the beginning of the earliest comparative period
presented, with any cumulative effect recognised as an
adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits or other
component of equity as appropriate at that date. In addition, the
amendments shall be applied prospectively to transactions other
than leases and decommissioning obligations. Earlier application
is permitted.

The Group has applied the initial recognition exception and did
not recognise a deferred tax asset and a deferred tax liability for
temporary differences for transactions related to leases. Upon
initial application of these amendments, the Group will recognise
deferred tax for all temporary differences related to leases at the
beginning of the earliest comparative period presented. During
the year, the Group has performed a detailed assessment on the
impact of amendments to IAS 12. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 T ESTHHEME

POLICIES

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights
and over which it is in a position to exercise significant influence.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial
and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control
or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only
when decisions about the relevant activities require the
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group's investments in associates and joint ventures are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at the
Group's share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments are made to
bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures is
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. In addition, when there has been a
change recognised directly in the equity of the associate or joint
venture, the Group recognises its share of any changes, when
applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between
the Group and its associates or joint ventures are eliminated to
the extent of the Group’s investments in the associates or joint
ventures, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the
acquisition of associates or joint ventures is included as part of
the Group's investments in associates or joint ventures.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FESTHHREHME @)

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)
If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured.
Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the
equity method. In all other cases, upon loss of significant
influence over the associate or joint control over the joint venture,
the Group measures and recognises any retained investment at
its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the
associate or joint venture upon loss of significant influence or
joint control and the fair value of the retained investment and
proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture is classified
as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5
Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.
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Business combinations and goodwill ¥KaREE
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition EBRAHERWREEAR EERER
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the WE R AFESFE  ZAFEANR

acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date
fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree
that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation at
fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of non-controlling
interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the
acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.
This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host
contracts of the acquiree.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value
and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within

equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group's previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of
this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of
the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at
31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units, or groups
of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets
or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of

units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FESTHHREHME @)

POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion
of the cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its equity investments at fair value at the
end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the
liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset or
liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or
the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the
asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in
its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows,
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1T — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the consolidated
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy
by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the
end of each reporting period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FESTHHREHME @)

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, contract assets, deferred tax assets, financial assets,
investment properties, and non-current assets), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount
is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit's value in use
and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups
of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. In testing a
cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of the carrying
amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is
allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it can be
allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to
the smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of
an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or
loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If
such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A
previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FESHBERBE 5
POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties 22} b
A party is considered to be related to the Group if: W E THER - B H AR AER
CEIpS) )
(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s (@ TAABFATHEATHERR
family and that person B BZAT
(i)  has control or joint control over the Group; iy HAEEHEALEHERLR
VIl
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or iy BHEREFBEEAFES 5
(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the (i) BAAEEXAEETATHN
Group or of a parent of the Group; FEEEAR
or %
(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions (b) FZABATERGHERNEL
applies:
(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the same () ZEREAEEAER—%EH
group; [BA=VNE
(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other (i) ZERAS BE(EHE—F
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of B AG - B AR
the other entity); RWBE AR OB AR HE
B
(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the (i) ZEEEAERAR —F=
same third party; ARG &R
(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the vy ZERAEFE-_FERENEGE
other entity is an associate of the third entity; ¥ mME—BRAF=H
ERMEE AR
(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the V) ZERAUAEESAEER
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity HHEEREE AT ANEE
related to the Group; Bia@AIETE
(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a (Vi) ZERES (a) Tl A LSk
person identified in (a); AP
(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence Vi) @OFTMATHZEEZER
over the entity or is a member of the key management BEATENRABZERE (K&
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); EEMNEAR)NTESIEA
and 8K
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties (Continued)
(b) (Continued)

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to

the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. When an item of property, plant and
equipment is classified as held for sale or when it is part of a
disposal group classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated
and is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5. The cost of an
item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase
price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to

its working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are
satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in
the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to
be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as
individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them

accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual

rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings and other infrastructure
Machinery
Office equipment and others

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at

each financial year end.

3.13%-4.50%
6.67%—18.00%
9.50%—-18.00%
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in
profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents a building under
construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment losses,
and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of
construction and capitalised borrowing costs on related
borrowed funds during the period of construction. Construction
in progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of property,
plant and equipment when completed and ready for use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold property held as a right-of-use asset
which would otherwise meet the definition of an investment
property) held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation, rather than for use in the production or supply of
goods or services or for administrative purposes; or for sale in the
ordinary course of business. Such properties are measured
initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of such properties to its residual value over
its estimated useful life. The principal annual rate used for this
purpose is as follows:

Buildings 4.50%
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24 FESTHHREHME®)
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FESTHHREHME @)

POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either
finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and
the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite
useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Software

Purchased software is stated at cost less any impairment losses
and is amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated
useful life of 10 years.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that
it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its
ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future
economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete the
project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during
the development. Product development expenditure which does
not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised using the straight-line basis
over the commercial lives of the underlying products not
exceeding five to seven years, commencing from the date when
the products are put into commercial production.

Operating concessions
For details of the accounting policy of operating concessions,
please refer to “Service concession arrangements” below.

Operating contract rights

Operating contract rights represent the fair value of operating
rights of WTPs or RWTPs acquired through business combination.
These intangible assets are amortised on the straight-line basis
over the remaining period of the operating contract rights.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is,

or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the

contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset

for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee
The Group applies a single recognition and measurement

approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of

low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make

lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to

use the underlying assets.

(a)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost,
less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the
amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful
lives of the assets as follows:

Land
Office

19 years
2 to 3 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of
a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate
the lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the
period in which the event or condition that triggers the
payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in
the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in lease
payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

The Group's lease liabilities are included in interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of office properties (that
is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option). It also applies the recognition exemption
for leases of low-value assets to leases of office properties
that are considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or
when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are
classified as operating leases. When a contract contains lease
and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for on
a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in other
income and gains in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income due to its nature. Initial direct
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease
are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental
income. Contingent rents are recognised as other income and
gains in the period in which they are earned.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FESTHHREHME @)

POLICIES (Continued)

Service concession arrangements

The Group has entered into a number of service concession
arrangements with the Grantors. The service concession
arrangements consist of Build-Operate-Transfer (the "BOT")
arrangements and Transfer-Operate-Transfer (the "TOT")
arrangements. Under the BOT arrangements, the Group carries
out construction work of the WTPs, RWTPs, WDPs, STPs or other
municipal infrastructure for the Grantors and receives in return
the rights to operate the service project concerned for a specified
period of time (the "operation period”) in accordance with the
pre-established conditions set by the Grantors, and the service
project should be transferred to the Grantors with nil
consideration at the end of the operation period. A TOT
arrangement is similar to a BOT arrangement, except that the
Group pays consideration for the rights to operate the WTPs,
RWTPs, WDPs, STPs or other municipal infrastructure that have
been built.

Consideration given by the Grantors

A financial asset (financial receivable) is recognised to the extent
that the Group has an unconditional right to receive cash or
another financial asset from or at the direction of the Grantors for
the construction services rendered and/or the consideration paid
and payable by the Group for the rights to operate WTPs, and
the Grantors have little, if any, discretion to avoid payment,
usually because the agreements are enforceable by law. The
Group has an unconditional right to receive cash or another
financial asset if nothing other than the passage of time is
required before payment of the consideration is due and the
Grantors contractually guarantee to pay the Group specified or
determinable amounts even if the payment is contingent on the
Group ensuring that the infrastructure meets specified quality of
efficiency requirements. The financial asset (financial receivable)
is accounted for in accordance with the policy set out for
Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments) under
“Investments and other financial assets” below.

RIS TR E R
NEBEE T NG ZERGFFEE
ZHE - MG ETHERIEER — B
g —BR(BOTHLZHEEBER — EE
— BR(TOT)) 28k - BRIEBOTZHE
AEBAETARRSKERR B4
KRR ~ SRR ~ 5B B R B B A
TMHREMREHERTRE  WIRERT
ATESC R E WGBS fE & B ([ 48
ZHIME DK E B HERGEEB NENES
B3k MABRSEE BN EEBRE
BEEZETRTA - TOTLHEBOTZHE
O EAEBEEREEYASKERE
B BAEKEIEM - HKER - SRR
MRk E T R E R R S AR
{g °

BFAXNHRE

il A SR B A B AR RN LA R R A0
BRRR AR B oA S B Bt 05 K B IR TR A
REENENRENHRERET AL
BERETANEREIR S S AR
BE ARTABRNROBBERD
(A ) (B R % ) HZOR 2 92 H] 8
7) AeRAemEE(REEX
T8) © A B S HIS A AT RE R R 1 5D
VEHMRE  BRTANRGHHTAE
RAAKEZNFERAEELE - A
ENRBEARNKEERERRETSH
ENBREES KRG AEBIE
EEGHEFNKDASHEMSRE
= 2REE(SREWKIE) HIRET
X [REREMESRERE | B N
PEtEC T A E (EFTA) B
RARR

RERBIRRBRAR / T _FERE

127



128

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Service concession arrangements (Continued)
Consideration given by the Grantors (Continued)

An intangible asset (operating concession) is recognised to the
extent that the Group receives the rights to charge users of
public service or the grantors remunerate the Group on the basis
of the extent of use of the WTPs, RWTPs, WDPs, STPs or other
municipal infrastructure by users, but with no guarantees as to
the amounts that will be paid to the Group, which is not an
unconditional right to receive cash because the amounts are
contingent on the extent that the public use the service. The
intangible asset (operating concession) is accounted for in
accordance with the policy set out for “intangible assets” above,
which is amortised on a straight-line basis over the terms of
operation ranging from 25 to 30 years.

If the Group is paid for the construction services partly by a
financial asset and partly by an intangible asset, then each
component of the consideration is accounted for separately and
is recognised initially at the fair value of the consideration.

Construction or upgrade services

Costs relating to construction or upgrade services comprise
direct materials, the costs of subcontracting, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of variable and fixed construction
overheads. Revenue from the construction or upgrade services
under the BOT agreements is estimated on a cost-plus basis with
reference to the prevailing market rate of gross margin at the
date of the agreement applicable to similar construction services
rendered in similar locations, and is recognised using the
percentage of completion method, measured by reference to the
proportion of costs incurred to date to the estimated total cost of
the relevant contract.

Operating services

Revenue relating to operating services is accounted for in
accordance with the policy for “Revenue recognition” below.
Costs for operating services are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FESTHHREHME @)

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets RERHMUESEMEE
Initial recognition and measurement NETEARE

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or
loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and
the Group’s business model for managing them. With the
exception of trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group initially measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient are
measured at the transaction price determined under IFRS 15 in
accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition”
below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI") on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not
SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit or
loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group's business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured at
amortised cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income are held within a
business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not
held within the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FESTHHREHME®)

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (debt instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and
impairment losses or reversals are recognised in profit or loss and
computed in the same manner as for financial assets measured at
amortised cost. The remaining fair value changes are recognised
in other comprehensive income. Upon derecognition, the
cumulative fair value change recognised in other comprehensive
income is recycled to profit or loss.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
when they meet the definition of equity under IAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The
classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FESTHHREHME @)

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

RERHMUERMEE (&)

Subsequent measurement (Continued) BETE (B
Financial assets designated at fair value through other EEBEAFEFAEMEZHEKZNZ
comprehensive income (equity investments) (Continued) WMEE (RERE)(EB)

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to
profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as other income in profit
or loss when the right of payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with the dividend
will flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be
measured reliably, except when the Group benefits from such
proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in
which case, such gains are recorded in other comprehensive
income. Equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income are not subject to impairment
assessment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value with
net changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to
classify at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends on equity investments classified as financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss are also recognised as other
income in profit or loss when the right of payment has been
established, it is probable that the economic benefits associated
with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial
liability or non-financial host, is separated from the host and
accounted for as a separate derivative if the economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related to the host; a
separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded
derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and the
hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit or
loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Reassessment
only occurs if there is either a change in the terms of the contract
that significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be
required or a reclassification of a financial asset out of the fair
value through profit or loss category.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (Continued)
A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a
financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The financial
asset host together with the embedded derivative is required to
be classified in its entirety as a financial asset at fair value through
profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset
or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
or
° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows

from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a)
the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it
evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset
nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to
recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated
liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FESTHHREHME @)

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to
the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a
loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the
default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information.

The various group companies have different credit policies
depending on the requirements of their markets in which they
operate and the businesses they engage in. However, in certain
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in
default when internal or external information indicates that the
Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts
in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held
by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are classified
within the following stages for measurement of ECLs except for
trade receivables and contract assets which apply the simplified
approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition but that are not
credit-impaired financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Stage 3 Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group applies the simplified approach
in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables and contract assets that contain a
significant financing component and lease receivables, the Group
chooses as its accounting policy to adopt the simplified approach
in calculating ECLs with policies as described above.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FESTHHREHME @)

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities cRAE
Initial recognition and measurement NETEARE

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,
payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in
an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and bills payables,
other payables, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains
and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit
or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the consolidated statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of
generally within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group's cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to
cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Provisions (Continued)

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination is
initially measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is measured at
the higher of (i) the amount that would be recognised in
accordance with the general policy for provisions above; and (ii)
the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the
amount of income recognised in accordance with the policy for
revenue recognition.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the year, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit
nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be
utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of
each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it
has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FESTHHREHME @)

POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and
only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or
different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax
liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there
is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant
relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a
systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a
deferred income account and is released to profit or loss over the
expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the asset
and released to profit or loss by way of a reduced depreciation
charge.

Where the Group receives grants of non-monetary assets, the
grants are recorded at the fair value of the non-monetary assets
and released to the profit or loss over the expected useful lives of
the relevant assets by equal annual instalments.

8% (&)
EEARKEA A AENITHEN A A5 EIH
MREERNHARARGERSE  BET
MIAEERELEH AR EER —HBEK
FAYIF — I B B SN & R R BB
BRBERENABEREERTELEEX
RER  RIZFREESENHHER
BEREEXRKEREENEEABL
TRBRBERBKZAEHAER - A&
ERAEERELERER] THE -

B Bh

MBE S ERRSEESBTHE - BFRA
B R 1S ST - RIBUR A BN IR A F
EfER - MR HIEE AR AF
B A0 3 % 478 B 7 R 4 1B RO AR AR S SE R
HER RN -

By Rk —REE - MIEQAFES
NEEW etk - WIRABEEEMNTERT A
ERFHASFERY PFIAR ARG
FEZBEENRTET MR XEB
AT EFR T ABAER -

HEARBWRZEFEBEEMDE - A
BTN EENRFERT
i WHNMBEENBRERFRAS
FREE ARG -

RERBIRRBRAR / T _FERE

139



140

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an
amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a
significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty with
the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one
year, revenue is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the Group with a
significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue
recognised under the contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. For a contract where the period between the payment
by the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or
services is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted
for the effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in IFRS 15.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

BOT arrangements

Revenue from the construction services under the BOT
agreements is estimated on a cost-plus basis with reference
to the prevailing market rate of gross margin at the date of
the agreement applicable to similar construction services
rendered in similar locations, and is recognised using the
percentage of completion method, measured by reference
to the proportion of costs incurred to date to the estimated
total cost of the relevant contract.

EPC arrangements

Revenue from the provision of construction services is
recognised over time, using an input method to measure
progress towards complete satisfaction of the service,
because the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced. The input method recognises revenue based on
the proportion of the actual costs incurred relative to the
estimated total costs for satisfaction of the construction

services.

Claims to customers are amounts that the Group seeks to
collect from the customers as reimbursement of costs and
margins for scope of works not included in the original
construction contract. Claims are accounted for as variable
consideration and constrained until it is highly probable
that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of
cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the
associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved. The Group uses the expected value
method to estimate the amounts of claims because this
method best predicts the amount of variable consideration
to which the Group will be entitled.

Provision of operation services

Revenue from the provision of operation services is
recognised over the scheduled period on a straight-line
basis because the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Other income

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting
period in which they are incurred.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for
goods or services transferred to the customer. If the Group
performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before
the customer pays consideration or before payment is due, a
contract asset is recognised for the earned consideration that is
conditional. Contract assets are subject to impairment
assessment, details of which are included in the accounting
policies for impairment of financial assets.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to
the customer).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FESTHHREHME @)

POLICIES (Continued)

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories,
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, costs
incurred to fulfil a contract with a customer are capitalised as an
asset if all of the following criteria are met:

(@)  The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
contract that the entity can specifically identify.

(b)  The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity that
will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)
performance obligations in the future.

(c)  The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to
profit or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with the
transfer to the customer of the goods or services to which the
asset relates. Other contract costs are expensed as incurred.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group's operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled

transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for grants
is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which
they are granted. The fair value is determined by an external
valuer using a binomial model.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in
equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service
conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for
equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting period
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting
period has expired and the Group's best estimate of the number
of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for a period represents the movement in
the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end
of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken
into account when determining the grant date fair value of
awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed
as part of the Group's best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance
conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any
other conditions attached to an award, but without an associated
service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting
conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value
of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an award
unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no
expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-
vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition,
an expense is recognised for any modification that increases the
total fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise
beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FESTHHREHME @)

POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This
includes any award where non-vesting conditions within the
control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it is
granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
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Other employee benefits HitgEEF
Pension schemes EBIREFTE

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of
their payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme. The employer contributions vest fully once made.

The Group also operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme in Hong Kong (the
"MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are eligible
to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based
on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged
to the profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group's employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FESTHHREHME®)

POLICIES (Continued)

Other employee benefits (Continued)

Short term employee benefits

Short term employee benefit obligations are measured on an
undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is
provided.

Housing fund and other social insurances

The Group has participated in defined social security contribution
schemes for its employees pursuant to the relevant laws and
regulations of the PRC. These include a housing fund, basic
medical insurance, unemployment insurance, injury insurance and
maternity insurance. The Group makes monthly contributions to
the housing fund and other social insurances. The contributions
are charged to profit or loss on an accrual basis. The Group has
no further obligations beyond the contributions made.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the
Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and
when the Group recognises restructuring costs involving the
payment of termination benefits.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those
assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when
the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that
an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends
Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of association
grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FESTHHREHME @)

POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies

The consolidated financial statements are presented in RMB,
which is the Company's functional currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by
the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency rates
of exchange ruling at the end of the year. Differences arising on
settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in
profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
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in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at BAXRSBHNEXRBE - UINERAD
the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items TEFENIIFELEBERATEATE
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using EAMEXRKRE - BRATEFENIEE

the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured.
The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item
measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of
the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation
difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised
in other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date on which
the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If there
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the advance consideration.

As at the end of the year, the assets and liabilities of the entities RER D EKEZT|EERE E’Jﬁ

whose functional currencies differ from the presentation currency
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are translated into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at the [ERBE B ARE  MiEsdBEE EIJ};Z
end of the reporting period and the consolidated statements of B S HENEREXREANEXRKBRE
profit or loss are translated into RMB at the exchange rates that BAREE -

approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
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2.5 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's consolidated financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result
in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group applied the following judgements that significantly
affect the determination of the amount and timing of revenue
from contracts with customers:
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2.5 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)
Judgements (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(i)

Accounting for service concession arrangements

The Group engages in certain service concession
arrangements in which the Group carries out construction
work of the WTPs, RWTPs, WDPs, STPs or other municipal
infrastructure for the Grantors and receives in return the
rights to operate the WTPs, RWTPs, WDPs, STPs or other
municipal infrastructure concerned in accordance with the
pre-established conditions set by the Grantors. In
accordance with IFRIC 12 Service Concession
Arrangements, the WTPs, RWTPs, WDPs, STPs or other
municipal infrastructure under the service concession
arrangements may be classified as intangible assets or
financial assets. The WTPs, RWTPs, WDPs, STPs or other
municipal infrastructure are classified as intangible assets if
the Group receives a right (a licence) to charge users of the
public service or if the Grantors remunerate the Group on
the basis of the extent of use of the WTPs, RWTPs, WDPs,
STPs or other municipal infrastructure by users, but with no
guarantees as to the amounts that will be paid to the
Group. Whenever only part of the investment by the Group
under these service concession arrangements is covered by
a payment commitment from the Grantors, it is recognised
as a financial receivable up to the amount guaranteed by
the Grantors, and as an intangible asset for the balance.
The Group recognises a financial receivable if it has an
unconditional contractual right under the service
concession arrangements to receive a determinable amount
of payments during the concession period irrespective of
the usage of the WTPs, RWTPs, WDPs, STPs or other
municipal infrastructure.
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2.5 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)
Judgements (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(i)

Accounting for service concession arrangements
(Continued)

Subsequent to initial recognition, the financial receivable is
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

Revenue from the construction service under the terms of
service concession arrangements is estimated on a cost-
plus basis with reference to a prevailing market rate of
gross margin at the date of agreement applicable to similar
construction services rendered in similar locations, and is
recognised on the percentage of completion method,
measured by reference to the proportion of costs incurred
to date to the estimated total cost of the relevant contract.
The Group's prevailing margins of gross construction
margin were valued by Crowe Horwath First Trust Appraisal
Pte Ltd (“Crowe Horwath”), an independent third-party
valuer that has appropriate qualifications and recent
experience in the valuation of gross construction margin.

When the Group receives a payment during the concession
period, it will apportion such payment among (i) a
repayment of the financial receivables (if any), which will be
used to reduce the carrying amount of the financial
receivables on the statement of financial position, (ii)
interest income, which will be recognised as revenue in
profit or loss and (iii) revenue from operating and
maintaining the WTPs, RWTPs, WDPs, STPs or other
municipal infrastructure in profit or loss.

Judgement is also exercised in determining the fair value of
the financial receivables. Discount rates, estimates of future
cash flows and other factors are used in the valuation
process.
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2.5 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(i)  Accounting for EPC arrangements
The Group seeks to collect claims from the customers as
reimbursement of costs and margins for scope of works not
included in the original construction contract, which give
rise to variable consideration. The Group determined that
the expected value method is the appropriate method to
use in estimating the variable consideration for claims in
construction services, given there is a wide range of
possible outcomes which are subject to negotiations with
third parties.

Before including any amount of variable consideration in
the transaction price, the Group considers whether the
amount of variable consideration is constrained. The Group
determined that the estimates of variable consideration are
not constrained based on its historical experience, current
negotiations with customers, profitability of the head
contracts of the customers and the current economic
conditions.

Withholding tax arising from the distribution of dividends
The Group's determination as to whether to accrue for
withholding taxes arising from the distributions of dividends from
certain subsidiaries according to the relevant tax jurisdictions is
subject to judgement on the timing of the payment of the
dividends or on whether certain subsidiaries of the Group are
determined to be Chinese resident enterprises by the PRC
governing tax authorities in the future. Management considered
that it is not probable that the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC
will distribute retained profits as at the end of the year in the
foreseeable future, and accordingly no additional provision for
withholding tax was made. Where the final outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts originally rewarded, the
difference will impact the deferred tax provision in the period in
which the difference arises.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I AR M EE

31 December2022 —ZE-—HF+-HA=+—H

2.5 ERSFTHE R &E @

Y ()

BFEA KIS ()

(i) EPCEHHIBIHEE
AEEERAESRRER - 5
BHRRAHFE S TIRHENK
ARRESHWE  RTELETE
KRB - ERGESBILERES
HE= SR AEERAEHE

EXERAREFERRERE R &
RERZETE -

KA AR A R ERAR S ER
ZH AREeEEAERESRE
REXBOR - RIBESL &5 - &
EFHERNRH  BEREABNA
MBS R B RTBEAM N - NEER
RAIERENBEFTIROR

IR REEENTENB

AEBEETERSREMEBNS AAER
REETHE R RIKERSELNTEH
B THAR 8 R A BB B B R R B AR
EMBHRESERAREECAEEET
W8 AR A BlE R & H i fE o
EEERRNARKRK  AEEHHE
B 88 2 B A N KA BE I A KR 32 4R B Ot
M) - R0 AF R BRSNFE N B B - anEk
FEENRRERLARCERBNESR
TR fEEREHHREZRRENR
R ARBENTE -

RERBIRRBRAR / T _FERE

151



152

2.5 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the year, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
described below.

Useful lives and residual values of items of property, plant
and equipment

In determining the useful lives and residual values of items of
property, plant and equipment, the Group periodically reviews
the changes in market conditions, expected physical wear and
tear, and the maintenance of the asset. The estimation of the
useful life of the asset is based on historical experience of the
Group with similar assets that are used in a similar way.
Depreciation amount will be adjusted if the estimated useful lives
and/or the residual values of items of property, plant and
equipment are different from previous estimation. Useful lives
and residual values are reviewed, at the end of the year, based
on changes in circumstances.

Current income tax and deferred income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong and
Mainland China. Estimation is required in determining the
provision for taxation. There are many transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts originally
recorded, the differences will impact on the current income tax
and deferred income tax in the periods in which the differences
arise. Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences or unused tax losses are recognised as management
considers it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences or the unused losses can
be utilised.

The realisation of the deferred tax assets mainly depends on
whether sufficient future profits will be available in the future. In
cases where the actual future profits generated are less than
expected, a material reversal of deferred tax assets may arise,
which will be recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
such a reversal takes place. Details of deferred tax assets are
contained in note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.
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2.5 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 2.5 EXETHEREST @

AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued) fEET A EEM (8)

Percentage of completion of construction services ERBRBEZRIADL

The Group recognises revenue according to the percentage of AEBBREERSTIREZENGHNETH
completion of individual contracts of construction works, which DEEERNGE  MZERTEETEEE

requires estimation to be made by management. The stage of
completion is estimated by reference to the actual costs incurred
over the total budgeted costs. Due to the nature of the activity
undertaken in construction works, the date on which the activity
commences and the date on which the activity completes usually
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fall into different accounting periods. Hence, the Group reviews HEITEMMER - MEBERAHREZER
and revises the percentage of completion of construction works. TEHSKER ALK ASRIBEL - BIATAE

Where the actual contract revenue is less than expected or actual
contract costs are more than expected, a foreseeable loss may
arise.

Estimation of total budgeted costs and cost to completion for
construction services

Total budgeted costs for construction contracts comprise (i)
direct material costs and direct labour, (i) costs of subcontracting,
and (iii) an appropriation of variable and fixed construction
overheads. In estimating the total budgeted costs for
construction contracts, management refers to information such

as (i) current offers from sub-contractors and suppliers, (ii) recent
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offers agreed with sub-contractors and suppliers, and (iii) WE - (i) BEYERKAR - S TRAR
professional estimation on material costs, labour costs and other = DN = s o

costs.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables, EZEVURE SRERRERGNE
financial receivables and contract assets EfEBECEEERE

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade $’$ BFERABREEMTEE S BRI
receivables, financial receivables and contract assets. The SREKRTBBLENEETEREZE

provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of
various customer segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e., by
geography, product type, customer type and rating, and
coverage by letters of credit and other forms of credit insurance).
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2.5 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables,
financial receivables and contract assets (Continued)

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e.,
gross domestic products) are expected to deteriorate over the
next year which can lead to an increased number of defaults in
the manufacturing sector, the historical default rates are adjusted.
At each reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes
in circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The Group's
historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic
conditions may also not be representative of a customer’s actual
default in the future. The information about the ECLs on the
Group's financial receivables, trade receivables and contract
assets is disclosed in note 19, note 21 and note 23 to the financial
statements, respectively.

Financial receivables

Estimation is exercised in determining the fair values of the
financial receivables at initial recognition. These fair values are
computed on the discounted cash flow method using a discount
rate based upon the market-related rate for a similar instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. The assumptions and
estimates used can materially affect the fair values of the financial
receivables.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on
an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of
the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated.
Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an
estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-
generating units and also to choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. Further
details are given in note 18.
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2.5 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 2.5 EXETHEREST @

AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in a
lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing rate (“IBR")
to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the
Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with
a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would
have to pay”, which requires estimation when no observable
rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into
financing transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect
the terms and conditions of the lease. The Group estimates the
IBR using observable inputs when available and is required to
make certain entity-specific estimates.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets (including the right-of-use
assets) at the end of each reporting period. Indefinite life
intangible assets are tested for impairment annually and at other
times when such an indicator exists. Other non-financial assets
are tested for impairment when there are indicators that the
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists
when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair
value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation of
the fair value less costs of disposal is based on available data
from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of
similar assets or observable market prices less incremental costs
for disposing of the asset. When value in use calculations are
undertaken, management must estimate the expected future
cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows.
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AEE [T MFE - BEATEREN
=K (T BT IRER OB R
Al S ) R ERLF RETARUARRE
B IR MRS - BIZA(E A R
it EABRBGABEBAAE  A5E
ERABRE ABBMGEIBRYLAFH
ETERFENMDET

FTREE (BERND) BE
AEEREREPRAGEHIFEERE
E(BREEAREE) R FEEMRE
5 ARRFHNELEE/SNESF
NEBTREFREETRERNR - Hib
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BET AT B B ETTRIERIR - B —HE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IS AR M EE

31 December2022 —ZE-—HF+-HA=+—H

<)

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group's operating businesses
are structured and managed separately according to their nature.
Each of the Group’s operating segments represents a strategic
business unit that provides services which are subject to risks and
returns that are different from those of the other operating
segments. Summary details of the operating segments are as
follows:

(@) the segment of Urban Water Treatment engages in the
design, construction, upgrade and operation of WTPs,
RWTPs, STPs and WDPs, and in the operation and
maintenance of waste water treatment facilities entrusted
by governments ("O&M");

(b) the segment of Water Environment Comprehensive
Remediation engages in river harnessing and improvement,
foul water body treatment, and sponge city construction;
and

() the segment of Rural Water Improvement engages in the
construction and operation related to “the Water
Environment Facilities of Beautiful Village” such as: waste
water treatment facilities and pipeline construction for
collecting waste water so as to achieve rural living
environment improvement.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on the reportable segment
results, which is a measure of adjusted profit before tax. The
adjusted profit before tax is measured consistently with the
Group's profit before tax except that unallocated income and
gains, finance costs as well as corporate and other unallocated

expenses are excluded from such measurement.

REDHER

RATBER AEEREXBHNERLK
EREDREAMEDFRE - AEERE
SRR —EBREBELC  RED
AR % Be B [\ g K% [2] ¥ £ EL A 48 & 20 &P
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(@) IR BB MERE - ER X
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TR~ 75 JEBE IR R M KR A BB
Ko e BT & B85 7K B2 I &R I
(HEE R ME])

b) IKIRIBLERAIAED IS KRB AT
MohE - BRKBEEREEEN
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© HRFACRBDE S RER K EE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

31 December2022 —ZE-—HF+-HA=+—H

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities mainly comprise operating assets
and liabilities that are directly attributable to the segment or can
be allocated to the segment on a reasonable basis.

Segment assets exclude investment properties, unallocated
intangible assets, unallocated deferred tax assets, unallocated
prepayments, other receivables and other assets, unallocated
pledged deposits, unallocated cash and cash equivalents,
unallocated investments in associates and a joint venture and
other unallocated head office and corporate assets as these

REFHER (@)

DHMEERAEIEZHZOMBEREN
FAIREDREEZ D BHRE
B -

DHEETBEREREYE KAOEET
BE APEBEEHRBEE KOKEE
I50R - EMERREREMEE - R
DEBRER  AORAELRALEE
W RBERRR—REEREENRD
ERENREMBRDEALRERE

assets are managed on a group basis. B ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ@ﬁ%., B —E
= o
Segment liabilities exclude corporate bonds, unallocated other DHBEETBERARES  KOBEM

payables and accruals, lease liabilities, and other unallocated
head office and corporate liabilities as these liabilities are

ENREREAER HEBBEARH
MADERARIREXEE  RARZE

managed on a group basis. BETNAEEERG—ER -
Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to DEEIEE REE IR EIRY H—;iﬁﬁ T

the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then
prevailing market prices.

BRF=NHENEELETRS
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IS AR M EE

31 December 2022

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 3. RESHER®
(Continued)
Water
Bz Environment
—E-__#+-A=1+-H Urban Water Comprehensive Rural Water
Year ended 31 December 2022 LEE Treatment ~ Remediation  Improvement Total
KB -]
HEKE RRRE BARE Bt
RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT NS ARETR ARETT
Segment revenue APKE
Sales to external customers RINPE P IHE 2,723,107 114,410 59,072 2,896,589
2,723,107 114,410 59,072 2,896,589
Segment results AHEE 558,915 24,161 (4,809) 578,267
Reconciliation: -
Unallocated income and gains NS 9,728
Share of profits and losses of NERAEBELANER
unallocated associates 1,363
Share of profit and loss of an MERDEAERENER
unallocated joint venture (1,060)
Corporate and other PEREBRAERX
unallocated expenses (45,594)
Unallocated lease-related finance costs kA EfA ERE R AR A (108)
Unallocated finance costs AOBREANA
(other than interest on lease liabilities)  (FAE&EH E%5) (168,255)
Profit before tax BRHATRT] 374,341
Segment assets PTHEE 16,067,718 1,422,044 673,140 18,162,902
Reconciliation: #%
Corporate and other unallocated assets ¥ REMANEEE 802,848
Total assets BEE 18,965,750
Segment liabilities SHEE 12,061,589 522,441 515,810 13,099,840
Reconciliation: #iE
Corporate and other rEREMAIRER
unallocated liabilities 125,302
Total liabilities aafk 13,225,142
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I AR M EE

31 December2022 —ZE-—HF+-HA=+—H

3. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 3. BESMER®
(Continued)
Water
BE Environment
“E-C-FE+ZA=1+-H Urban Water Comprehensive Rural Water
Year ended 31 December 2022 LEE Treatment ~ Remediation  Improvement Total
KRE )
HEKHE RERE BKRE &it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT ARETR ARBTR ARET R
Other segment information HipHEs
Investments in associates REENRRIRE - 233,924 - 233,924
Unallocated investments in associates ~ REE &R BIRA D ERE 147,207
Investment in a joint venture N—FELEDEHNRE 69,942 - - 69,942
Unallocated investment in a joint venture R —R AL EN XD TR E 8,477
Share of profits and losses of associates /54 1A I 1R 2 - 1,191 - 1,191
Share of profits and losses of HMERDEHE DA ER
unallocated associates 1,363
Share of profit and loss of a joint venture HE—FRAECEMEL (2,530) = = (2,530)
Share of profit and loss of an AME—FAPEAENENESR
unallocated joint venture (1,060)
Impairment losses recognised in RERRANRESETE
profit or loss, net (29,753) (8,292) - (38,045)
Depreciation and amortisation WEREH 65,814 22 16,212 82,048
Unallocated depreciation and FOETERHHE
amortisation 4,048
Total depreciation and amortisation ~ #7& i1 % 86,096
Capital expenditure BARHY 110,835 - 34,851 145,686
Unallocated amounts AOEELE 39
Total capital expenditure* BRGY B+ 145,725
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and equipment * EARXBREREDE  BEREEARR
and service concession contract assets. BRTKEEHNEE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

31 December 2022

3. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

—E-F+=A=+—~A

4

RA
i3

A EEE (®)

Water
EES Environment
—E-—H+-A=1-H Urban Water ~ Comprehensive Rural Water
Year ended 31 December 2021 HEE Treatment Remediation Improvement Total
KRR )
SRR TS mERE KRR CEl
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFTL ARETT ARETT ARETT
Segment revenue Al
Sales to external customers MR #HE 2,668,356 147,690 102,912 2,918958
2,668,356 147,690 102,912 2,918,958
Segment results PHEE 715,981 44,609 21,072 781,662
Reconciliation: Hik -
Unallocated income and gains KRB Rz 23525
Share of profits and losses of MERARHE DR ER
unallocated associates 1,392
Share of profit and loss of an PERDPERERENER
unallocated joint venture (1,821)
Corporate and other PERABAAERX
unallocated expenses (38,839)
Unallocated lease-related AORMERBRENA
finance costs (98)
Unallocated finance costs AOEREMAE
(other than interest on lease (REBEFERM)
liabilities) (215,577)
Profit before tax BRR A& 550,245
Segment assets PHEE 15,424,670 1,215,755 696,706 17,337,131
Reconciliation: i
Corporate and other PERABRAEEE
unallocated assets 944 277
Total assets BEE 18,281,408
Segment liabilities TBER 11,763,185 496,509 492,470 12,752,164
Reconciliation: i -
Corporate and other rERABRAEEE
unallocated liabilities 121,623
Total liabilities Baf 12,873,787

KANGDA INTERNATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL COMPANY LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2022



—= — —

=

F+—-A=+—8H

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

31 December 2022

and service concession contract assets.

B

AHREANEE -

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 3. ReEpHER®
(Continued)
Water
e Environment
—E-—H+-A=1-H Urban Water ~ Comprehensive Rural Water
Year ended 31 December 2021 HEE Treatment Remediation Improvement Total
K% 24
WK maniE aKBE CH
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Other segment information HivpHEs
Investments in associates REE N R E = 230,929 = 230,929
Unallocated investments in associates FAEE& A 7R A D EHRE 145,844
Investment in a joint venture R—FRAELENRE 72,472 = = 72,472
Unallocated investment in R—REEDEN
ajoint venture AOERE 9,537
Share of profits and losses of DB E ARIR R
associates - (1,662) - (1,662)
Share of profits and losses of AMERDEBE R FNER
unallocated associates 1,392
Share of profit and loss of ME—REBLENER
ajoint venture (329) - - (329)
Share of profit and loss of PERDPEEERENER
an unallocated joint venture (1,821)
Impairment losses recognised RERBERNREBRTE
in profit or loss, net (30,029 (15,084) - (45,113)
Depreciation and amortisation NEREH 62,408 123 6,560 69,091
Unallocated depreciation AOBETEREHE
and amortisation 3,192
Total depreciation and amortisation #7E [ % $44258 72,283
Capital expenditure EARX 104,783 - 88,290 193,073
Unallocated amounts KOEH 70
Total capital expenditure* BARX 8" 193,143
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and equipment * BABYBIEREYE  BERIHBULR

FEBRBRRERAR/ S _FERE

161



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

31 December2022 —ZE-—HF+-HA=+—H

3. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 3. RESIER @)
(Continued)
Geographical information it E & R
(a) Revenue from external customers (a) HBEFUKE
2022 2021
—E-C—F —E——4F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREETIT
Mainland China AR A 2,896,589 2,918,958
The revenue information above is based on the locations of it E R TV ENE R 2 o

the customers.

(b) Non-current assets (b) FEFRBEE
2022 2021
—EB-—F T —
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Mainland China 2R IANp:) 12,855,347 12,802,978
All the non-current assets are located in Mainland China. FrEIEREEEHNN AR AL -
The non-current asset information above excludes deferred FHIERBEEMNERTNEIERRE
tax assets. TRIBEE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

31 December2022 —ZE-—HF+-HA=+—H

3. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)
Information about major customers

The revenue derived from the Group's two largest customers

during the year is as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2022

REFHER (@)

HIREFAENER
JiS

=

NER  REBEMARFPEEMM
T
BE-Z-_—_H+-HA=+—HLFE

Urban Water

Treatment Total

W E K &t

RMB’'000 RMB’'000

AR¥T T ARET T

Customer A ZEA 356,209 356,209

Customer B =ZFB 186,917 186,917

543,126 543,126

Year ended 31 December 2021 HE_Z-—F+-_A=+—RHLFE
Urban Water

Treatment Total

I $EIK TS ABFF

RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETTT AREETIT

Customer B ZFEB 229,661 229,661

Customer C ZEC 206,772 206,772

436,433 436,433

FEBRBRRERAR/ S _FERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IS AR M EE

31 December 2022

4.

== = Bl = q—[8

REVENUE

The Group has entered into a number of service concession
arrangements with the Grantors on a BOT or a TOT basis in
respect of its WTPs, RWTPs, WDPs, STPs or other municipal
infrastructure. These service concession arrangements generally
involve the Group as an operator in (i) constructing WTPs, RWTPs,
WDPs, STPs or other municipal infrastructure for those
arrangements on a BOT basis; (i) paying a specific amount for
those arrangements on a TOT basis; and (iii) operating WTPs,
RWTPs, WDPs, STPs or other municipal infrastructure on behalf
of the Grantors for periods ranging from 17 to 30 years (the
"Service Concession Periods”), and the Group will be paid for its
services over the Service Concession Periods at prices stipulated
through a pricing mechanism.

The Group carries out construction works of other municipal
infrastructure under EPC arrangements and agrees with EPC
customers to enter into a settled agreement for the construction
work during the construction.

Revenue represents: (i) an appropriate proportion of contract
revenue from construction contracts under BOT arrangements,
EPC arrangements and other construction service projects, net of
tax and government surcharges; (ii) revenue from operation of
WTPs, RWTPs, WDPs, STPs or other municipal infrastructure
under BOT arrangements and TOT arrangements and the
provision of Operation and Maintenance services; and (iii)
financial income on financial receivables. The amounts of each of
the significant categories of revenue during the year are as
follows:

W #=

AEEBERSKERK  BEKER
R~ KR SRR IR Bk AL TR E
FERMELABOT Sk TOT 5 X E2 IR F AT AL
ZIARBIF TS E L - ZERIGFEF
KEZH—BPRAEEBEREEE()
LABOTH AR ELHER IS KER
R BAEKEIER - KB - J5REIRE
i8R S EL At T BR B R R B ¢ (i) ATOT 5 ¢
MZELHINEEESR  R(i)W172
0F M EARI A ([ ARFSFFaF a8 & BRI D 1R
ERTALESKERR - BEKERE
R~ AROKER SRR IR MR ak A T IR
REER TG MASE B AR RS S E
MR ERBIZBBTEERSRTHER
EESRE -

Wil*ETFEPC%JFL‘ﬁE@%BZ%W
REHER IR WHRER HHF'EJEEEPC
RPERFIVERTIENEE NS

Wzts () BOTZ HE - EPCRHE R E A
BRRBIEE TEREGANEE LG
2 U % TD%\?RIE&BZH‘TWM%' ")
BOTZ B RTOTZR #E T E & )5 7Kg
R~ BAEKBRIE R - KR E/)l:sféf%
igR S EL At T BR B BE RS pE LA SR AR i
HERIE A ¢ K (i) & BB GRIER
FBRA - RERASERNKZERHE
B0

Revenue from contracts with customers EESHKEF
2022 2021
—g-= —F-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T AREFIT
Revenue from operating services B2 RS UL 1,267,485 1,200,545
Revenue from construction services R ARFS W = 893,178 1,008,451
Financial income EURCT N 735,926 709,962
2,896,589 2,918,958
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

31 December2022 —ZE-—HF+-HA=+—H

4. REVENUE (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(a) Disaggregated revenue information
For the year ended 31 December 2022

Y ()

EFEEHWKE (&)
(a) WEHEERMAD

BE_FT-__F+-"A=t+—-HL

FE
Water
Environment
Urban Water Comprehensive  Rural Water
Treatment ~ Remediation Improvement Total
KB B
Segments yix:id HEKH GRERE SKRE CH
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT AR®TTT
Revenue from contracts ZEAHE
with customers 2,723,107 114,410 59,072 2,896,589
Geographical market BENS
Mainland China B, 2,723,107 114,410 59,072 2,896,589
Total revenue from contracts EEAHNEsE
with customers 2,723,107 114,410 59,072 2,896,589
Timing of revenue recognition R
Services transferred over time FER BB AR 2,723,107 114,410 59,072 2,896,589
Total revenue from contracts BEA#NNEsE
with customers 2,723,107 114,410 59,072 2,896,589

RERBIRRBRAR / T _FERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

31 December 2022

—E-F+=A=+—~A

4. REVENUE (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

4. Wz (E)
EEARHWE(E)

(a)

WEER D ()
BE-_ZT-_—F+-_A=+—HIt
FE

Water
Environment
Urban Water Comprehensive Rural Water
Treatment ~ Remediation  Improvement Total
KR En)
Segments A KT RaRE AR At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTL ARETTT ARETTT AREFTT
Revenue from contracts BEFEEHKE
with customers 2,668,356 147,690 102,912 2,918,958
Geographical market BENS
Mainland China AR 2,668,356 147,690 102,912 2,918,958
Total revenue from contracts EEA#NEEE
with customers 2,668,356 147,690 102,912 2,918,958
Timing of revenue recognition R
Services transferred over time FERs MEB AR 2,668,356 147,690 102,912 2,918,958
Total revenue from contracts REAHNNEsE
with customers 2,668,356 147,690 102,912 2,918,958
Revenue from construction services, operating services of YHIKERIE - BAUKERIE - (KA K

waste water treatment, reclaimed water treatment, water
distribution and sludge treatment and financial income are
recognised over time. For sales of water purifying materials
in operating services, revenue is recognised at a point in
time.

Performance obligations

The aggregate amount of the transaction prices allocated
to the performance obligations of BOT and TOT
arrangements that are unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied)
as at 31 December 2022 was RMB35 billion (2021: RMB38
billion). The performance obligations expected to be
recognised in more than one year relate to the services to
be performed in respect of the BOT and TOT
arrangements. The amounts disclosed above do not include
variable consideration which is constrained.

(b)

BRI ERIRT - BRI
A RS AG R — B ] A
R o FUEZ RIS EF R E M
W RIEE R — I EARERR

-

oif

BHEME

KRB —_F+_A=1+—HHK
ZEBOT R TOTLZHEHI KRBT (S E
DRBIT)BHETNRSEKRLE
THEAEAREIOEBTL(ZE=—
F o ARM3801ETT) - FEEIR—F
NEERZEOETAFFKBOT
RTOTRHEITHIREER/M - £X
FENSETREZR AR
{g o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

31 December2022 —ZE-—HF+-HA=+—H

5. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

5. Httr ARz

2022 2021
—E=-= —E 4
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTFT
Government grants* S B > 25,447 60,491
Interest income from loans to third parties A58 =77 B s EY R B U A 18,672 22,869
Bank interest income RITHEUWA 3,560 2,557
Interest income from loans to a FA—REEDEN—FREZE N A
joint venture and an associate EREF WA 840 700
Rental income less depreciation of HeWARKRENERE
investment properties 516 490
Investment income from other HERsemBEEnRERA
current financial assets - 8,508
Foreign exchange differences, net MEHZERE - $5 - 7,250
Others Hip 4,838 3,692
53,873 106,557

Government grants primarily represented the value-added tax refund and
the environmental protection funds for environmental technological
improvements granted by government authorities. Certain environmental
protection funds related to the upgrading of WTPs granted by government
authorities are recognised as deferred income that is recognised in profit or
loss on a systematic basis over the expected upgrade interval cycle. There
are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.

* B B & B R AT BRI T RSB E TR
RAEBBRREMBCENRAERERS - BT
BT E R E5 KR I2 BEUE S B RIR
RESCHERBRELKA - REHUER
PRI Rt 2 BN R AR o W
HEZEWBA B AW R IR R AEH -

FEBRBRRERAR/ S _FERE
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e IS AR M EE

31 December2022 —ZE-—HF+-HA=+—H

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. BRFLAIEF
The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ REBRBRBRT S &%/ (G A)
(crediting): AR EIEESE
2022 2021
—E-= —E_ 4
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’000
B aE AR® T AREFIT
Cost of construction services R AR AR 758,048 824,663
Cost of operation services 1B ARG R AN 869,894 759,017
Total cost of services 48 AR 7% A AN 1,627,942 1,583,680
Depreciation of property, ME - BERZETE
plant and equipment 12 6,877 6,814
Depreciation of right-of-use assets & EITE 13(a) 283 283
Amortisation of service concession & B — 14K 4 REHE G
intangible assets 17 77,654 63,925
Amortisation of other HEEmpEEgE
intangible assets 406 385
Impairment of goodwill* BN E 18 - 1,894
Impairment of financial receivables* & g E UK FRIBR(E * 19 (67) 452
Impairment of contract assets BREERE? 23 (547) 962
Impairment of trade receivables” g S EWFIERE" 21 36,080 26,404
Impairment of other receivables* H b U IRRE 22 2,579 17,295

Lease payments not included inthe WEFT AR E&ETER

measurement of lease liabilities HERRK 13(c) 278 286
Auditor’s remuneration A G 2,656 2,826
Employee benefit expense EEBANFX

(including directors’ remuneration):  (BEEZESFH) :

Wages, salaries and allowances, TE& - #Ha MoRBE -

social securities and benefits M RE R EF 250,065 241,038

Pension scheme contributions RIRKEETEHER

(defined contribution scheme)* (REMHETZN > 24,153 23,293
Total employee benefit expense BIEBBMNEX 274,218 264,331
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e BRRME

31 December2022 —ZE-—HF+-HA=+—H

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (Continued)

6. BRBIANER (&)

2022 2021
—EoC—fF —ET-—F
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
Lz AR¥ET T ARBTT
Operating lease income RERERA (1,392) (1,366)
Less: Depreciation of investment B IREYESE
properties 876 876
Rental income less depreciation of G UWARBIKEDEITE
investment properties 5 (516) (490)
Bank interest income RITHAEUA 5 (3,560) (2,557)
Government grants IRT 4 B 5 (25,447) (60,491)
Interest income from loans to ME=HFERF LW A
third parties 5 (18,672) (22,869)
Interest income from loans to M—RKE&ER—HEE
a joint venture and an associate RAEHE R WA 5 (840) (700)
Investment income from other Hitv B emEED
current financial assets TEBA 5 = (8,508)
Loss on disposal of items of property, HE¥% B &R
plant and equipment, net 16 B W ETI8F 5 39 478
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEH BN R EE 31 1,359 4,530
Foreign exchange differences, net  [E X =% - j$%5 47,918 (7,250)
Gains on disposal of service HeEmEEE—ET
concession intangible assets, net KRN FEE - (694)

impairment of contract assets, the impairment of trade receivables and the
impairment of other receivables are included in “Other expenses” in profit

or loss.

The impairment of goodwill, the impairment of financial receivables, the

There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group as the

employer to reduce the existing level of contributions.

BERE  SREKRFERE  GHEER
1B~ B 5 EYGRIERE R A A R IR R E

stAERm [t & e

BB KA RAREERETA

RIRIEER A HFKFE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

31 December 2022

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BERA
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETIT
Interest on interest-bearing bank FTEIRTT R EABE S
and other borrowings 566,106 536,451
Interest on lease liabilities HEaEHNS 108 98
Interest on corporate bonds NAEIEHHE - 29,139
566,214 565,688
8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. BERESTHASTH
REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, AEBEENESITRASMSEE
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) mRA] - FEATEHFIE383(1)@) ~ (b)
and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the QENERAT (FBREEEFNRER )R
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) I 2 2B EE AT ¢
Regulation, is as follows:
2022 2021
—E-= —E - —F
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETIT
Fees we 1,897 1,793
Other emoluments: HMEe -
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind & & 28 R EEF 4,833 4,553
Total st 6,730 6,346
(i) Independent non-executive directors (i) BIFHTES

—E-F+=A=+—~A

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors

AEEEMNBILIFRTESTHNE

during the year were as follows: S U
2022 2021
—=E_— —E - —F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBT T AREBFIT
Mr. Chang Qing (&%) BERE 316 299
Mr. Peng Yongzhen (k%) EoKBEAE 316 299
Mr. Chau Kam Wing (fE£84%) EEGESD 316 299
Total T 948 897

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year (2021:
Nil).

AERWEENBLIFNTESH
HibHm (=T ——5F : |\) -
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e BRRME

31 December 2022

(i)

T -F+=ZA=+—H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EERBRETHAEFHM @
REMUNERATION (Continued)
Executive directors iy #MITE=S
Equity- Salaries,
settled  allowances Pension
share option and benefits scheme Total
Fees expenses in kind contributions remuneration
DEREE #HéE - 2R Rk
e BRERX ENER STEIMR B
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT AR®TT AR%ET
Year ended 31 December EHZ-E-_fF

2022 TZA=+—-HLEE
Executive directors: HTES
Mr. Zhao Juanxian HEBELE

(alias, Zhao Junxian)

(HEE) 316 - 1,536 - 1,852
Mr. Li Zhong (£ ) Tk 211 - 1,452 - 1,663
Mr. Duan Jerry Linnan B

(BihEEg) 21 - 1,319 - 1,530
Ms. Liu Yujie (BIER) ROy 211 - 526 - 737

949 - 4,833 - 5,782
Year ended 31 December HE_T-—F

2021 TZAZT-RLEEE
Executive directors: HITES !

Mr. Zhao Juanxian HEELE

(alias, Zhao Junxian)

(HEE) 299 - 1,451 - 1,750
Mr. Li Zhong (FH) Tk 199 - 1,363 - 1,562
Mr. Duan Jerry Linnan B

(BHE) 199 - 1,241 - 1,440
Ms. Liu Yujie (ZIE7R) IO 199 - 498 - 697

896 - 4,553 - 5,449

There was no arrangement under which a director waived

or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.

BEEERNFAELRLAFAERH

RAEIH A 2
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

31 December2022 —ZE-—HF+-HA=+—H

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included four
directors (2021: four directors), details of whose remuneration are
set out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration for the year
of the remaining one (2021: one) highest paid employee who is
neither a director nor a chief executive of the Company are as
follows:

LEBEEFMES

FA > IEReEHEEBENEER(Z
TO—F MOBER) REZHHFS
FREXHFES s RFERT —R(ZE
% —R)RIFARREENIERS
TRABZESHFMEES 2 HFM=F1EN
S ¢

2022 2021

—E=-= —E 4

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARETIT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ~ #H 4 - EBL R EWRET] 1,019 985
Performance related bonuses RIBERAIEA 88 348
Pension scheme contributions RIREETEIHER 23 21
1,130 1,354

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid
employees whose remuneration fell within the following bands is
as follows:

FHEATHEANIEEE RIFRSIT
BAEBRSFMEEAZRDT

Number of employees

EBEAH
2022 2021
—E__F —=F——
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 & 7T = 1,500,000 7% 7T 1 -
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 & 7T = 2,000,000 7 7T = 1
1 1
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e I AR M EE

31 December2022 —ZE-—HF+-HA=+—H

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. FAIBFHiBAX

Pursuant to The PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law Implementing
Regulations (47 2 A R A1 B 1b 3 A7 15 8 VA B i 15 B1), most of
the subsidiaries established in the PRC, engaged in the
operations of waste water treatment projects, are eligible for tax
holiday of a three-year full exemption followed by a three-year
half exemption commencing from their respective first years of
generating operating revenue (the “3+3 Tax Holiday”). At the
end of the year, these subsidiaries were qualified for the 3+3 Tax
Holiday or in the process of preparation and submission of the
required documents to the respective tax authorities to apply for
the 3+3 Tax Holiday.

Pursuant to Caishui [2011] No.58 Circular of the Ministry of
Finance, the State Administration of Taxation, the General
Administration of Customs on Issues Relating to Preferential Tax
Policies for the Development of the Western Region (EfExHf «
RXNBER  BHAFHENENAFERBEEREBENEN),
certain subsidiaries operated in the western region of Mainland
China are entitled to a preferential corporate income tax rate of
15%, provided that the main business of the subsidiaries belongs
to the industrial projects stipulated in the Catalogue of
Encouraged Industries in the Western Region, and such main
business income accounts for more than 70% of the total income
of the subsidiaries.

Under the relevant PRC Corporate Income Tax Law and
respective regulations, except for the preferential treatments
available to certain subsidiaries as mentioned above, other
subsidiaries within the Group were subject to corporate income
tax at the statutory rate of 25%.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and
the British Virgin Islands, the Group is not subject to any income
tax in the Cayman Islands and British Virgin Islands.

RIBE(PEARKMBECEMEHEZEN
M) - FER BB S BIS KRR IR E
BEMARSOWBAREGERBERR
EERENENEEFERERARER=
FRREER=FRFNOHKEEE(=
RERAFBBEE]D  NER ZFEW
BRAAEAEREXR =R -BF+HEE
BREAESHRAEBOREEEER
PR HRBE =R RERGESE

WK B - BXFHEE - BEHEE
B R 7 50 A [ 35 o A 1B R B 5 T B Y 4
A1y (BAFE[2011]585%) + £ B A 7E B
[ B K S T B A BB IR 15% K
BECEMSHBEEEH  AiREWEB
NEIRE B ETEPTE R 70 [ B B AR
EXBHAEENEXTEE  mMABE
DEBIAGH B A B 2K A K 70% A
J: °

REAB(PEARKMBEEEMEHR
EVSBRER - B LA THEBARE
REEFEN  AEBEANEMLHEL
BIZBR25% AT R R BN RPAEH -

RERSHSEMNEBRELESNARA R
R ARBEERSHS MEBRE XA
SHABMNERMSH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IS AR M EE

31 December 2022 —ZE=-—F+=-A=+—H

e S F

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the

10. FAIBEIRAX (&)
B A S 52 [ 45 (0 4 7E BB 2 AE 3 R

Group had no assessable profits derived from or earned in Hong JEER B @ A - B R BB FI S R B
Kong during the year. =
2022 2021
—E-= —F-—F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBT T AREBFIT
Current RIER
— Mainland China — R A 36,901 44,342
Deferred IRAE 97,478 87,722
Total tax charge for the year FABIAS B A5 134,379 132,064
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax BRARAREKRBHHE R MEBEK

at the statutory rate for the country in which the Company and
the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense

B A TE B 3R 5T B R T AT 8 A 9 B
HRAX SR ERR R ENTIEM Y

at the effective tax rate, and a reconciliation of the applicable B ARGERABE(BEEREX) HER
rate (i.e., the statutory tax rate) to the effective tax rate, are as HEMEEROT ¢
follows:
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
RMB’000 % RMB'000 %
AR®TT ARETT

Profit before tax B AR A 374,341 550,245
Tax at the statutory tax rate BEEREFENHIE 93,585 25.0 137,561 250
Lower tax rates for specific provinces 15 E 4 17 8k & 1 BT 14 B

or enacted by local authority B MBIER X (31,947) (8.5) (37,374) (6.8)
Expenses not deductible for tax TR 2,420 0.6 2,233 0.4
Tax losses not recognised RERM G ER 58,882 15.7 30,222 55
Tax losses utilised from previous BB BT PENKBEER

periods (6,920) (1.8) (2,697) 0.5
Reversal of tax losses recognised 71t HIRHER M 7%

in previous periods BERE 18,510 4.9 3,968 0.7
Tax effect of disposal of subsidiaries HEHB AR 2 (410) (0.1) (2,454) (0.4)
Profits and losses attributable to A& ¥ R#Z A7)

joint ventures and associates EfhE R 259 0.1 605 0.1
Tax charge at the Group's RASEERBEFER

effective rate Biig it 134,379 35.9 132,064 24.0
The share of tax attributable to associates and joint ventures DEBENTIREEPEEAHREA A
amounting to negative RMB990,000 (2021: negative RMB480,000) R#990,000c(ZZE=—F : AR
is included in “Share of profits and losses of associates” and 480,000) A 1EZEME DG & A R85 ]

“Share of profits and losses of joint ventures” in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

31 December2022 —ZE-—HF+-HA=+—H

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT
The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is based
on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders
of the parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares of 2,139,735,000 (2021: 2,139,735,000) in issue during the
year, as adjusted to reflect the rights issue during the year.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue
during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are

11.

BRAREERERAARLS
R &R

SREARBFNSEDERFTFAGAR L
BERFEAABRGENRFAEETYE
RS Z ANAEF 5 202,139,735,000 % (==
— —4F :2,139,735,000 A% ) (4ZFH AR
BRI ETE -
HEz_ZTZ-_—_F#r-_ZFT-_—F+=-A
=+—HIEFE AEBEWEDHTE
frEEEmAR -

BREAREERNITIERIA TSR

based on: &
2022 2021
—E-C —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETT
Earnings: BZF
Profit attributable to ordinary equity ARFTESREANEERN A

holders of the parent, used in the basic BRAREBERTAA

and diluted earnings per share FE(R R T
calculations

235,679 412,752

Number of shares

IRt & B
2022 2021

—=-= T —F

Shares: ’H

Weighted average number of ordinary AR ESREALEERT

shares in issue during the year used in the F KRB 21T E A%
basic and diluted earnings per share hnkEFE
calculation

2,139,735,000  2,139,735,000

FEBRBRRERAR/ S _FERE
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e BRRME

31 December2022 —ZE-—HF+-HA=+—H

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12. ¥1% - BERRE
31 December 2022 —E-—#+=-A=+—H
Buildings Office
and other equipment  Construction
infrastructure Machinery ~ and others in progress Total
BEREM BARE
ER R HE Rt EEIR -

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB000
ARBTR AR®TR ARMTR ARETR ARETR

At 1 January 2022: RZZ-—#-f—H:

Cost XA 85,866 22,915 37,943 1,900 148,624

Accumulated depreciation ZEHERRE

and impairment (33,180) (18,423) (30,237) - (81,840)

Net carrying amount ERFE 52,686 4,492 7,706 1,900 66,784
At 1 January 2022, net of RZB__%-f—-R"

accumulated depreciation Nk EHTERAE

and impairment 52,686 4,492 7,706 1,900 66,784
Additions RE - 120 336 - 456
Disposals e = (27) (152) = (179)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 31)  H&EMBAFR (HzE31) - - (3) - 3)
Depreciation provided FRTERRE

during the year (3,431) (1,076) (2,370) - (6,877)
Transfer 8% = = = (1,175) (1,175)
At31 December 2022, netof  RZZZZF+-A=+-H-

accumulated depreciation MR EFNERRE

and impairment 49,255 3,509 5517 725 59,006
At 31 December 2022: RZB--F+-A=t-8:

Cost A 85,866 23,000 37,048 725 146,639

Accumulated depreciation ZHMERRE

and impairment (36,611) (19,491) (31,531) - (87,633)

Net carrying amount REFE 49,255 3,509 5,517 725 59,006
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e BRRME

31 December 2022

12.

—= — —

=

F+—-A=+—8H

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

12. Y% - BERRE @

31 December 2021 —E-—F+=-HA=+—H
Buildings Office
and other equipment  Construction
infrastructure Machinery and others in progress Total
BFREM N
ERERiE e REA EETR it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARET:
At 1 January 2021: RZZ-_—-%—-f—H:
Cost A 101,206 46,897 38,594 19,402 206,099
Accumulated depreciation SETERRE
and impairment (35,306) (22,557) (28,764) - (86,627)
Net carrying amount FHFE 65,900 24,340 9,830 19,402 119,472
At 1 January 2021, net of RZE-_—%—-f-H"
accumulated depreciation MR NERRE
and impairment 65,900 24,340 9830 19,402 119,472
Additions NE - 91 967 1 1,059
Disposals k= - (98) (545) - (643)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 31)  HERBAR (H:31) (18,392) (18,886) - (10,185) (47,463)
Depreciation provided FRTERRE
during the year (3,313 (955) (2,546) - (6,814)
Capital contribution from a FERRRTE
non-controlling shareholder 1,173 - - - 1173
Transfer from construction in BERIREA
progress 7,318 - - (7,318) -
At 31 December 2021, net of R-B-—-E+-A=1+-R"
accumulated depreciation MR EFIERRE
and impairment 52,686 4,492 7,706 1,900 66,784
At 31 December 2021: W_B-—%+-A=1+—-8:
Cost %N 85,866 22915 37,943 1,900 148,624
Accumulated depreciation SEITENAE
and impairment (33,180) (18,423) (30,237 - (81,840)
Net carrying amount EEFE 52,686 4,492 7,706 1,900 66,784
REBRBRRARAR/ T _FERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IS AR M EE

31 December 2022

12.

13.

—E-F+=A=+—~A

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

At 31 December 2022, certain of the Group's buildings with a net
carrying amount of approximately RMB11,792,000 (2021:
RMB13,619,000) were pledged to secure certain interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings granted to the Group (note 28). As
the payments of the land use rights for the buildings cannot be
separated reliably from the payments for the purchase of office
buildings, the entire payments are included in the costs of the
relevant buildings.

Certain infrastructure with a net carrying amount as at 31
December 2022 of approximately RMB10,168,000 (2021:
RMB10,903,000) is situated on a piece of land which is legally
owned by the non-controlling shareholder of Jilin Kangda
Environmental Protection Company Limited (“Jilin Kangda”), a
subsidiary of the Group. The subsidiary is contractually authorised
to use the land without charge throughout its operating period.

LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group leases certain land properties and one office property
under operating lease arrangements with leases negotiated for
terms ranging from 1 to 17 years. Generally, the Group is

12.

13.

M BERRKE®

RZFE-ZZF+=-A=+—H8 ~5£H
RENFEHAARE11,792000T( ==
——%: ARE#13,619,0007T) & T8
FEEBERTAEBEE T ERITR
H A E TR IER (FI5E28) - AR L HfE
AN RE LA S B E R ET
B P DB - B2 IR SRET AR R AE
FRAR o

RZZEZZF+ZA=+—H "  RKEF
HL A ARE10,168,0007T( Z 2= —4 :
AR 10,903,000 7T ) H9 & T E 7 22 i35
IR ERAE BB QR & MR ERRFR
ﬁ@ﬁﬂﬁ%%@%ﬁ%#%%%%é
ERAN BT ZHB AR

%%%FWfEM%ﬁ%EE%&im

HE

AEEEREEA
AERRBEELBERHAEET it
MER—BHANE  BEHTHRN

tricted f o 4 subleasing the | q . F—Z+tF - —RM5  AKEHER
restricted from assigning and subleasin e leased assets ; .
| Ining d BT E R R AT AL E L
outside the Group.
H)AA] o
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) BEAREE )
The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets ALKERFANEBEEENERET
and the movements during the year are as follows: BERESHMT
Land Office Total
L it WAZE &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARETT
As at 1 January 2021 R-E-—F—H—H 1,390 497 1,887
Additions NE 114 - 114
Depreciation charge WERY (96) (187) (283)
As at 31 December 2021 and NI —F
1 January 2022 +—A=+—8xK
- _F—H—H 1,408 310 1,718
Depreciation charge TEMX (96) (187) (283)
As at 31 December 2022 R-EBE-—F
+-HA=1t—H 1,312 123 1,435
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31 December2022 —ZE-—HF+-HA=+—H

13. LEASES (Continued) 13.
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
(b) Lease liabilities
The carrying amount of lease liabilities (included under
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings) and the
movements during the year are as follows:

HE @)

REBERABA (F)

(b) HERME

RER HERE(BSE
TR EAMER) HEREEREZESHN

AR

B
2022 2021
—E=-C —ET-—F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T AREBTFT
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—A®EREE 2,210 2,241
New leases g - 114
Accretion of interest recognised FRRERHFIBIE N
during the year 108 98
Payments (NE (344) (243)
Carrying amount at 31 December RT+_A=+—HHEEE 1,974 2,210
Analysed into: D
Current portion BREREL 2 (271) (335)
Non-current portion FEBNEAER (1,703) (1,875)

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note
39 to the financial statements.

(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to

THE B EO B EID T 70/ 7% R b

SE39 R BT -

() REEEFENEZTRIANEE

leases are as follows: mh  :
2022 2021
—ZE_— —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARETIT
Interest on lease liabilities HEEENE 108 98

Depreciation charge of right-of-use FRAEEENERY

assets 283 283
Expense relating to short-term leases 252 EAfA S8R & A 278 286
Total amount recognised in profit or loss R IBR TR LS5 669 667

(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 32(c) to
the financial statements.

(d) HEEMRSRLAERENY R

RBIEE32(0) ©

FEBRBRRERAR/ S _FERE
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31 December 2022

13.

14.

—E-F+=A=+—~A

LEASES (Continued)

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its investment properties consisting of four
commercial properties under operating lease arrangements. The
terms of the leases generally require the tenants to pay security
deposits and provide for periodic rent adjustments according to
the then prevailing market conditions. Rental income less
depreciation of investment properties recognised by the Group
during the year was RMB516,000 (2021: RMB490,000), details of
which are included in notes 5 and 6 to the financial statements.

At 31 December 2022, the undiscounted lease payments

13. HE®w)
RAEBEBHEA

AEERBEEHELHEERREY
X(efnEmAnE) HEGRES

%I%‘E}Efﬂ‘ﬂ%u T UREBERFNE

TMRAERABHEE - AREFRER
H‘U%ﬂ%ﬂﬁli\iﬁi&ﬁ%%ﬁ%%/\ﬁﬁg
516,000 (=ZZF=—% : AR490,000
7T) - EFIREHR MBS MARMEES K6 ©

R-F-__F+-A=+—H ~&H

receivable by the Group in future periods under non-cancellable EHMEPII M T A BEECEHETH
operating leases with its tenants are as follows: RIORERFE E R B IR EFRIBLN T -
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%ET T ARETT
Within one year —FR 1,456 1,504
After one year but within two years —FEERFA 1,325 1,456
After two years but within three years MFREBE=FR 628 1,325
After three years but within four years =FRENFR 456 628
After four years but within five years MFERERFN 469 456
After five years hF& 483 952
4,817 6,321
INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 14. RIFELQRINKRE
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARETT
Share of net assets DEFEEE 370,690 366,332
Goodwill on acquisition 1 B A e 10,441 10,441
381,131 376,773
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31 December2022 —ZE-—HF+-HA=+—H

14. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Particulars of the associates are as follows:

14. REBEE RN TINRE (8)
BRI A AT EISIT

Percentage of
equity interest
Place of incorporation Issued and fully attributable to
Company name registration and operation paid-up capital the Group  Principal activities
GRS AR REEEE
BRREREY BRTRHERE RERSL TEXH

Jiangsu Eastern Biological Sludge PRC/Mainland China RMB35,000,000 49 Treatment of sludge in rivers
Treatment Engineering Co., Ltd. and lakes
("Eastern Sludge Treatment”)

(IHRRTERERIRARRA)

IHR A ERBRTIRARRT E/ BN A% 35,000,007 AR R T REE
(MRA&EEER])

Zhongyuan Water Group Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB500,000,000 31 Construction, operation and
("Zhongyuan Shuiwu”) management of environment
(FRKEEEBRAR) protection and infrastructure

projects

PRABERERRAR /PR AR 500,000,000 BR BEREERRR
(TR ) ERREER

Fuzhou Fuhe River Investment & PRC/Mainland China RMB300,000,000 24 Investment, construction,
Development Co., Ltd. (“Fuzhou Fuhe") operation and management
(ENTETREREREBRAR) of municipal projects

EHTET RS REREERAA hE /e AR 300,000,000 RE BR BER
([T ]) BEMHER

Sichuan Kangda Zhonghuan Municipal PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 30 Design and consulting of
Engineering Design Co., Ltd. construction projects
("Sichuan Zhonghuan”)

(PIRERETH IR ERAA)

M) REPRT R LR R e/ hER AFEH5,000,0007C BRER R RAN
ARAR(TIIIFRER])

Leping Hehu Ecological Environmental PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 44 Construction, operation and
Treatment Co., Ltd. ("Leping Hehu") management of environment
(SIS EEREREER N A protection and infrastructure

projects

SYTARERRRAEARAA e/ hER AR 850,000,000 7T 2% BEREERRR
(ESo0k:1)) AEREER

#

The English names of these companies referred to in this report represent

management’s best effort at translating the Chinese names of the companies

registered in Mainland China, as no English names have been registered.

F A B 3 S AT X RS R 2 XA
Mo ARERAOZEATEXLEIER
BENBFELSXAHEME -
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14. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

31 December 2022 —F——

14. REBEE RN TINKRE (8

The percentages of voting power held and profit sharing are the

same as the percentages of equity interest attributable to the

Group. The Group's shareholdings in the associates comprise

equity shares held through wholly-owned subsidiaries of the

Company.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial

information in respect of some investments in associates, which

are individually material, reconciled to their carrying amounts in

the consolidated financial statements:

FBREEMENDEH A DL RARE
B EEH RE B D AR - NEBERE
ERANEEBEARRZENB AR
Fr AR o

TRHABHBEREANRBE AT
MR E LA BRI EEY
BB AR E -

2022 2021
—E-CF T —F
Fuzhou  Zhongyuan Fuzhou Zhongyuan
Fuhe Shuiwu Fuhe Shuiwu
8T Rk SN Rk
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTRE AR®Trn ARBTT ARET:R
Current assets REEE 474,278 196,220 558,413 194,364
Non-current assets EREEE 1,848,592 443,781 1,645,719 453,611
Current liabilities MENBE (406,096) (20,089) (280,162) (17,971
Non-current liabilities e =V (1,285,374) (147,021) (1,292,570) (160,581)
Net assets EEFE 631,400 472,891 631,400 469,423
Reconciliation to the Group's FEEREEDNE
interests in the associates: SRR
Proportion of the Group's REBOMRARELH
ownership 24% 31% 24% 31%
Group's share of net assets REEDEEE AR
of the associates FEE 151,536 146,596 151,536 145,521
Carrying amount of the REREE
investments 151,536 146,596 151,536 145,521
Revenue Uz - 52,127 - 51,074
Profit for the year FREF - 3,468 - 5,045
Total comprehensive income FRNEEKRSEE
from the year - 3,468 - 5,045
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31 December2022 —ZE-—HF+-HA=+—H

14. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 14. REEERTNERE @)
The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information TRIRIIEBMBIEANAEFB L D
of the Group's associates that are not individually material: A E FETIEE R
2022 2021
—E—= T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AREFIT
Share of the associates’ profit/(loss) DMEBE AR FREF(BB)
for the year 1,479 (1,834)
Share of the associates’ total DEEE AR EE kLT
comprehensive income 1,479 (1,834)
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s REBREZ QA FHIRER
investments in the associates BREEE 82,999 79,716
15. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 15. REELENRE
2022 2021
—E_— T —
RMB'000 RMB’'000
AR¥T ARETIT
Share of net assets DMEFEE 78,419 82,009
Particulars of the joint ventures are as follows: BHEAZRENFBNOT

Percentage of
Issued and equity interest

Place of registration fully paid-up ~attributable to
Company name and operation capital the Group Principal activities
REEEA
NAER BREREELH ERTRBZRE REFSE TEEK
Zibo Tiangiyuan Water Supply Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB5,190,000 49  Central water supply
("Tiangiyuan”)
(CHEBmREREKERRR)
AT R B K hE/ B A AE#5,190,000 7T R
BRAR(TRERM])
Gaomi Kangrui Environmental Protection ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB28,000,000 50 Sale and maintenance of
Technology Co., Ltd. (“Gaomi Kangrui") environmental
(R MERRRREEARAR) protection equipment
BETEINRREHR hE/ B A AR HERRE
BRRR([BEER]) 28,000,000 7 RRRE
# The English names of these companies referred to in this report represent # FR A R B 3 s 1R A A ) A s S s
management’s best effort in translating the Chinese names of the companies T RNRERIMNZEFERAREXEEER
registered in Mainland China, as no English names have been registered. ERNBEZFEPXEREME -
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31 December2022 —ZE-—HF+-HA=+—H

15. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

The above investments are held through wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company.

Ao

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information

15. REETEMIRE @)
FREBEEBAATREME DT

TRINFALFEHERNANEES & D

of the Group's joint ventures that are not individually material: EHNEHTEER -
2022 2021
—E=-C —E-—F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T AREBTFT
Share of the joint ventures' loss for the year D {h& &> EF A EIE (3,590) (2,150)
Share of the joint ventures' total SMEEEREEHKRERE
comprehensive income (3,590) (2,150)
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's AEBERA S BEILEN
investments in the joint ventures AR 4218 78,419 82,009
16. EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED AT FAIR 16. IEE AR AFETAHMEME
VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE KB RERE
INCOME
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETT
Equity investments designated at fair value $§TE AIE AT EFAEMEE
through other comprehensive income W IR IR E
Unlisted equity investments, at fair value 3 F M ARIEIRE - IR AF(E 363,000 248,000

RER > AEERER—FARALEER
FREEEEBRARMNED WK
ENFRBINDEEEDHEARDE
o

During the year, the Group decided to dispose of its interests in
Zhongyuan Asset Management Co., Ltd. within one year, and
therefore, such investment has been reclassified from non-current
assets to current assets at the end of the year.
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31 December 2022

17. SERVICE CONCESSION INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17. BILEE — B KERE

2022 2021
—E=-= —E 4
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETIT

Cost at 1 January, net of accumulated R—A—BHRA -
amortisation HIBR 2T 5 1,084,506 1,133,188
Additions NG 430,113 154,100
Amortisation provided during the year FNFHREE Y (77,654) (63,925)
Disposal HE - (138,857)
At 31 December R+=—B=+—H 1,436,965 1,084,506

At 31 December: R+-—A=+—8H

Cost AR 1,739,018 1,308,905
Accumulated amortisation S (302,053) (224,399)
Net carrying amount BREFE 1,436,965 1,084,506

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's service concession
intangible assets with a carrying value of RMB1,258,955,000 (2021:
RMB1,033,590,000) were pledged to secure certain interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings granted to the Group (note

28).

RZE-_—_F+_A=+—10  x5H
BRE{E A R 1,258,955,000 0 ( ZE = —
4 AR 1,033,590,000 7T ) HIEF G E

— B ERCERERTAREET
At RERTT R AR SRR SRR (HFE28) -

FEBRBRRERAR/ S _FERE
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18. GOODWILL

18. &

Cash-generating units
HEEEEN
Manufacture of
Waste water  chemicals for

treatment waste water
plant treatment Total
EESKEE
55 K R B FrR{EEm st
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARETT
2021 —E-—F
Cost at 1 January 2021, netof HRZZE-—F—HF—HHK
accumulated impairment B - HkR RERE 58,325 1,894 60,219
Impairment during the year FRRE = (1,894) (1,894)
Cost and net carrying amount at RA=F = —4F
31 December 2021 T-A=1+—BH
RS e BR EFE 58,325 - 58,325
At 31 December 2021 RZE——F
+=ZA=+—8H
Cost B %N 58,325 1,894 60,219
Accumulated impairment 2EtRE - (1,894) (1,894)
Net carrying amount FREFE 58,325 - 58,325
2022 —E-F
Cost at 1 January 2022, netof W -Z-—F—H—HK
accumulated impairment R - k% 2EHEE 58,325 — 58,325
Cost and net carryingamountat R-ZE - —F—A—HH
31 December 2022 XS N R EDRHE 58,325 - 58,325
At 31 December 2022: T
+=ZA=+—8:
Cost AR 58,325 1,894 60,219
Accumulated impairment 2ERE - (1,894) (1,894)
Net carrying amount BRTEFE 58,325 - 58,325
Impairment testing of goodwill BERENR

Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been
allocated to the cash-generating units of “waste water treatment
plant” and “the manufacture of chemicals for waste water

treatment” for impairment testing.

The recoverable amounts of the cash-generating units of “waste
water treatment plant” and “the manufacture of chemicals for
waste water treatment” have been determined based on a value
in use calculation using cash flow projections based on a financial

EBREBEHURBENEECOEES
IKERIERR | Ko [ S KR IEFT A2 &
ReELBMERERNH

[SKEEER ] & [HEESKERA AL
BRI ReELEMMNATKESEDR
BERANAEEMEN =F R KEE
REBNREREBAFTENEHER

budget covering a three-year period approved by the Group. EE -HensRARANNATRLIRE
The pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is #10.67% °
10.67%.
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31 December2022 —ZE-—HF+-HA=+—H

18. GOODWILL (Continued) 18. & (®)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the
“waste water treatment plant” and “the manufacture of chemicals
for waste water treatment” cash-generating units for 31
December 2022. The following describes each key assumption on
which management has based its cash flow projections to
undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the
value assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average
gross margins achieved in the year immediately before the
budget year, increased for expected efficiency improvements,
and expected market development.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax and
reflect specific risks relating to the relevant units.

Price inflation — The basis used to determine the value assigned
to price inflation is the forecast price indices during the budget
year for the relevant markets.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market
development of waste water treatment plant and the
manufacture of chemicals for waste water treatment, discount
rates and price inflation are consistent with external information
sources.

BERENR (B

‘Jr#f/f\::iwL A=Z+—HI/5K

BER] R[EESKEEMBLER

fﬁé?iﬁumﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁqagﬁﬁfﬁx
TX%mLT BEEREHRERE

%E/EIJ TEERENRNSERRRBRR

HREEFE —BENRTREEN RN
BEMFKANEESERBEFEA —
FAMBROFHENEX - gRBH
BERLETT R IR T 5% R A AN o

MEE — FRMBARARNGRE YR

R A BA B AL R4S TE RLRR

BBk — ARNEENETERBRE
ENEESHEMT SR EAEFENTER
BRI -

7 B T 5 7K B 3 R Ko A B S 7K B 3R P R
fEEmmmBER  MAXRERBR
B EERRELINRER IR B -
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19. FINANCIAL RECEIVABLES 19. EREWRIE

2022 2021
—ZE== —E-—F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETIT

Receivables for service concession BRI R4S & L BE
arrangements FEUR FhIE 11,208,671 10,980,465
Impairment A (2,186) (2,253)
11,206,485 10,978,212
Portion classified as current assets DA REEES D (1,961,955) (1,878,059)
Non-current portion JEENERER 9,244,530 9,100,153

Receivables for service concession arrangements arose from the
service concession contracts to build and operate WTPs or STPs
and were recognised to the extent that the Group has an
unconditional contractual right to receive cash from or at the
direction of the Grantor.

Financial receivables were unbilled receivables mainly due from
governmental authorities in Mainland China, as the Grantors in
respect of the Group's service concession arrangements. The
Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over these balances. Financial receivables represent contract
assets as the rights to considerations have yet to be
unconditional.

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of financial
receivables are as follows:

RBFFELLBRWAAELEBER
K8 25K BRI R )5 e B B AR ) AR 75
FRAREaK  INASERAEKA
BHENBRTAIERT ANERK
EUIR & S HERR

TREMFREARSRAZREFE T2
AW BEABTHENTRIR - B
BT R R AN SR B IR A 1 AT E R
BTN - AEBY BERZFERTAE
EARNEMEERTEM - £ RUE
WHRIBERAKNEE  RAZKIAED
R 1) AR A B AR ©

T REWGURR EEEREEEIT

2022 2021

—ZE-= —E-—F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARBTT

At beginning of year REF] 2,253 1,801
Impairment losses EEE (67) 452
At end of year RER 2,186 2,253
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19. FINANCIAL RECEIVABLES (Continued) 19. £ BEWFRIE (&)

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using
a provision matrix. The provision matrix is initially based on the
probabilities of default rates which are estimated based on
historical observed default rates and published credit ratings of
credit bonds issued in Mainland China. The calculation reflects
the probability-weighted outcome, and reasonable and
supportable information that is available at the reporting date
about past events, current conditions and forward-looking credit
risk information.

The decrease in the loss allowance was due to the decrease in
the published credit ratings of credit bonds issued in Mainland
China.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure
on the Group's financial receivables:

WMED TN E RS A RRA R GRS
T - BBEEEDZTNREBERENXRR
FEARBEEITEEEFNEAMEER
AREET RO REH - AT ERBR
BENEGER AN RE BRI SNAREE
BEEE EMRREAIREEERR
BEHONAERAIEER -

EREBERERLEHENERBEARER #1T
EEESFNEAMEEFHR TR -

FRASESRERRENEERRE
BEZIT

2022 2021

—=E_— —_F_—
Expected credit loss rate FEHEEEEX 0.0195% 0.0205%
Gross carrying amount (RMB’000) EEmaE(ARETIT) 11,208,671 10,980,465
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) BHEEER(ARETT) 2,186 2,253

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's financial receivables with a
carrying value of RMB7,114,919,000 (2021: RMB7,120,278,000)
were pledged to secure certain interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings granted to the Group (note 28).

N—_E-_—_F+_A=+—H K&EH
IREEARE7,114,919,000 T (—F = —
& AR 7,120,278,000 7T) &) 4 @b FE Ut
RIBEHPER TASEEE T BHRT
T EMERA R (F5E28) -

RERBIRRBRAR / T _FERE
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31 December2022 —ZE-—HF+-HA=+—H

20. DEFERRED TAX

20.

The deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised by the Group,
and the movements thereon, during the year are as follows:

31 December 2022

IR FE R

FEEAEEERNECHAEERA
EAREEZBMT

=E-=%+=HA=t-—-H

Transaction
costs for
interest-
bearing bank
Service borrowings One-off
concession and corporate deduction
arrangements bonds  of machinery Total
TTERT
ERR
PRAAF T AEEHH BN
RERH REBAE — R st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET R ARET T ARBT T
Deferred tax liabilities ELERIEAE
At 31 December 2021 RZTZ—F
+ZAR=+—H (983,521) (17,809) (272) (1,001,602)
Deferred tax (charged)/credited to R (31%),/
profit or loss during the year S AMNELER B (99,035) 5,677 (19) (93,377)
Deferred tax liabilities HEH B AR IR
derecognised from the BLVEEE
disposal of the subsidiaries 1,369 = = 1,369
At 31 December 2022 RNZEZZF
+-R=+—8H (1,081,187) (12,132) (291) (1,093,610)
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F+—-A=+—8H

20. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

20. RIERIE (&)

Fair value
adjustments
of the equity
investments
Fair value Losses  designated at
adjustments available for fair value
arising from  Impairment of offsetting  through other
acquisitionof  financial and  against future ~ comprehensive
asubsidiary contract assets taxable profits income Total
A
BOTVEFA
W -= TRREH  HtzEks
WEAREL ERREN RRERB HRERE
NATESE EERE RANEE NYERE @zt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETT ARET T ARETT ARET T
Deferred tax assets BRERBAE
At 31 December 2021 R-E-—F+-fA=+—H 213 2,184 55,612 38,400 96,409
Deferred tax charged to equity FRNERNBHNELRE
during the year - - - (17,250) (17,250
Deferred tax (credited)/charged o FRREZR (GTA)/ 4Bk H
profit or loss during the year RIEHIE (16) 7,033 (11,118) - (4,101)
At 31 December 2022 RZEZZ4TZA=T—H 197 9,217 44,494 21,150 75,058
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20. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 20. EIEFLIE (1)
31 December 2021 —E-_—%+-_HA=+—H

Transaction

costs for
interest-
bearing bank
Service borrowings One-off
concession  and corporate deduction
arrangements bonds  of machinery Total
SRR
fEm &
RIS T NRIEHH 3y
RERH R A —RIEHR st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TT AR®TT AR®TT AR®TT
Deferred tax liabilities ERHIBRE
At 31 December 2020 RZEZTF
+-A=t+—H (888,077) (22,001) (182) (910,260)
Deferred tax (charged)/credited to FERRIER (3K),/
profit or loss during the year S ARVELERIE (93,697) 4,192 (90) (89,595)
Deferred tax liabilities HENBRARKIHER
derecognised from the HIELETHIBAE
disposal of the subsidiaries (1,747) - - (1,747)
At 31 December 2021 i S
+=ZA=+-H (983,521) (17,809) (272) (1,001,602
Fair value
adjustments
of the equity
investments
Fair value designated at
adjustments Losses available fair value
arisingfrom  Impairmentof ~ foroffsetting  through other
acquisition of financialand ~ against future  comprehensive
asubsidiary  contract assets  taxable profits income Total
EER
BOTEIA
WE—% ARREE  HbrEkE
WEARES ERREAN RRERD MIRERE
WRTEEE BERE EHEEE RYERE ast
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT AEETT AREFT
Deferred tax assets BRENEAE
At 31 December 2020 R-B_TFF_A=1-H 29 2,184 53723 24,900 81,03
Deferred tax credited to equity ERRERE AL
during the year ERLFHIE - - - 13,500 13,500
Deferred tax (credited)/charged to  ERAMBE (FTN)/
profit or loss during the year M HELERA (16) - 1,889 - 1873
At 31 December 2021 R-B-—%+-A=1-F 213 2184 55,612 3400 %409
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20. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 20. EAEHTE ()

The Group also has tax losses arising in Mainland China of
RMB217,852,000 (2021: RMB289,511,000) that will expire in one to
five years for offsetting against future taxable profits.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established in
Mainland China. The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008
and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign
investors. For the Group, the applicable rate is 5% or 10%. The

AEBMEFEAMEEREEBEAR
#217,852000L(ZE = —F : AR
289,511,0007T) * R —ERFAEM
AREEREERBUEF o

REB(PEARKMBEECERAEBIE)
ERBE AR IR E S E R &I
KREETRORERBU0% TN -
ZREE _TEN\F-A-HEERY
BERAR_ZETLF+ _A=+—BRE

R REA - fis i B A B BN IR E P
BrRAERHEARBERAAIREK
EEMBERGHR - AEERERLER

Group is therefore liable to withholding taxes on dividends 5% 10% ° At * NEFBRZSFED

distributed by those subsidiaries established in Mainland China in AN B AT A 2T\ FE—

respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008. A—BRELENETND IR KE S84
B -

At 31 December 2022, no deferred tax liability has been
recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable on
unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the
Group's subsidiaries established in Mainland China. In the
opinion of the directors, it is not probable that these subsidiaries
will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future. The
aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China for which deferred
tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled approximately
RMB3,623,448,000 at 31 December 2022 (2021: RMB3,428,807,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment
of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

RZEZZF+=ZA=+—80 L&
AN £ B 7 P B 9 D K ST O B BB R BB
MTEFNFL A R BB I & FI B A M TE 0 TR A
RAMEEHBEE -EZRE #5
Mﬁ%@ﬁﬁéﬂ?ﬁiﬂ?ﬁ%?\"ﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%@
B - RZF-_—_F+=-_A=+—8"
BB ARENBARMNIEE S BNER
MEEABE(HMARUHERELEHEA
&) Bt A AR 3,623,448,000 T (=
—4& . AR 3,428,807,0007T) °

AR ) () EL s BRI A 3B 3 4 B 5 )
Sz & -
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31 December2022 —ZE-—HF+-HA=+—H

21. TRADE RECEIVABLES 21. BEZEWARE

2022 2021

—E=-= —E 4

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARET T ARETIT

Trade receivables B 5 EWFA 2,515,835 1,820,962
Impairment BIE (79,396) (44,402)
2,436,439 1,776,560

The Group’s major customers are the PRC government
authorities or agencies. The Group not only provides construction
service and operation service pursuant to its service concession
arrangements, but also provides construction service under other
construction service projects.

Trade receivables represent the unsettled amounts being billed
to the customers in accordance with the terms specified in the
contracts governing the relevant transactions. The Group does
not have a standardised and universal credit period granted to
the construction service customers. The credit period for
individual customers of construction service is considered on a
case-by-case basis. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

Included in the Group's trade receivables are amounts due from
the Group's joint ventures and associates of nil (2021: nil) and
RMB242,815,000 (2021: RMB209,649,000), respectively, which are
repayable on credit terms similar to those offered to the major
customers of the Group.

At 31 December 2022, the Group's trade receivables with a
carrying value of RMB911,844,000 (2021: RMB777,488,000) were
pledged to secure certain interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings granted to the Group (note 28).

AEENEREF/TEBFHERN
B ARETERBERBRHARER
PHR R IR MUEE IRTS - TRERHE
b2 RRBRFS IR B T eI R AR TS -

B RUFEEREBERERBISZNE
# P 51| B B 165K T FE M P O R #4808 3R
B AEEYEARRREELE LS
—RENERY - @ERRRRBEFH
ERMZERNELEEE - B 5 RUKK
BRE

AEENESERRGBRERIRALE
AEDENBERRFRED AR (ZT
——F Em) M AR 242,8150007TC (=
T —F: ARKE209,6490007T) @ #%
EREERAERRAETEZEFREMNEAMU

EEHRER -

R-EBE-_—_F+—-_A=+—H £&H
BREE A R#911,844,000T( =& = —
F o ANRMET77,488,0007T ) I E 5 E U
RECHBPER T AEESE T BRTT
N E A AR (FisE28) -
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—F— —

=

F+—-A=+—8H

21. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 21. EZEWRIE @)
An ageing analysis of the Group's trade receivables as at the end REEEAR  BERZRH LK ER
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss B g% KEBME 5 EWNRIENRE
allowance, is as follows: DT -
2022 2021
—E_— —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T AREFIT
Within 3 months 3EAN 479,263 411,569
4 to 6 months 4% 6187 291,946 241,979
7 to 12 months 7E12MEA 597,215 401,819
Over 12 months @128 A 1,068,015 721,193
2,436,439 1,776,560
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade B SR IERREBEREESNT ¢
receivables are as follows:
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AREFIT
At beginning of the year REA) 44,402 29,366
Impairment losses, net B EE R 36,080 26,404
Amount written off as uncollectible EE s E MmN SR8 (1,086) (11,368)
At end of the year NER 79,396 44,402

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using
a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The
provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of
various customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by
geographical region, product type, customer type and rating,
and coverage by letters of credit or other forms of credit
insurance). The calculation reflects the probability-weighted
outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and
supportable information that is available at the reporting date
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions.

RERE A RRABEREETRED
o U EBEHMEEEE - BEXHE
REBBEUEBREX(ABE - EmnlE
Al - BPERINFFRIARERBREAM
FEERBRZANRESE) HZETPS
BRIV B A BEE o AT E R
AEMELER  EERBEERNRSE
BHERI S A BESE - EAiR R
ARREBEARTBRANSIER I SEER -
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21. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 21. BEZEWRIE (&)
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure TREFIEBERABREEEOANERE
on the Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix: SEWRSEBNEERREER
As at 31 December 2022 R-B-—F+=-HA=+—H
Within 4106 7 to 12 Over 12
3 months months months months Total
B
3 AR 4Z6fHAR 7E12{EA 1218 A &t
Expected credit lossrate ~ FAHIE EEER 0.61% 0.96% 1.30% 5.80% 3.16%
Gross carrying amount HREREE
(RMB’000) (AREFIT) 482,209 294,770 605,086 1,133,770 2,515,835
Expected credit losses TEEMEEEE
(RMB'000) (ANR®FT) 2,946 2,824 7,871 65,755 79,396
As at 31 December 2021 R-_EBE-_—F+-A=+—H
Within 4to 6 7to 12 Over 12
3 months months months months Total
k)
AR 4Z6MEA 7E121EA 1218 A A&t
Expected credit loss rate ~ FEHIEEEEXR 0.52% 1.75% 1.02% 4.48% 2.44%
Gross carrying amount RERTEE
(RMB'000) (AR®FT) 413,707 246,296 405,972 754,987 1,820,962
Expected credit losses TEEMEEEE
(RMB'000) (ANER¥EFT) 2,138 4,317 4,153 33,794 44,402
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22. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

31 December 2022

22. AR - HttERFRERE

OTHER ASSETS HEE
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®ET T ARETFIT
Loans to third parties EBEFE=ZFTHER 200,000 220,000
Deductible input VAT AR IS (B B E R I 105,110 214,287
Deposits e 50,068 47,366
Prepayments TEfT IR 22,036 30,962

Loans to a joint venture and BT —HEeEELER

an associate —REENRINER 31,096 18,083
Staff advances BTI#H 4,667 4,015
Other receivables Hih g zaa 370,358 353,335
783,335 888,048
Impairment allowance BB (35,209) (32,918)
748,126 855,130
Portion classified as current assets DEARBEENIS (674,372) (734,365)
Non-current portion FERNERER > 73,754 120,765

FEBRBRRERAR/ S _FERE
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22. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

OTHER ASSETS (Continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of other
receivables are as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

31 December2022 —ZE-—HF+-HA=+—H

22. AR - HttERFERHE

& E &)
b Uk 2R IE R (E O B 1B B B B
—|T:

2022 2021

—E-— —E - —F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T AREETIT

At beginning of the year REH) 32,918 19,080
Impairment losses BEEE 2,579 17,295
Amount written off as uncollectible AW B MAZER & 58 (288) (3,457)
At end of the year RER 35,209 32,918

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date by
considering the probability of default of comparable companies
with published credit ratings. As at 31 December 2022, the
probability of default applied ranged from 0.98% to 13.09% (2021:
1.65% to 7.02%) and the loss given default was estimated to be
100% (2021:100%). Included in the above provision for impairment
of other receivables is a provision for individually impaired other
receivables of RMB35,209,000 (2021: RMB32,918,000) with a
carrying amount before provision of RMB553,518,000 (2021:
RMB452,259,000).

Apart from described above, the financial assets included in the
above balances relate to receivables for which there was no
recent history of default and past due amounts. As at 31
December 2022 and 2021, the loss allowance was assessed to be
minimal.

BESTREREAHEREEAAD
AHEEEFLENTELERARRNELOR
REFT RNZEF+=A=+—
H FTEAMENBMEN T098%=E
13.09% (= =—%F : 1.65% £7.02%)
ME LB R KA A 100%( - T - —4F -
100%) ° = it F b 2 U 3R I8 /9 5 (B B 45
B A A R 3520900 (==&
——%F: AR%32,918,0007T) AR
B B Ath FE Uk R E (AE L B B AT R AR
EAAR553518000 T (=T = —4F:
AR 452,259,000 7)) FrEE BefE o

Br Eat E SN - 5EA Lt W B R R A
FREY S R E R AT B SR B K RO B K 8
R N BE - —ER T = —4
+=ZA=1+—8 ' BHERBETGAEE -

KANGDA INTERNATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL COMPANY LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2022



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

31 December2022 —ZE-—HF+-HA=+—H

23. CONTRACT ASSETS

23. ENEE

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

—E-CF —E-—F

+=-—B=+—H8 +=—A=+—H

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR® T AREFIT

Contract assets arising from: LATIEEMEEARNEGRNEE -

Construction services 2 RS 1,707,764 1,974,400
Impairment R (818) (1,365)
1,706,946 1,973,035

Proportion classified as current assets DEBREBEEI D (198,553) (323,761)
Non-current portion JEBNERER > 1,508,393 1,649,274

Contract assets are initially recognised for revenue earned from
construction services as the receipt of consideration is conditional
on successful completion of construction. Included in contract
assets for construction services are retention receivables. Upon
completion of installation or construction and acceptance by the
customer, the amounts recognised as contract assets are
reclassified to intangible assets and contract assets included in
financial receivables under service concession arrangements and
operating concession for BOT arrangements and trade
receivables for other construction contracts when the rights to
considerations are unconditional. The decrease in contract assets
in 2022 was the result of the completion of construction services.

HRREAFERKNE TR AR
B AHEE SRR AT IRER A U
SEBETANBRER - BRRBENE
ERRRKRES - ETKETERER
TEEFEZMR  ERRENEENS
BMENOBREEVEE EREENS
BGRT AHEEBRRERBREFESE
LZHIE N & BB UCRIE N BOT L HEH 38
ERFFEAREMERAEONE SRR
REZH R-TB__FENEERD
TR R BRFE TR PSR

RERBIRRBRAR / T _FERE
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23. CONTRACT ASSETS (Continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of contract
assets are as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IS AR M EE

31 December2022 —ZE-—HF+-HA=+—H

23. EHNEE )

BRNEEREEBRBEEESHIT

2022 2021

—E—— —T-—fF

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBT T ARETT

At beginning of the year REH) 1,365 403
Impairment losses,net WIEE R (547) 962
At end of the year FR 818 1,365

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using
the probability of default approach to measure expected credit
losses. The probabilities of default rates are estimated based on
default rates and published credit ratings of credit bonds issued
in Mainland China. The calculation reflects the probability-
weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and
supportable information that is available at the reporting date
about past events, current conditions and forward-looking credit
risk information.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure
on the Group's contract assets:

BMESTREHRSE A BRAEORET
FHETT AT EEMEEEE - BOK
KNDRBEROXEPEAMEETEE
BEHFNE XM EEFRMT - ZFTER
BREEEEER BEREEEERNR
SEHMASMNERBESTE BRI
EAEEEERREMNEERASEE
£t o

BRAASBEEHNEENEERRENS
panR

2022 2021

—B-= =
Expected credit loss rate TEEMEEBER 0.05% 0.07%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) BEmaE(ARKTIT) 1,707,764 1,974,400
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) EHEEER(ARETT) 818 1,365

At 31 December 2022, the Group's contract assets with a carrying
value of RMB220,770,000 (2021: RMB274,223,000) were pledged
to secure certain interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
granted to the Group (note 28).

Included in the Group’s contract assets are amounts due
from the Group's associates of RMB47,245,000 (2021:
RMB114,141,000), which are repayable on credit terms similar to
those offered to the major customers of the Group.

R-EBE-_—_F+_-_A=+—H £&£H
8K 18 A R # 220,770,000 T ( =& = —
F 0 ANRBE274,223,0007T ) & KB E
BEFERTAEEE T ERITRAE
e R ELR (BI5E28) ©

AEENANEERBRIASLBERE
NEFRIENRYEA7,245000 ( ZF = —
£ AR114,141,00070) @ 32 E 708
RAEEEEZEFRENEUEER
FRIEE o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

31 December2022 —ZE-—HF+-HA=+—H

24. OTHER CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS

As at December 2022, bank wealth management products
amounting to RMB45,000 were purchased by the Group from
certain banks. They were mandatorily classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss as their contractual cash flows
were not solely payments of principal and interest. The aggregate
changes of fair value of the financial assets were immaterial since
their respective acquisition dates.

25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND

PLEDGED DEPOSITS

24, HitREBIeMEE
RZZEZZF+=ZH r&EEAETR
THRERTEVER 2HEAARE
450007C - HREANBEERETR R
SRS RFE - Biisa sl o B AR
ANFEFABESNECHEE - SHEE
BEAEEBURAFELBEBEM -

25. BERBEEB/YREHREFER

2022 2021

—=== =4

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARETIT

Cash and bank balances B4 MIRITES 383,499 623,768

Less: Pledged deposits VE o EEER (186,561) (333,870)

Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEEY 196,938 289,898
Cash and bank balances denominated in: LA N3 E¥EHEMIR S RIRTTEE ¢

— RMB —ARE 195,826 214,112

— United States dollars —Z7T 867 75,341

— Hong Kong dollars -8t 245 445

Cash and cash equivalents Be MRS EEY 196,938 289,898

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies. However,
under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying
periods of between one day and seven days depending on the
immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at
the respective short term time deposit rates. The bank balances
and pledged deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks
with no recent history of default. The carrying amounts of cash
and cash equivalents and pledged deposits in the consolidated
statement of financial position approximate to their fair values.

ARBAAEHABASEMBLER - R
i AREH B A HMNE E B AR TE AR
& EERNEEERE A5KEELE
BRERENFIMNEXBNRITEAR
BRBmAHEMBE -

RITREVEFERITEARMNRILZD
FIREREUK S - MEIE IR —RE
RS BFAKENAKREF
ko WIZE 8§ 5E B E B 75 5ON = BRER
FE o RITHEH RIERFEREAOHY
BENCNEERERTT - BB
RREZARRE MRS FEMA LB RTF
RERREERE AT EREE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

31 December 2022

25.

26.

—E-F+=A=+—~A

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
PLEDGED DEPOSITS (Continued)

At 31 December 2022, the Group's pledged deposits with a
carrying value of RMB20,400,000 (2021: 67,430,000) were pledged
to secure certain interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
granted to the Group (note 28).

At 31 December 2022, the Group's bills payable were secured by
the pledged deposits amounting to RMB136,742,000 (2021:
RMB228,224,000) (note 26).

TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

Trade and bills payables are non-interest-bearing. The credit
periods granted by each individual supplier are on a case-by-case
basis and are set out in the supplier contracts.

For retention money payables included in trade payables, in
respect of guarantees granted by the suppliers, the due dates
usually range from one to two years after the completion of the
construction work or the preliminary acceptance of equipment.

25.

26.

ReRASEBYREFERK
(%)
R-T-—F+-F=+—H K&EE
BREE A AR 20,400,000 T (Z & =—
F: AR 67,430,00070) BRI RE
FTHEF UERBETAEBONE THE
R1T R E AbfE 5k (FizE 28) »

RZBE-_—F+=-A=+—8 K&E
B FE 1S R A A R 136,742,000 7T (=
T~ — 4 AR#228,224,0007T) N E
IR (M3E26) »

BEZRARERENRE

B S RE RN RSB - &8
BB R R SR R T AR T
T WHREEEALR -

SREERR TRARBF AE S ENHKIEA
MEMKREEME MRBBABEN
FRBIERTIHVIBBRER—E
M o

2022 2021

—E-— —E - —F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T AREETIT

Bills payable (note (a)) e 2= 8% (M 3E (a) 161,364 217,595
TOT payables (note (b)) TOT FEf 308 (M7 (b)) 3,985 3,985
Trade payables B S ENFIE 2,094,931 1,835,235
2,260,280 2,056,815

Less: Non-current portion V8 FEENEARE 59 62
Current portion BNHEAEE 2 2,260,221 2,056,753

Notes:

(a) As at 31 December 2022, the Group's bills payable were secured by the
pledged deposits amounting to RMB136,742,000 (2021: RMB228,224,000)
(note 25).

(b) TOT payables represented amounts due to the Grantors based on the
payment schedules set out in the relevant TOT contracts at the end of the
year.

GEE

(a) RZZZZF+ZA=+—0 AEENE
NEETILABARE 136,742,000 T (=F
——%F : AR®228,224,0007T ) #3713 3K
YRR (BT 7E25) ©

(b)  TOTEMNFIERFRRZEIEMTOTA LI
B AR AT E RN R T AR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

31 December2022 —ZE-—HF+-HA=+—H

26. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES (Continued) 26. B BRAIRERESNRE @
An ageing analysis of the Group's trade and bills payables as at RER AEEZESRNRERENRE
the end of the year is as follows: BRRER ST

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETT
Within 3 months 3EAN 629,083 448,342
4 to 6 months 47 618 A 255,423 392,028
7 to 12 months 7EI12MEA 296,107 434,152
Over 12 months Bi@1218 A 1,079,667 782,293
2,260,280 2,056,815
The carrying amounts of the current portion of the trade and bills B 5 FE A ZRIE M E S 245 BN AR ER 5 A9 BR
payables approximate to their fair values. HEEEQAFEERS -
Included in the Group’s trade and bills payables are amounts AEBENESENTERENZEBIE
due to the Group's associate of RMB10,120,000 (2021: ERNAEE -—KBERARAIRBEARK
RMB10,120,000) (note 36). 10120000t( —Z B = —F: AR ¥

10,120,000 7T ) (Pt 3£ 36) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

31 December2022 —ZE-—HF+-HA=+—H

27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 27. HitWENRIEREFTER
2022 2021
—E—= —E——
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBTFT

Payables for the acquisitions FERT U BB k1B 75,917 76,199

Amounts due to related parties (note (a))  FEAT BAES 5 78 (M7t (a) 74,316 69,330

Contract liabilities (note (b)) BH4EE (s b)) 31,031 30,996

Salary and welfare payables (note (c)) JEf T & REF (5 () 56,023 28,290

Other taxes payables H IR 7,519 9,067

Other payables HAb BT FIE 43,296 64,301

288,102 278,183

Portion classified as current other o3 48 7 BIVER L b e A5 0B K

payables and accruals BT ERNE S (257,076) (247,192)

Non-current portion JEBNER R > 31,026 30,991

Notes: Mzt -

(@)  The amounts mainly represent borrowings provided by an associate, (a) CEIERBEDNAPRKE  AEEFED
Zhongyuan Shuiwu, the non-controlling shareholders of Huizhou Kangda BEMBEARBEMNEERZ 2KBARAF
Yingzhihuang Water Co., Ltd. (M R & & 2 2 /K% F R 2 8) ("Huizhou (MR B |) e & MR B FE I AR AR SR AR 41t
Kangda”), which is a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, and Jilin RER  WARREINEERSHREENY
Kangda, to finance the construction of property, plant and equipment of ¥ HEMEEREES -

Huizhou Kangda and Jilin Kangda.

(b) Details of contract liabilities are as follows: (b) SRBESFBOT -

2022 2021

—E-—fF —T-—F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T ARETT

Construction services BT 31,031 30,996

Total contract liabilities AHBERE 31,031 30,996
Contract liabilities include advances received to deliver industrial products ARBEORASNIEYERRIEHTER
and render installation and construction services. The increase in contract MIRGEMEERMER . — T - —F0NE4
liabilities in 2022 was mainly due to the increase in advances received from BEENTEHRERKBRNEE S KEE

customers in relation to the operation services of waste water treatment and &5 RERIRIE & ARFGHY B FE N -

sludge treatment at the end of the year.

(0) The salary and welfare payables are non-interest-bearing and are payable on () ENITERENATGTEBEZRERL N -
demand. Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have no fixed terms EfEMARIEA T B REREEERE -

of repayment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

31 December2022 —ZE-—HF+-HA=+—H

28. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 28. st B4R H At & X
BORROWINGS
31 December 2022 31 December 2021
ZBCZETZRZT-H ZEZ-F+ZA=1-H
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity RMB'000 rate (%) Maturity RMB'000
1 ik ERA=
(%) HEER ARETR (%) e ARETR
Current L
Lease liabilities (note 13(o) BEEE(MET130) 4.91 2023 m 491 2022 335
Bk “E--F
Bank loans — secured BITEF 3.45-4.35 2023 322,906 345-4.35 2022 462,300
—RER k- St 2 S
Bank loans — unsecured BIER 3.45-7.08 2023 1,405,123 3.85-7.08 2022 1,033,290
— @ —E-=E —E--
Current portion of long term RERTERONALS  3.47-8.02 2023 568,242 4.60-6.50 2022 562,448
bank loans — secured — BHEA —E-=F —E--
Current portion of long term REBTETNMSELS  5.00-5.30 2023 71,188 455-6.18 2022 791,783
bank loans — unsecured — EIEH —E-=E —E-CF
Current portion of long term REHMERNNHTS  4.84-7.14 2023 491,157 5.60-6.65 2022 305,211
other loans — secured —BHEE - S} ZECC
Current portion of long term REEMETONALS  7.80-8.43 2023 20,922 435-843 2022 42630
other loans — unsecured — BIEH —E-=F —E-CF
2,879,809 3,197,997
Non-current JEENE
Lease liabilities (note 13(o) BEEREEE13 491 2024-2039 1,703 491 2023-2039 1875
ZBIMEE —R-CER
ZE-hE -y 3
Long term bank loans REHTER 3.47-6.50 2024-2045 3,946,288 4.25-6.50 2023-2045 4,075,765
— secured —5EA ZECMEZR —T-ZfZ
—ENEE —EMhE
Long term bank loans REBRTER 1.20-5.00 2024-2026 67,163 490-5.30 2023 319,141
— unsecured — BIER “ECNEZR —EC-=fF
—ECAE
Long term other loans REEMES 4.84-7.14 2024-2030 1,799,800 5.60-6.65 2023-2026 880,115
— secured — BEW —ECMEZR —E-=FR
it 423 —TZR
Long term other loans REEMER 7.80-8.43 2024-2026 827,054 120-843 2023-202 994,846
— unsecured — R ZE-NEZ i S
ot S ¢: BRI
6,642,008 6,271,742
9,521,817 9.469,739

Interest-bearing bank and other  JA TSI & ¥ EHER)

borrowings denominated in SHERITRAMIER

—RMB —ARE 9,274,240 9,024,961

— United States dollars — %71 247,577 444778
9,521,817 9,469,739

BEBEBRRRERRR/ —E-—FEHE 205



206

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

31 December2022 —ZE-—HF+-HA=+—H

28. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 28. FFRBITREMER @
BORROWINGS (Continued)
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTT
Analysed into: D
Interest-bearing bank and other FEEETERITR
borrowings repayable: HER:
Within one year —F LA 2,879,809 3,197,997
In the second year EFE_F 2,176,609 2,011,492
In the third to fifth years, inclusive E-ZFEhF(RREEEME) 2,022,997 1,984,763
Beyond five years AFE 2,442,402 2,275,487
9,521,817 9,469,739

The above secured interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
are secured by certain assets with carrying values as follows:

EABHEME BRITREMERAET
BEFEMR  HEmEDT

2022 2021
—E__ —E-—F
RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARBT ARETT

Property, plant and equipment (note 12) ¥ « BiE & (5 12)

Financial receivables (note 19) % EhE W =R IE (MI3E19)

Trade receivables (note 21) Z 5 WA (Mt 21)

Pledged deposits (note 25) AR R (P 5E 25)

Service concession intangible assets EEE — ST
(note 17) (BF5E17)

Contract assets (note 23) B HEE ([H7E23)

11,792 13,619
7,114,919 7,120,278
911,844 777,488
20,400 67,430
1,258,955 1,033,590
220,770 274,223

The Group's interest-bearing bank and other borrowings of
RMB4,134,215,000 (2021: RMB2,599,726,000) were guaranteed by
the Company’s investments in certain subsidiaries.

The Group's interest-bearing bank and other borrowings of
RMB563,033,000 (2021: RMB693,290,000) were guaranteed by the
second largest shareholder (note 36).

NEE A AR A134,2150007C (==
——4: AR#2,599,726,0007T)EEE
BITREMERARRFTRETFTHB A
AIRIR B EEA -

KEEAHY A RM563,033000w (==
——F: ARB693,290,0007T) KI5 A
$RIT R H AL B R — KRR R (B s
36) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

31 December2022 —ZE-—HF+-HA=+—H

29. SHARE CAPITAL 29. B
Shares vy
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBTT
Authorised: SETE
5,000,000,000 (2021: 5,000,000,000) 5,000,000,000 f& (ZZF=—4F :
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each 5,000,000,000 f&)
SRMEE0.01 BT T EAR 39,766 39,766
Issued and fully paid: EETREHE :
2,139,735,000 (2021: 2,139,735,000) 2,139,735,000 % (ZZE=—% :
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each 2,139,735,000 f%)
BREEC.01 B TH @R 17,125 17,125
A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as BREKNTRANESEESHERNT -
follows:
Number of Issued Share
shares in issue capital premium Total
B81T
RHEE ERTER 43R E wst
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR®T T ARBT T
At 1 January 2022 and R-E-—F—HF—H
31 December 2022 NZEZF
+-A=+—H 2,139,735,000 17,125 1,717,384 1,734,509
30. RESERVES 30. fEE

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 84 of the consolidated
financial statements.

AREAFERBEFENEESER
HBB2TINGA N REF4ENE
AMHEEBER -
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31. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

In 2022, Chongqing Kangda disposed of its entire 100% interests

in Fengxian Kangda Environmental Protection the third Sewage
Treatment Co., Ltd., referred to as “Fengxian Kangda”. (In 2021,
Chongqging Kangda disposed of its entire 90% interests in Xishui
Kangda Environmental Treatment Co., Ltd., 100% interests in
Shandong Fengmin Water Co., Ltd., 80% interests in
Pingdingshan Rulan New Energy Co., Ltd., and 100% interests in

other six new energy companies, collectively referred to as “Nine

companies”).

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IS AR M EE

31 December2022 —ZE-—HF+-HA=+—H

31. HERBLHF

R_TE-_—F EERELEENEH
REF=SKEEER AT (EE L%
FRZE DR ZEB100%MHE - (ZF=——F -
EERENEENEKEERELIES
FRARIM 2 EE90% s « A LR &R K
BARAAIR100% #s ~ RFIEL MR
B RERARME0%ERT  UARHE
fh7SFEFTEER A B 100% &2 - SR8 A

[NEARD -

Fengxian Nine
Kangda Companies
BREE NERAFA]
2022 2021
—E-C —ET=—
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’000
Liks3 ARBT T ARETT
Property, plant and equipment Wz - B N 12 3 47,463
Inventories FE 11 =
Contract assets BREE - 67,383
Service concession intangible assets /& E — FFrF S & - 38,942
Deferred tax assets BEBIEEE = 1,747
Financial receivables R eI 13,977 -
Trade receivables B 5 WA 317 2,733
Prepayments, other receivables TERFRIE - H Al WA K&
and other assets HEiEE 333 5,563
Cash and cash equivalents HEeRBELEED 120 408
Trade and bills payables B 5N FIE R ENRE (1,267) (86,520)
Interest-bearing bank and FrEIRIT M EMER
other borrowings - (18,018)
Other payables and accruals HAth e FIE R EETE (10,766) (33,439)
Tax payable JERTTRIE - ©)
Deferred tax liabilities EIERRIB A & (1,369) -
1,359 26,257
Group's share of net assets of REEEGEDHENBAR
disposed subsidiaries BEFE 1,359 27,184
Loss on disposal HEEE (1,359) (4,530)
- 22,654
Satisfied by: ATRB) A
Cash Be - 22,654
Cash consideration EUIE KRB = 13,939
Cash and bank balances disposed of & H&ER 4 & IRTT4EH (120) (408)
Net (outflow)/inflow of cash and HEENBARMNIRS &
cash equivalents in respect of RBEZEEBEWF ), RA
the disposal of subsidiaries (120) 13,531
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e BRRME

31 December2022 —ZE-—HF+-HA=+—H

32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS
(@) Major non-cash transactions
During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities of nil (2021: RMB114,000)
and nil (2021: RMB114,000), respectively, in respect of lease
arrangements for office properties.

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing

32. MERERERMTE

(a) FEH}BEXRH
TR AEBERBAEMERES
HEREEERTEEABMNIER
SRENDARE(ZTE_—F: A
R#114,00070) RE(ZF=—4F :
AR 114,0007T) ©

(b) BMEEBELENAEED

activities
2022 e
Interest-
bearing bank Other
and other Lease payables and
borrowings liabilities accruals*
FTRBTR Hib e FRIE
Hifa® HEAE REFER*
RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARBT R AR®T T AR®T T
At 1 January 2022 RZEBE-_—_F—H—H 9,467,529 2,210 65,055
Changes from financing MERSREE
cash flows (17,279) (344) 384
Foreign exchange movement S & 49,277 - -
Interest expense FE R 566,106 108 -
Interest paid classified DERARERERE
as financing cash flows HENFE (545,790) = =
At 31 December 2022 R-E-—F
+=—A=+—H 9,519,843 1,974 65,439

* Other payables and accruals mainly represent interest payable,

dividend payable, and certain borrowings provided by related
parties.

* HibENRAREA ER T RERY
ME - BNRERETHEB TR
EEAR

BEBEBRRRERRR/ —E-—FEHE 209
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

31 December 2022

—E-F+=A=+—~A

32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 32. R BHERERMET &)
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) BMEIBELNEEES ()
activities (Continued)
2021 —E—F
Interest- Other
bearing bank payables
and other Lease Corporate and
borrowings liabilities bonds accruals*
FERIRITR H A FE A FRIA
Hh f& 5K HEBE NEfES KREFER*
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARBTRT AREBTET
At 1 January 2021 KRB —F
—H—H 8,686,302 2,241 584,247 49,940
Changes from financing RIERESREEDH)
cash flows 787,435 (243) (576,016) 15,115
New leases EE - 114 = =
Foreign exchange SN B
movement (8,341) - - -
Interest expense FERX 536,451 98 29,139 -
Interest paid classified as DBARER SRS
financing cash flows RE S FLE (516,300) - (37,370) -
Disposal of subsidiaries, H&EKERA] -
net of cash NBRRE (18,018) - - -
At 31 December 2021 KRB —F
+-A=+—H 9,467,529 2,210 - 65,055

Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement

of cash flows is as follows:

() HENBRERHAHE
FRReRERNEERSRHLA

BT
2022 2021
—E-= —EF—F
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTFT
Within financing activities BMEEHHEN 344 243
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e BRRME

31 December2022 —ZE-—HF+-HA=+—H

33. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 33. AREE
At the end of the year, the Group did not have any significant RAFER  NEBWF/EMERKA
contingent liabilities. BE-

34. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 34. EEEH
Details of the Group's bank and other loans, which are secured BRNAEEEEEROAEERITR
by the assets of the Group, are included in note 28 to the HERFBEHN A R ME28 o

consolidated financial statements.

35. COMMITMENTS 35. &I
The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of RIBEHR  REBFUTEREAIE :

the reporting period:

2022 2021

—E-—F T

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR®T R ARBETIT

Contracted, but not provided for EHEE RS 185,385 198,144
The Group had the following commitments with respect to RAREER NEBA Y B BREE

service concession arrangements at the end of the year: T4 A 2 i T

2022 2021

—B-C-fF S

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T ARBTTT

Contracted, but not provided for EHENEIEE S 1,991,362 2,442,938

FEBRBRRERAR/ S _FERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

31 December 2022

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

—E-F+=A=+—~A

36.

BBAETXS

The Group had the following material transactions with (a) AEERAFEHBEEFETHE
related parties during the year: RRS0T :
2022 2021
—E—— —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BT T AR¥EFIT
Certain expenses of the Group paid BTN B FE I A AR R
by non-controlling shareholders of: TR EBETHE
Huizhou Kangda BMERE 384 384
Pingdingshan City Bay FIEIL T E 4,725 =
Certain loans of the Group borrowed m—REEQREARN
from an associate: REEETENR
Zhongyuan Shuiwu A RIK 100,815 114,725
Certain expenses paid by the Group REE A THIRF R FEERR
for non-controlling shareholders of: BRI EFTHAS
Jiaoling Kangda FEERE - 499
Services provided to associates and MEE AR R —REERE
a joint venture: AR
Fuzhou Fuhe )N Hm] 12,151 140,717
Leping Hehu e b 17,053 49,685
Gaomi Kangrui SE-aE30 862 749
Services provided by an associate: B—REE QAR HERT
Eastern Sludge Treatment RITEREE R = 1,998
Services provided by a subsidiary of AR —KMEB AR
a shareholder: AR
Jiangxi Silver Dragon (i) ST PSR EE (i) 251,789 69,256
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31 December 2022

T -F+=ZA=+—H

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(Continued)

(a)

(i)

Jiangxi Silver Dragon Water Environment Construction
Co., Ltd. (T ARBEKIREEREREE LA (“Jiangxi
Silver Dragon”) is a subsidiary of the largest
shareholder of the Group. This related party
transaction also constitutes a connected transaction
or continuing connected transaction as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Group is contractually authorised to use a piece
of land which is legally owned by the non-controlling
shareholder of Jilin Kangda without charge, and such
use also constitutes a related party transaction during
the year.

The Group's interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings in 2022 amounting to RMB563,033,000
(2021: RMB693,290,000) were guaranteed by the
second largest shareholder (note 28).

The above related party transactions were conducted
in accordance with the terms mutually agreed
between the parties.

36. B AR F (&)

(a)

(&)
0]

ITRIREEKIRIEER AR E
FERR(IAEE]) AARE
ESABRRNHBATF - %
B AR ITERBERS
SFEEERS (TR L™
RAIFE 14AE) o

AEBEAN LERERE
B — S E MR EIFER
BRAZFEBRH LM - EH
% L3 IR K AN F R Y — R
BEOIRS -

ZTEZFREARE
563,033,000 (=T =—4% :
A R # 693,290,000 7T ) B A&
EEFERITREAMERH
FEZRREER (H5E28) -

LABEB SRS IREE S
195 7€ RO IR FRAETT

RERBIRRBRAR / T _FERE

213



214

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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31 December 2022

(b)

—E-F+=A=+—~A

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 36. BEEAR S |
Outstanding balances with related parties (b) EERAEET M REZBELER
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®BT T ARETT
Amounts due to non-controlling FERTAT R B FEEAR
shareholders of: A% B FIA
Pingdingshan City Bay SETE LT 55,062 50,337
Jilin Kangda HMEEE 9,285 9,285
Huizhou Kangda BN EE 4,930 4,546
Jiaoling Kangda raRE 1,178 1,478
Amounts due to associates: JEAT A T Bt &8 A RIFRIA -
Zhongyuan Shuiwu A RIK TS 55,376 55,499
Eastern Sludge Treatment (note 26) RITEREBIR (et 26) 10,120 10,120
Amounts due to the subsidiary FERHAR R A LA T T
of a shareholder: NRFRIA
Jiangxi Silver Dragon JLPRiREE 305,005 72,021
Amounts due from non-controlling FEUA T R B FEIER%
shareholders of: IRER IR
Pingdingshan City Bay FIEIL TS 10,649 10,649
Weihai Kangda B R E 43 43
Jiaoling Kangda EiaEFEE 1,686 1,686
Shenyang Jinhai LG e 1,100 1,100
Amounts due from associates: JEUT LA TN B 2 R B FR0E
Zhongyuan Shuiwu B K 118,221 124,217
Fuzhou Fuhe N 139,181 150,339
Leping Hehu LEN 58 44,809 49,234
Amounts due from joint ventures: JEWAT & & ERIE
Tiangiyuan R 7% 22,575 22,575
Gaomi Kangrui =2 R n 18,945 18,083

(c)

Compensation of key management personnel of

() ZXEEXEEEEASHEH

the Group

2022 2021
—E—= T —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARETT
Short term employee benefits REEE R 1,130 1,354

Total compensation paid to TRHFEEEEEAEN
key management personnel Ee R F] 1,130 1,354

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in

note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

EFEMEME—HHBENERAR
BmAMIEES
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e I AR M EE

31 December2022 —ZE-—HF+-HA=+—H

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

31 December 2022

Financial assets

37. ZERBSWERTA

REEF SESeRTANERE
T

—EF-=f%+=A=t-—-H

Financial assets
at fair value

through other Financial
comprehensive assets at
income amortised cost Total
RAFERT A BB
Hitb 2 H W RATE
WEmEE NEMEE #et
RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARBT T AR®BT T ARBT T
Equity investments designated  $87E AiZ A FEFTA
at fair value through other HE2mEmikass
comprehensive income A% iR & 363,000 - 363,000
Loans to a joint venture A—REETCEMNER - 18,945 18,945
Financial receivables % BhFE W FRIA - 11,206,485 11,206,485
Trade receivables B 5 WA - 2,436,439 2,436,439
Financial assets included in FTATERTFIE - HAb U
prepayments, other receivables  FXI8 & EHth & EHY
and other assets CRIEE - 646,331 646,331
Pledged deposits EHEFER - 186,561 186,561
Cash and cash equivalents HELRBELEED - 196,938 196,938
363,000 14,691,699 15,054,699
Financial liabilities =R
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost Total
R
HBAGHE
NEMEE e
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR¥T
Trade and bills payables B O ENFIERENRE 2,260,280 2,260,280
Financial liabilities included ST AE M FE 5 FRIE K FEET B A Y
in other payables and accruals SHEaE 201,053 201,053
Interest-bearing bank and HESRITREMER
other borrowings 9,521,817 9,521,817
11,983,150 11,983,150
BERFRRERAR/ T _FERSE
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31 December2022 —ZE-—HF+-HA=+—H

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 37. RERETWEMT A (8)

(Continued)
31 December 2021 T —F+ZRA=+—
Financial assets ETWMEE
Financial assets
at fair value
through other Financial
comprehensive assets at
income  amortised cost Total
BAFERTA birg: !
Hitt 2wk ARG =
BB & B e REE FEE
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTIT AREFIT ARETIT
Equity investments designated  3§7E AR AFET A
at fair value through other Hitt 2R
comprehensive income R & 248,000 = 248,000
Loans to a joint venture m—FREEPENET = 18,083 18,083
Financial receivables 4 BhE W FIE - 10,978,212 10,978,212
Trade receivables Z 5 EWFIE - 1,776,560 1,776,560
Financial assets included in FTATERFRIE - HAtb fEUL
prepayments, other receivables  FXI8 & EAth & EHY
and other assets EREE - 747,600 747,600
Pledged deposits T - 333,870 333,870
Cash and cash equivalents ReRIREEEY - 289,898 289,898
248,000 14,144,223 14,392,223
Financial liabilities cHasE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost Total
LS
A=
Eofsact Y= 5T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREET T AREFIT
Trade and bills payables B ENRIERENEE 2,056,815 2,056,815
Financial liabilities included FEAE A BOIE R ERT B A
in other payables and accruals TRBE 218,902 218,902
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings B8 8R17 R E M &R 9,469,739 9,469,739
11,745,456 11,745,456
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group's financial

3. ERMTARAFERRIFESER

instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that

reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:

AEESRTAHERAERARATHESE
MHEERIN BREER R FERT

Carrying amounts Fair values
HREE N
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F —E__F —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTRE ARETT ARETR ARETR
Financial assets SREE
Equity investments designated EERBRATFETA
at fair value through other Hizmkamn
comprehensive income R & 363,000 248,000 363,000 248,000
Prepayments, other receivables BANFIE - EfthERFIE R
and other assets, non-current HihEE - FFREBESD
portion 47,730 96,418 47,996 100,703
Financial receivables, non-current & EbEUCIE @ JEENERES
portion 9,244,530 9,100,153 9,343,786 9,177,051
9,655,260 9,444,571 9,754,782 9,525,754
Financial liabilities cREE
Trade and bills payables, BORNRBERENER
non-current portion JERNEE 59 62 56 59
Interest-bearing bank and FTERITREMER
other borrowings (other than (HEABRI) -
lease liabilities), non-current JEBNEREE
portion 6,642,008 6,271,742 6,682,873 6,309,215
6,642,067 6,271,804 6,682,929 6,309,274

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash

equivalents, pledged deposits, trade receivables, other current

financial assets, the current portion of financial receivables, the

current portion of trade and bills payables, the current portion of

financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and

other assets, the current portion of loans to joint ventures and

associates, the current portion of financial liabilities included in

other payables and accruals, and the current portion of interest-

bearing bank and other borrowings approximate to their carrying

amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these

instruments.

EEECG RELREEEYW £
WER EHREFR - AR TR

BE  REYGEMNERED &5
NI R EMNZRENBIEED - 5HA

BNHIE R EURRIA R EBEED
TREEMNNIBE D - MeE XN
LRAEROANIE D - FEAEMEN
RELEERNSRABENASED
WA Ko 5T BARTT R B A A8 SR A0 BV A &R 0 19
NFEHEAREERES  TELAR
ZETARNEHREE -

RERBIRRBRAR / T _FERE
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 3. ERM T ERAFERAFEEHR

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The Group's finance department headed by the finance manager
is responsible for determining the policies and procedures for
the fair value disclosure of financial instruments. The finance
manager reports directly to the chief financial officer. At the end
of the year, the finance department analyses the movements in
the values of financial instruments and determines the major
inputs applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and
approved by the chief financial officer.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced
or liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were
used to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of the non-current portion of financial receivables,
prepayments, other receivables and other assets, trade and bills
payables, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, and
corporate bonds have been calculated by discounting the
expected future cash flows using rates currently available for
instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities. The changes in fair value as a result of the Group's
own non-performance risks for trade and bills payables, interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings, and corporate bonds as at
the end of the year were assessed to be insignificant.

The fair values of unlisted equity investments designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income have been estimated
using a market-based valuation technique based on assumptions
that are not supported by observable market prices or rates. The
valuation requires the directors to determine comparable public
companies (peers) based on industry, size, leverage and strategy,
and to calculate an appropriate price multiple, such as price to
book value (P/B), for each comparable company identified. The
multiple is calculated by dividing the enterprise value of the
comparable company by book value measure. The trading
multiple is then discounted for considerations such as illiquidity
and size differences between the comparable companies based
on company-specific facts and circumstances. The discounted
multiple is applied to the corresponding P/B of the unlisted
equity investments to measure the fair value. The directors
believe that the estimated fair values resulting from the valuation
technique, which are recorded in the consolidated statement of
financial position, and the related changes in fair values, which
are recorded in other comprehensive income, are reasonable,
and that they were the most appropriate values at the end of the
reporting period.

(&)

MU BEEAENAKRENBEHERE
EERMTARAFERBENBERNERF
MHEEERAMBRERS - RAF
EXR MEHsfTem TANEER
VEEGRETERNIELSH - AEH
§ 755 A8 B B L o

TREERAENRFEREBIN—
BERIRZHRWEBETANEHE (RE
BB HERRIN FIE - AT BEFRF
BEFAETTERRR

& B MCRIR ~ TR SRR - B EUGK
AREMEE BHENFTALENER
% FERRTT REMERIFRNR Y
RABEFNATFEDEEHRARRES
mRABREEGRR - ERARERGE
MEAE T A B AE M R RE R R BIR M At
B-REFR AAKEAXAFEZEN
RERENRE  SFERTREMER
RABEFNENRRNEEN R TFE
HEWRTERALTERX o

BERBRAFEFAREMEE K
EABREREN X FEDRAERTS
MEERMGEE - ZEEER TR
M5 ERA R R RRET -
BEREERETE  AE BREEE
BETANELBRARAB(AE) A5t
PRSI BB AREAENE
REH(MHERER) - BHNFENDER
BABERARNEREERAKREE
AEFE  RHEBEHERREQFEE
ZERBARAELBRARZENRE
MTEERBEZREZEERARETH
B BRREBUERNELMREREN
HEMERXUAGFEAFE - EFRA
MERMELNG A THEGIAGE R
BRRER) RAFENEEEZS (T AR
hrEkm)BaE  ARBEHRES
FEREE -
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 3. ERMTEAFERAFEER

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) (%)

Fair value hierarchy RNEEER

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement TRIAPAEBMERT AN QA FENE
hierarchy of the Group's financial instruments: EH:

Assets measured at fair value: BAFEFENEE !

As at 31 December 2022 R-E-_—_F+=-A=+—H

Fair value measurement using
AVEHERA
Quoted prices Significant Significant
inactive  observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ERME  EATBE EAFTEER
H]RE BWAE BAE
(B-&) (E=H) (E=H) st

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR AR®TR ARETRT AR®TR

Equity investments designated HEERERFERA

at fair value through other Et2mElEm
comprehensive income PRIERE - 363,000 - 363,000
As at 31 December 2021 R-_E-_—F+-A=+—H

Fair value measurement using

ATEHERA
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
a5 EAABER EATAER
B4R (E BAE BAE
(F—%) (=) (B=8) st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT AR®TE ARETRT AR®TR

Equity investments designated EERRATERA

at fair value through other Hi 2 EEN
comprehensive income R & - 248,000 - 248,000

RERBIRRBRAR / T _FERE
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) (&)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) DNFEER(E)
Assets for which fair values are disclosed: EHEATENEE

As at 31 December 2022

R=FB==f+=-A=t—H
Fair value measurement using
AVEHERA

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable

3. ERMITEAFERAFESER

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ERME  BEAUEE BATUEBER
HERE BWAE BAE
(B—&) (B=#) (B=#) st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR AR¥Tn AR%STn AR%Tx
Prepayments, other receivables R - AR IR R
and other assets, non-current HiEE
portion A EE S = 47,996 = 47,996
Financial receivables, non-current & B fEURIE -
portion JENEE S - 9,343,786 - 9,343,786
- 9,391,782 - 9,391,782
As at 31 December 2021 RZE-_—F+-_A=+—H
Fair value measurement using
NEFEHRA
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ERME BAUBE EAMATEER
H3R{E BAE BAE
(B—4) (F=H) (B=#) wat
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREFTT ARETT AR%®T:R
Prepayments, other receivables IR - H A EYRIE &
and other assets, non-current HEtEE
portion JERNERE - 100,703 - 100,703
Financial receivables, non-current 4 B fEU IS
portion FEENERE D - 9,177,051 - 9,177,051
- 9,277,754 - 9,277,754
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed:

As at 31 December 2022

(&)
AR EER(E)
CHEATFENERE

R-B-—#+=-A=+—-8

Fair value measurement using

3. ERMITEAFERAFESER

ATEHERA
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active ~ observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ERNS  BATHRE EXATTHE
HERE BWAE BWAE
(B—#&) (=) (E=8) st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR  ARMTR
Trade and bills payables, B IRNTIERENRE -
non-current portion JERNERE 7 - 56 - 56
Interest-bearing bank and other FTERITREMER
borrowings (other than lease (AEaERM)
liabilities), non-current portion JERNERER - 6,682,873 - 6,682,873
- 6,682,929 - 6,682,929
As at 31 December 2021 R-ZE-—F+=-A=+—8H
Fair value measurement using
ATIEHERA
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ERME BAUBRER BATAUHER
H5RE BAAE BAE
(B—#) (B=8) (B=&) st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
Trade and bills payables, EIRNFEREMNRE -
non-current portion JERNERER - 59 - 59
Interest-bearing bank and other SHERITREMER
borrowings (other than lease (REBERM) -
liabilities), non-current portion JERNERER - 6,309,215 - 6,309,215
- 6,309,274 - 6,309,274

RERBIRRBRAR / T _FERE
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings, corporate bonds, cash and
cash equivalents and pledged deposits. The main purpose of
these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group's
operations. The Group has various other financial assets and
liabilities such as financial receivables, trade receivables and
trade and bills payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are
interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and foreign currency
risk. Generally, the senior management of the Company meets
regularly to analyse and formulate measures to manage the
Group's exposure to these risks. In addition, the board of
directors of the Company holds meetings regularly to analyse
and approve the proposals made by the senior management of
the Company. Generally, the Group introduces conservative
strategies on its risk management. As the Group's exposure to
these risks is kept to a minimum, the Group has not used any
derivatives and other instruments for hedging purposes. The
Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for
trading purposes. The board of directors of the Company reviews
and agrees policies for managing these risks and they are
summarised below.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IS AR M EE

31 December2022 —ZE-—HF+-HA=+—H

9. MBEREEEREREE

AEENTIESRTABEABRITR
HpER  A6Es RekReEFE
WEERER - ZFERMTRATEARN
RAEENKEEEES - AEEHA
ERXEHEBELENZRAMEREER
BE WEREWFIR - B 5 EWHRIA
MESRERNFANENRE -

rEBCMTAEENTZRAR AT X
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)
(a) Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group's long term
debt obligations with floating interest rates.

The Group regularly reviews and monitors the mix of fixed
and floating interest rate borrowings in order to manage its
interest rate risk. The Group’s interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings, corporate bonds, pledged deposits and
cash and cash equivalents are stated at amortised cost and
not revalued on a periodic basis. Floating rate interest
income and expenses are credited/charged to profit or loss
as earned/incurred.

If there would be a general increase/decrease in the market
interest rates by one percentage point, with all other
variables held constant, the Group’s consolidated pre-tax
profit would have decreased/increased by approximately
RMB51,122,000 and RMB49,809,000 for the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021, respectively, and there would be
no impact on other components of the consolidated equity,
except for retained profits, of the Group. The sensitivity
analysis above has been determined assuming that the
change in market interest rates had occurred at the end of
the year and had applied the exposure to interest rate risk
to those financial instruments in existence at that date.
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Credit risk
The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents,
pledged deposits, trade receivables, financial receivables
and financial assets included in prepayments, other
receivables and other assets represent the Group's
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to these
financial assets. Substantially all of the Group’s cash and
cash equivalents and pledged deposits are held in major
financial institutions located in Mainland China and Hong
Kong, which management believes are of high credit
quality. The Group has policies to control the size of the
deposits to be placed with various reputable financial
institutions according to their market reputation, operating
scale and financial background with a view to limiting the
credit exposure to each financial institution to an
acceptable level.

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. In addition, receivable balances are monitored
on an ongoing basis and the Group's exposure to bad
debts is not significant.

As the Group's major customers are either PRC government
authorities or agencies at the provincial and local levels or
other state-owned enterprises, the Group believes that they
are reliable and of high credit quality and hence, there is no
significant credit risk with these customers. The senior
management of the Company keeps reviewing and
assessing the creditworthiness of the Group's existing
customers on an ongoing basis.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group's exposure
to credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in
note 21 to the financial statements.
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk
The liquidity of the Group is primarily dependent on its
ability to maintain adequate cash inflows from operations
to meet its debt obligations as they fall due, and its ability
to obtain external financing to meet its committed future
capital expenditure.

The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities at the
end of the year, based on the contractual undiscounted
payments, is as follows:

3. IEREEEERBE®)

(c)

AEEHRSE S T BRBEESR
FREEREIMAAR B HI BT
B E TN REUSSMNEBRE A
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RAFER  AEENSRAGER
1B A #RBEER N RE 2 1 B BROR
LI

31 December 2022
ZB--f+=HA=1+-H

Within 1to2 2to5 More than
1 year years years 5 years Total
15K 122% 2E5F S5FLE st
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR¥Tn AR¥Tn ARETn AR%ETrn
Lease liabilities HERE 318 118 353 1,373 2,162
Interest-bearing bank and 5T EIRIT R EAB B
other borrowings (FREHERR)
(excluding lease liabilities) 3,226,387 2,526,554 2,564,930 2,449,200 10,767,071
Trade and bills payables ~ E SR FIE K
EREE 2,260,221 59 - - 2,260,280
Financial liabilities included 5t A EL b JEf FVB K
in other payables and BRI SRAE
accruals 201,053 - - - 201,053
5,687,979 2,526,731 2,565,283 2,450,573 13,230,566
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 39. BiEREEBEREE &)
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

(c)

REBESRRE(E)

31 December 2021

“E--%t-A=1-H
Within 1t02 2t05  More than
1 year years years 5 years Total
15/ 1E25 2E5E 5EAE et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TT AR%®TRT ARE®TRT ARETRT ARETR
Lease liabilities HEAR 318 318 353 1,491 2,480
Interest-bearing bank and &t B R1T R E MG
other borrowings (TBEHERRE)
(excluding lease liabilities) 3,556,576 2,138,775 2,933,013 2,120,863 10,749,227
Trade and bills payables ~ ZZEMFIEN
ANES 2,056,753 62 - - 2,056,815
Financial liabilities included &t AE MR FIE K
in other payables and B ERNERAE
accruals 218,902 = = = 218,902
5,832,549 2,139,155 2,933,366 2,122,354 13,027,424
Foreign currency risk (d) BE¥EgE

The Group has minimal transactional currency exposures as
the majority of the subsidiaries of the Group operate in the
PRC with most of the transactions denominated and settled
in Renminbi ("RMB").

In addition, the Group has currency exposures from its cash
and cash equivalents and interest-bearing bank borrowings.
The Group manages foreign currency risk by closely
monitoring the proportion of its non-Renminbi borrowings
and assets.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in
the RMB/HK$ and RMB/USD exchange rates, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group's profit before tax and
the Group's equity.

RN ASEE AR E AR T
REXEG BRBAIRIUARE
TARBDFHERGE - HAKE
MR ZEERBREN -

SAN - REBEAER S KRS EHE
W) A R s BARTTE RN Ee B
- AEEBEBTIEREIEAR
BREEREENHIEEEERE

B o
TRERE TG E A BT

FERT - ANEBERBADE R R
SEERNREEREARE B
TTRARE ETEXRNGIEAAL
EHNGRRE -

KANGDA INTERNATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL COMPANY LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2022



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

31 December2022 —ZE-—HF+-HA=+—H

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 39. BiEEEEBEREBEE &)
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(d)

Foreign currency risk (Continued) (d) E¥mEp(E)
Increase/
(decrease) Increase/
in profit (decrease)
before tax in equity*
MR Al Al Rz,
®hn,/ (BD) (R ) *
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBFTT ARBT T
2022 —T-—F
If the RMB weakens against the USD by 5% AR R E TR E 5% (12,335) (12,335)
If the RMB strengthens against the USD by 5% i AR # 5 2E T FHE 5% 12,335 12,335
If the RMB weakens against the HK$ by 5% T AR H AT E 5% 12 12
If the RMB strengthens against the HK$ by 5% fil A R ¥ 578 T FHE 5% (12) (12)
2021 —E-—F
If the RMB weakens against the USD by 5% T AR H TR E 5% (18,472) (18,472)
If the RMB strengthens against the USD by 5%  fifi A R #5 3, 52 ST FHE 5% 18,472 18,472
If the RMB weakens against the HK$ by 5% HARE R BTRES% 22 22
If the RMB strengthens against the HK$ by 5% i AR ¥ 3 B ST FHE 5% (22) (22)
* Excluding retained profits * TBEREB

FEBRBRRERAR/ S _FERE
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)
(e) Capital management
The Group's primary objectives for managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratio in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk.
The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order
to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to
reduce debts. No change was made in the objectives,
policies or processes for managing capital during the year.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
net debt divided by the capital plus net debt. Net debt
includes trade and bills payables, certain other payables
and accruals, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings,
corporate bonds less cash and cash equivalents and
pledged deposits. Capital includes the equity attributable
to owners of the parent and non-controlling interests as
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group's strategy is to maintain the gearing ratio at a
healthy capital level in order to support its businesses. The
principal strategies adopted by the Group include, but are
not limited to, reviewing future cash flow requirements and
the ability to meet debt repayment schedules when they fall
due, maintaining a reasonable level of available banking
facilities and adjusting investment plans and financing
plans, if necessary. The gearing ratios at the end of the
years were as follows:
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 39. i ERERE B ERBER (@)

AND POLICIES (Continued)

(e) Capital management (Continued)

(e) BEXEHE®E

2022 2021
—E-CfF —E_—F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMT T ARETT
Trade and bills payables (note 26) B EMNDIERENZE
(PFff7E26) 2,260,280 2,056,815
Other payables and accruals (note 27)  H A fE{S 518 K FEFT & A
(Ft&E27) 288,102 278,183
Interest-bearing bank and other FHEERTT R E MK
borrowings (note 28) (Ffi7E28) 9,521,817 9,469,739
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B RERIBEEEBY
(note 25) (PfEE25) (196,938) (289,898)
Less: Pledged deposits (note 25) B IR ERR (B RE25) (186,561) (333,870)
Net debt 1538 11,686,700 11,180,969
Total equity HarER 5,740,608 5,407,621
Capital and net debt BAR KGR FRE 17,427,308 16,588,590
Gearing ratio BEABLLE 67% 67%
40. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 40. EHREIE
No significant events took place subsequent to 31 December R-E-——F+-_A=+—HEBEILTESE

2022.

EHMBARER -

FEBRBRRERAR/ S _FERE

229



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

31 December2022 —ZE-—HF+-HA=+—H

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 41. XA T B AR R &
THE COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the REBARKN AR EARRRAOERIOT
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

2022 2021
—E-= —F-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBT ARETT

NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RSB R RIMIEE 1,217,802 1,217,802
Total non-current assets IERBEEHAE 1,217,802 1,217,802
CURRENT ASSETS RENEE
Prepayments, other receivables FERTERIE - Hofh e IR IE &2

and other assets Hi&EE 832,715 1,014,758
Cash and cash equivalents ReRIRSEEY 397 470
Total current assets RBEERE 833,112 1,015,228
CURRENT LIABILITIES RENEE
Other payables and accruals Hh &< 5RIE M FE AT B 213,068 195,548
Interest-bearing bank and FHERTT REMER

other borrowings - 105,199
Total current liabilities B RESERE 213,068 300,747
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 620,044 714,481
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EERERRBERE

LIABILITIES 1,837,846 1,932,283
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEE
Interest-bearing bank and ETRIRIT R EAME K

other borrowings 108,300 239,141
Net assets BEFE 1,729,546 1,693,142
EQUITY =
Issued capital B3 ITIR AN 17,125 17,125
Reserves (note) A (M5E) 1,712,421 1,676,017
Total equity B 1,729,546 1,693,142
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41.

42.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 41. QB[ AR T (@)
THE COMPANY (Continued)
Note: ME -
A summary of the Company'’s reserves is as follows: AARFEENOREOT -
Retained
profits/
Share Share option (accumulated
premium reserve losses) Total
R =T,/
R E RERCEH (R5HER) st
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETFT ARBFT AREFT
At 1 January 2021 RZZ=——F—H—H 1,717,384 65,553 (67,889) 1,715,048
Loss for the year FREE - - (39,031) (39,031)
At 31 December 2021 and R-ZTE=-—F
1 January 2022 +ZA=+—HX
—T-=F—/F—8 1,717,384 65,553 (106,920) 1,676,017
Profit for the year F R - - 36,404 36,404
At 31 December 2022 RZB-—F
+=—A=+—H 1,717,384 65,553 (70,516) 1,712,421
APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED 42. {tEFREMBRE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 31 March 2023.

ZERAVBRRN_T_=F=A
=t RAEREFSIE RIRETIH -
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Financial Summary

B HEE

AEBESMAEYRFENREAREE - &
BB EEREHIIT

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and total equity of
the Group for the last five financial years is as set below:

232

RESULTS E 45
Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=1t—HLEE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—Boof T ZTITF T-NF ZT)N\F
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TR ARETT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTL
Revenue W25 2,896,589 2,918,958 3,332,432 2,815,203 3,021,327
Profit before tax BB A A 374,341 550,245 607,539 509,841 455,691
Income tax TS 134,379 132,064 137,282 125,770 145,801
Profit for the year FEREF 239,962 418,181 470,257 384,071 309,890
Other comprehensive income Hip 2 HEKE 97,750 (76,500) (21,250) (107,100) (112,200)
Total comprehensive income FAZHKZBE
for the year 337,712 341,681 449,007 276,971 197,690
PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO: BUT AL EAEEF
Shareholders of the Company NS 235,679 412,752 470,488 376,868 303,350
Non-controlling interests JEIRfS eSS 4,283 5,429 (231) 7,203 6,540
239,962 418,181 470,257 384,071 309,890
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LU AL
INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO: 2HEHRFHEE:
Shareholders of the Company ZAN/NETL 333,429 336,252 449,238 269,768 191,150
Non-controlling interests FEER R 4,283 5,429 (231) 7,203 6,540
337,712 341,681 449,007 276,971 197,690
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND TOTAL EQUITY EE BERERATE
As at 31 December
R+=B=+-—H
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—E-f T ZE-FTF ZT-NEF ZT-)N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR AREFT AREFT ARETFT ARBFIL
Total assets BELE 18,965,750 18,281,408  17,645830 16,698,491 16,525,227
Total liabilities BELEE 13,225,142 12,873,787 12,527,632 12,104,339 12,203,554
NET ASSETS BEERE 5,740,608 5,407,621 5,118,198 4,594,152 4,321,673
Equity attributable to shareholders 72 B BR FE (G #E %
of the Company 5,603,435 5,270,006 4,918,730 4,395,102 4,114,653
Non-controlling interests JEFEARRE RS 137,173 137,615 199,468 199,050 207,020
TOTAL EQUITY ERBE 5,740,608 5,407,621 5,118,198 4,594,152 4,321,673
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